REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

Last amendment in force on April 20, 2012
This document has official status

c.V-1.1,r.24
REGULATION 51-102 RESPECTING CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
Q™
Securities Act (1/
(R.S.Q., c. V-1.1, s. 331.1) ,\Q«
PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ?g
1.1. Definitions and Interpretation Q.Q
(2) In this Regulation: Q&
"acquisition date" has the same meaning as,@ issuer's GAAP;
"AlIF" means a completed Form 51-1 Annual Information Form or, in the

case of an SEC issuer, a completed For % 02F2 or an annual report or transition
report under the 1934 Act on Form 10-K orrpaarm 20-F;

Q«
"approved rating organization"(rbeans each of DBRS Limited, Fitch Ratings Ltd.,
Moody's Investors Service, Standﬁ@,& Poor's and any of their successors;

"asset-backed secur@means a security that is primarily serviced by the cash
flows of a discrete pool f ¥nortgages, receivables or other financial assets, fixed or
revolving, that by thei s convert into cash within a finite period and any rights or
other assets desig assure the servicing or the timely distribution of proceeds to
securityholders; Q@

"boarg irectors” means, for a person that does not have a board of directors,
an individQ~ group that acts in a capacity similar to a board of directors;

'Qsiness acquisition report” means a completed Form 51-102F4 Business

AgQNlisttion Report;
S

"class" includes a series of a class;

"common share" means an equity security to which are attached voting rights
exercisable in all circumstances, irrespective of the number or percentage of securities
owned, that are not less, per security, than the voting rights attached to any other
outstanding securities of the reporting issuer;
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"date of transition to IFRS" means the date of transition to IFRSs as that term is
defined in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"electronic format" has the same meaning as in Regulation 13-101 respecting
System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) (c. V-1.1, r. 2);

"equity investee” means a business that the issuer has invested and

accounted for using the equity method;
)

"exchange-traded security” means a security that is listed o g\recognized
exchange or is quoted on a recognized quotation and trade reportin V&em or is listed
on an exchange or quoted on a quotation and trade reporting syst@?at is recognized
for the purposes of Regulation 21-101 respecting Marketplace Q@ tion (c. V-1.1, r. 5)
and Regulation 23-101 respecting Trading Rules (c. V-1.1, r. GQ.

"executive officer" means, for a reporting issuer, Q%lvidual who is
(@) achair, vice-chair or president; &O

(b) a vice-president in charge of a pr(l'vpal business unit, division or function
including sales, finance or production; or (19

(c) performing a policy-makjgQNunction in respect of the issuer;

"financial outlook” means fyard-looking information about prospective financial
performance, financial positio Q-e sh flows that is based on assumptions about future
economic conditions and cﬁes of action and that is not presented in the format of a
historical statement of {n¥ncial position, statement of comprehensive income or
statement of cash rov@

“financial &ents" includes interim financial reports;

"first financial statements" has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicabl blicly accountable enterprises;

%QFI", or '"future-oriented financial information”, means forward-looking
i tion about prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows,
baded on assumptions about future economic conditions and courses of action, and
presented in the format of a historical statement of financial position, statement of
comprehensive income or statement of cash flows;

"form of proxy" means a document containing the information required under
section 9.4 that, on completion and execution by or on behalf of a securityholder,
becomes a proxy;
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"forward-looking information” means disclosure regarding possible events,
conditions or financial performance that is based on assumptions about future economic
conditions and courses of action and includes future-oriented financial information with
respect to prospective financial performance, financial position or cash flows that is
presented either as a forecast or a projection;

*

"information circular" means a completed Form 51-102F5 Information Cir@@;

“informed person” means '\Q‘\

(@) adirector or executive officer of a reporting issuer; 4

(b)  adirector or executive officer of a person that is i n informed person
or subsidiary of a reporting issuer; Q.

(© any person who beneficially owns, or %Is or directs, directly or

than 10% of the voting rights attached to all nding voting securities of the
reporting issuer other than voting securities he the person as underwriter in the
course of a distribution; and N

indirectly, voting securities of a reporting issuer or a zﬁ ination of both carrying more

(d) a reporting issuer that has [glvchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired
any of its securities, for so long as it h(Qli@ any of its securities;

“inter-dealer bond broker" ns a person that is approved by the Investment
Industry Regulatory Organiz of Canada under its Rule 36 Inter-Dealer Bond
Brokerage Systems, as amg(ed, and is subject to its Rule 36 and its Rule 2100 Inter-
Dealer Bond Brokerage§s ms, as amended,;

"interim perioﬂ@eans,

(@) i tg case of a year other than a non-standard year or a transition year, a
period com Mg on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months
before thQ~ of the financial year;

{@) in the case of a non-standard year, a period commencing on the first day
0 inancial year and ending within 22 days of the date that is 9, 6 or 3 months
b&ere the end of the financial year; or

(b) in the case of a transition year, a period commencing on the first day of
the transition year and ending

0] 3, 6, 9 or 12 months, if applicable, after the end of the old financial
year; or
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(i) 12, 9, 6 or 3 months, if applicable, before the end of the transition
year,

"issuer's GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25);

t\.

"MD&A" means a completed Form 51-102F1 Management's Discu&‘r &

Analysis or, in the case of an SEC issuer, a completed Form 51-10%#1 or

management's discussion and analysis prepared in accordance with J 303 of
Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act; 4'\
"marketplace" means §"
(@) an exchange; Q.Q
(b)  aquotation and trade reporting system; Q&
(© any other person that &O
(1) constitutes, maintains or ides a market or facility for bringing

together buyers and sellers of securities; Q

(i) brings together Qorders for securities of multiple buyers and
sellers; and

(i)  uses est \ed, non-discretionary methods under which the
orders interact with each o and the buyers and sellers entering the orders agree to
the terms of a trade; or

(d) a d%&t executes a trade of an exchange-traded security outside of a

marketplace, but not include an inter-dealer bond broker;

"mattr'gce‘nange" means

@2 a change in the business, operations or capital of the reporting issuer that
woul% sonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value
0@ f the securities of the reporting issuer; or

(b)  adecision to implement a change referred to in paragraph (a) made by the
board of directors or other persons acting in a similar capacity or by senior management
of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision by the board of
directors or any other persons acting in a similar capacity is probable;
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"material contract” means any contract that an issuer or any of its subsidiaries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer;

"mineral project” has the same meaning as in Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (c. V-1.1, r. 15);

"new financial year" means the financial year of a reporting issuer that immedis(ely
follows a transition year; ‘.1/

"non-standard year" means a financial year, other than a transiti&mar, that
does not have 365 days, or 366 days if it includes February 29; 4

"non-voting security” means a restricted security that does carry the right to
vote generally, except for a right to vote that is mandated, in spe®Nal circumstances, by

law; Q.

"old financial year" means the financial yea&a reporting issuer that
immediately precedes a transition year; O

"operating income" means gross revenue‘;i]j&s royalty expenses and production

costs;
Q\

"preference share" means a securiaxo which is attached a preference or right
over the securities of any class of eq '%securities of the reporting issuer, but does not
include an equity security; ?.L

"principal obligor" mea an asset-backed security, a person that is obligated
to make payments, has gu eed payments, or has provided alternative credit support
for payments, on financigl ¥ssets that represent one-third or more of the aggregate
amount owing on all o@namial assets servicing the asset-backed security;

"private e%@ﬁse" has the same meaning as in Part 3 of Regulation 52-107
respecting AC@ ble Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

p@gge’r loss attributable to owners of the parent” has the same meaning as in
Canagg) AAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

% profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent” has
tARQsame meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

"proxy" means a completed and executed form of proxy by which a
securityholder has appointed a person as the securityholder's nominee to attend and act
for the securityholder and on the securityholder's behalf at a meeting of securityholders;
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"publicly accountable enterprise" has the same meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Standards;
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"recognized exchange" means

€)) in Ontario, an exchange recognized by the securities regulatory authority
to carry on business as a stock exchange;

(a.1) in Québec, a person authorized by the securities regulatory authority to
carry on business as an exchange; and Q\ .
(b) in every other jurisdiction, an exchange recognized by the seftrities
regulatory authority as an exchange, self-regulatory organization or e@@gulatory
body, or a legal person, a partnership or any other entity authorized the securities
regulatory authority to carry on securities trading in accordan@ ith securities

legislation; 0?‘

€) in every jurisdiction other than British C%%bla, a quotation and trade
reporting system recognized by the securities re%ﬂ ry authority under securities
legislation to carry on business as a quotation and reporting system; and

"recognized quotation and trade reporting system" mea

(b) in British Columbia, a quotation a@trade reporting system recognized by
the securities regulatory authority under s jties legislation as a quotation and trade
reporting system or as an exchange;

“
"restricted security" means an%uity security of a reporting issuer, if any of the
following apply:

(@ there is anot LQc:ass of securities of the reporting issuer that, to a
reasonable person, appe@rto carry a greater number of votes per security relative to
the equity security;

(b) the Q'Uitions attached to the class of equity securities, the conditions
attached to anpthSr class of securities of the reporting issuer, or the reporting issuer’s
constating c%vﬂents have provisions that nullify or, to a reasonable person, appear to
significan&z~ trict the voting rights of the equity securities; or

@ the reporting issuer has issued another class of equity securities that, to a
rﬁn ble person, appears to entitle the owners of securities of that other class to
padicipate in the earnings or assets of the reporting issuer to a greater extent, on a per
security basis, than the owners of the first class of equity securities;

"restricted security term" means each of the terms "non-voting security”,
"subordinate voting security" and "restricted voting security";
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"restricted voting security" means a restricted security that carries a right to vote
subject to a restriction on the number or percentage of securities that may be voted by
one or more persons, unless the restriction is

(@) permitted or prescribed by statute; and

(b) is applicable only to persons that are not citizens or residents of Cahqda
or that are otherwise considered as a result of any law applicable to the reporti uer
to be non-Canadians;

Q-

"restructuring transaction” means 4'\

(@) a reverse takeover; ?g

(b) an amalgamation, merger, arrangement or reorggaiZation;

(c) a transaction or series of transaction%@olving a reporting issuer
acquiring assets and issuing securities that results inO

0] new securityholders ownin 6r&controlling more than 50% of the
reporting issuer’s outstanding voting securitieshgrld

(i) a new person, a new%mbination of persons acting together, the
vendors of the assets, or new manag

(A) bein W to materially affect the control of the reporting
issuer; or

of the reporting issu less there is evidence showing that the holding of those

(B) rmaing more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities
securities does not @&y affect the control of the reporting issuer; and

(d) ther transaction similar to the transactions listed in paragraphs (a) to
(c), but doem%nclude a subdivision, consolidation, or other transaction that does not
alter a se, Ider’s proportionate interest in the issuer and the issuer’s proportionate

mteres S assets;

Q’retrospectwe" has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
pNicly accountable enterprises;

"retrospectively"” has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP applicable to
publicly accountable enterprises;
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"reverse takeover" means

(@) a reverse acquisition, which has the same meaning as in Canadian GAAP
applicable to publicly accountable enterprises; or

(b) a transaction where an issuer acquires a person by which the
securityholders of the acquired person, at the time of the transaction, obtain "contr@{ of
the issuer, where, for purposes of this paragraph, control has the same meanj s in
Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

Q-
"reverse takeover acquiree" means the legal parent in a reverse t k('e})ver;

"reverse takeover acquirer" means the legal subsidiary in a rvg@e takeover,

N

"SEC issuer" means an issuer that %Q.

(@) has a class of securities registered under Q’wn 12 of the 1934 Act or is
required to file reports under section 15(d) of the 193 % and

(b) is not registered or required to b é%istered as an investment company
under the Investment Company Act of 19492.& the United States of America, as
amended,; Q

"solicit", in connection with a p@) mcludes

(@) requesting a prox Wther or not the request is accompanied by or
included in a form of proxy; é~

(b) requesting s?:“urityholder to execute or not to execute a form of proxy or
to revoke a proxy; &

(c) sengi form of proxy or other communication to a securityholder under
circumstancesAhX to a reasonable person will likely result in the giving, withholding or
revocation oXy; Or

@2 sending a form of proxy to a securityholder by management of a reporting
issueQ
\é but does not include

(e) sending a form of proxy to a securityholder in response to a unsolicited
request made by or on behalf of the securityholder;

() performing ministerial acts or professional services on behalf of a person
soliciting a proxy;
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() sending, by an intermediary as defined in Regulation 54-101 respecting
Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer
(c. V-1.1, r. 29), of the documents referred to in that regulation;

(h)  soliciting by a person in respect of securities of which the person is the
beneficial owner; Q\ .

(1) publicly announcing, by a securityholder, how the securityholder intends to
vote and the reasons for that decision, if that public announcement is madg\@ﬂ

0] a speech in a public forum; or Qﬂ

(i) a press release, an opinion, a statemen an advertisement
provided through a broadcast medium or by a telephgr. electronic or other
communication facility, or appearing in a newspaper, a @ ine or other publication
generally available to the public; Q%

()] communicating for the purposes of,@ining the number of securities
required for a securityholder proposal under the Jaw®under which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued or und@he reporting issuer’s constating or
establishing documents; or Q

(K) communicating, other @h a solicitation by or on behalf of the
management of the reporting issuer, tolgecurityholders in the following circumstances:

0] by one or \securityholders concerning the business and affairs
of the reporting issuer, | ding its management or proposals contained in a
management information i'%mar, and no form of proxy is sent to those securityholders
by the securityholde@ecurityholders making the communication or by a person
acting on their beh less the communication is made by

Q (A)  a securityholder who is an officer or director of the reporting
issuer if the unication is financed directly or indirectly by the reporting issuer;

92 (B) a securityholder who is a nominee or who proposes a
nomiﬁ or election as a director, if the communication relates to the election of
toYs;

OI\

(C) a securityholder whose communication is in opposition to an
amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other transaction recommended or
approved by the board of directors of the reporting issuer and who is proposing or
intends to propose an alternative transaction to which the securityholder or an affiliate or
associate of the securityholder is a party;

10
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(D) a securityholder who, because of a material interest in the
subject-matter to be voted on at a securityholder’s meeting, is likely to receive a benefit
from its approval or non-approval, which benefit would not be shared pro rata by all
other holders of the same class of securities, unless the benefit arises from the
securityholder’'s employment with the reporting issuer; or

(E) any person acting on behalf of a securityholder describeq in
any of clauses (A) to (D); ‘.19

(i) by one or more securityholders and concerns the org @aﬁion of a
dissident’s proxy solicitation, and no form of proxy is sent to those segurityholders by
the securityholder or securityholders making the communication orQ‘ person acting
on their behalf; ?\

(i)  as clients, by a person who gives financ@.\.)porporate governance
or proxy voting advice in the ordinary course of busines&/@ concerns proxy voting

advice if Q

(A) the person discloses t @ securityholder any significant
relationship with the reporting issuer and any of j ’gﬂ‘iliates or with a securityholder who
has submitted a matter to the reporting issuer@the securityholder intends to raise at
the meeting of securityholders and any ma*@l nterests the person has in relation to a
matter on which advice is given;

Q-
(B) the persorﬂaceives any special commission or remuneration

for giving the proxy voting advi@/only from the securityholder or securityholders
receiving the advice; and

©) t%proxy voting advice is not given on behalf of any person
soliciting proxies or o@lf of a nominee for election as a director; or

(iv)g a person who does not seek directly or indirectly the power to
act as a proxyholder for a securityholder;

"s@nate voting security" means a restricted security that carries a right to
vote, ifQ are securities of another class outstanding that carry a greater right to vote
ona ecurity basis;

\s "transition year" means the financial year of a reporting issuer or business in

which the issuer or business changes its financial year-end,;

"U.S. AICPA GAAS" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

11
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"U.S. GAAP" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

"U.S. laws" means the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act, all enactments made under those
Acts and all SEC releases adopting the enactments, as amended;

"U.S. marketplace” means an exchange registered as a "national secu&Qes
exchange" under section 6 of the 1934 Act, or the Nasdaq Stock Market; and ‘.19

"U.S. PCAOB GAAS" has the same meaning as in Regulation 52-1&@35pecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards; 4

"venture issuer" means a reporting issuer that, as at the a %Ble time, did not
have any of its securities listed or quoted on any of the Toronto k Exchange, a U.S.
marketplace, or a marketplace outside of Canada and the {Al¥d States of America
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the Lo tock Exchange or the
PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc e the "applicable time" in

respect of O

(@) Parts 4 and 5 of this Regulation orm 51-102F1, is the end of the
applicable financial period; N

(b) Parts 6 and 9 of this Regulgion and Form 51-102F6, is the end of the
most recently completed financial yea Q “

(c) Part 8 of this Regul and Form 51-102F4, is the acquisition date; and

(d)  section 11.3 chis Regulation, is the date of the meeting of the
securityholders. %

(2) In this Regula an issuer is an affiliate of another issuer if
(@) (@%f them is the subsidiary of the other, or
(b Ce’ach of them is controlled by the same person.

3) @ the purposes of subsection (2), a person (first person) is considered to
cq@o another person (second person) if

N\

(@) the first person beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or
indirectly, securities of the second person carrying votes which, if exercised, would
entitle the first person to elect a majority of the directors of the second person, unless
that first person holds the voting securities only to secure an obligation,

12
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(b) the second person is a partnership, other than a limited partnership, and
the first person holds more than 50% of the interests of the partnership, or

13
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(© the second person is a limited partnership and the general partner of the
limited partnership is the first person.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 1.1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 1; M.O. 2007-08, s. 1; M.O.
2008-06, s. 1 and 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1.

PART 2 APPLICATION N
2.1. Application

Vv
N

This Regulation does not apply to an investment fund.

o
M.O. 2005-03, s. 2.1.
S s

PART 3 LANGUAGE OF DOCUMENTS @Qp

3.1. French or English QQ/

(1) A person must file a document required ){@ filed under this Regulation in
French or in English. (l/

(2) Despite subsection (1), if a persorﬁa document only in French or only in
English but delivers to securityholders a verpton of the document in the other language,
the person must file that other ver i@onot later than when it is first delivered to
securityholders. ‘il/

\%
3) In Québec, a reporting 4 r must comply with linguistic obligations and rights
prescribed by Québec law. ?“

M.O. 2005-03, s. 3.1;@2008-06, s. 11,
3.2.  Filings Tr&ed into French or English

If a files a document under this Regulation that is a translation of a
documenqgﬁared in a language other than French or English, the person must

@ attach a certificate as to the accuracy of the translation to the filed
n

d@n t; and
(b) make a copy of the document in the original language available to a
registered holder or beneficial owner of its securities, on request.

M.O. 2006-04, s. 2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11.

14
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PART 4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4.1. Comparative Annual Financial Statements and Audit
(1) Areporting issuer must file annual financial statements that include

(@) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in eNty
and a statement of cash flows for ‘.1/

0] the most recently completed financial year; and '\Q 5

(i) the financial year immediately preceding t 4most recently
completed financial year, if any; ?\

(b) a statement of financial position as at the enQa)each of the periods
referred to in paragraph (a);

(c) in the following circumstances, a state ﬁ(of financial position as at the
beginning of the financial year immediately preg§ the most recently completed
financial year:

0] the reporting issuer di s in its annual financial statements an
unreserved statement of compliance W|th I ; and

(i) the reporting |SSLf<;t/

(A) ap&@an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual

?\

akes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual

financial statements;

(B
financial statements,
Q/ (C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements;

(d Cﬂ the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
openin S statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS; and

%%e) notes to the annual financial statements;
(2)  Annual financial statements filed under subsection (1) must be audited.
(3) If a reporting issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate

income statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately
before the statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1).

16
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2.
4.2. Filing Deadline for Audited Annual Financial Statements

The audited annual financial statements required to be filed under section 4.1
must be filed

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, on Qzl/%fore
the earlier of

)
(1) the 90" day after the end of its most recently coml&ed financial

year; and Q‘

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdi@ annual financial
statements for its most recently completed financial year; or Q.

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or befor&%'earlier of

(i) the 120th day after the end of i @)st recently completed financial
R

year; and
4%

(i) the date of filing, igr\foreign jurisdiction, annual financial
statements for its most recently completed fipancial year.

Q-
M.O. 2005-03, 5. 4.2; M.O. 2006-04, &4

\4

4.3. Interim Financial Rep

(1)  Subject to section 4Vand 4.10, a reporting issuer must file an interim financial
report for each interim&d ended after it became a reporting issuer.

(2) The interir&hcial report required to be filed under subsection (1) must include

(@) &mtement of financial position as at the end of the interim period and a
statemen Mancial position as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year,

if any; O

b) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity
an(» a statement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date interim period, and comparative
financial information for the corresponding interim period in the immediately preceding
financial year, if any;

(c) for interim periods other than the first interim period in a reporting issuer's
financial year, a statement of comprehensive income for the 3 month period ending on

17
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the last day of the interim period and comparative financial information for the
corresponding period in the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(d) in the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of the immediately preceding financial year:

(1) the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial repom an
unreserved statement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 3 @erim
Financial Reporting; and Q

\ A

(i) the reporting issuer 4

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospe& y in its interim
financial report;

(B) makes a retrospective restate of items in its interim
financial report; or Q

(C) reclassifies items in its y{@n financial report;

(e) in the case of the reporting issu 'Qﬁrst interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opd\g IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS; and

)
) notes to the interim finaﬂj% report.

N\

(2.1) If a reporting issuer p s the components of profit or loss in a separate
income statement, the se te income statement must be displayed immediately
before the statement of cqmNrehensive income filed under subsection (2).

(3)  An auditor reg@of an interim financial report must be disclosed as follows:

(@) I%agauditor has not performed a review of an interim financial report

required to iled under subsection (1), the interim financial report must be
accompapf y a notice indicating that the interim financial report has not been
review&n auditor.

@ b) If a reporting issuer engaged an auditor to perform a review of an interim
fisgncial report required to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor was unable to
complete the review, the interim financial report must be accompanied by a notice
indicating that the auditor was unable to complete a review of the interim financial report
and the reasons why the auditor was unable to complete the review.

(c) If an auditor has performed a review of the interim financial report required
to be filed under subsection (1) and the auditor has expressed a reservation of opinion

18
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in the auditor's interim review report, the interim financial report must be accompanied
by a written review report from the auditor.

19
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4) If an SEC issuer that is a reporting issuer

€)) has filed an interim financial report prepared in accordance with Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises for one or more interim periods
since its most recently completed financial year for which annual financial statements
have been filed; and

(b) prepares its annual financial statements or an interim financial r@(@t for
the period immediately following the periods referred to in paragraph (a) in accaptiance
with U.S. GAAP, Q-

N
the SEC issuer must Qﬂ

(c) restate the interim financial report for the ;@s referred to in
paragraph (a) in accordance with U.S. GAAP; and Q.

(d) file the restated interim financial report ref, to in paragraph (c) by the
filing deadline for the financial statements referred tob ragraph (b).

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 5; M.O. %ﬁi/ 17, s. 3.
4.4. Filing Deadline for an Interim Fmaa/@l Report

An interim financial report mus Hed

(g) in the case of a re Wg issuer other than a venture issuer, on or before
the earlier of &

(1) the tl%%ly after the end of the interim period; and

(i) ate of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
for a period endirQ he last day of the interim period; or

(b) CI) e case of a venture issuer, on or before the earlier of
O 0] the 60th day after the end of the interim period; and

% (i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction, an interim financial report
fOw period ending on the last day of the interim period.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4.

4.5. Approval of Financial Statements
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(1) The annual financial statements a reporting issuer is required to file under
section 4.1 must be approved by the board of directors before the statements are filed.

(2)  The interim financial report a reporting issuer is required to file under section 4.3
must be approved by the board of directors before the report is filed.

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2), the board of directors may dele&ate

the approval of the interim financial report to the audit committee of the of
directors.
N
M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. 4
4.6. Delivery of Financial Statements ?g

(1) A reporting issuer must send annually a request form@e registered holders
and beneficial owners of its securities, other than debt in nts, that the registered
holders and beneficial owners may use to request a of the reporting issuer's
annual financial statements and MD&A for the annu ancial statements, the interim
financial reports and MD&A for the interim financiaK rts, or both.

(2) The reporting issuer must, in accord{rlee with the procedures set out in
Regulation 54-101 respecting Communica&@w th Beneficial Owners of Securities of a
Reporting Issuer (c. V-1.1, r. 29) send t orm referred to in paragraph (1) to the
beneficial owners of its securities w & identified under that Regulation as having
chosen to receive all securityholder n‘?ﬁrals sent to beneficial owners of securities.

3) If a registered holde @beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reporting @er requests the issuer's annual financial statements or

interim financial reportsth¢ reporting issuer must send a copy of the requested
financial statements t@erson that made the request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in t%z e of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer, 10 calendar
days after the, fizag deadline in subparagraph 4.2(a)(i) or 4.4(a)(i), section 4.7, or
subsection 4 ), as applicable, for the financial statements requested;

@2 in the case of a venture issuer, 10 calendar days after the filing deadline in
para 4.2(b)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), section 4.7, or subsection 4.10(2), as applicable, for the
fir@cl | statements requested; and
A\

(c) 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the request.
4) A reporting issuer is not required to send copies of annual financial statements or

interim financial reports under subsection (3) that were filed more than 2 years before
the issuer receives the request.
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(5) Subsection (1) and the requirement to send annual financial statements under
subsection (3) do not apply to a reporting issuer that sends its annual financial
statements to its securityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140
days of the issuer's financial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101
respecting Communication with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer.

(6) If a reporting issuer sends financial statements under this section, the re aﬂ\ing
issuer must also send, at the same time, the annual or interim MD&A relatirﬁ/ the
financial statements.

Q‘\
M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 6; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 201{-5, S. 4.

4.7. Filing of Financial Statements After Becoming a Reporti suer

(2) Despite any provisions of this Part other than subs%@), (3) and (4) of this

section, the first annual financial statements and interim finagQ&¥l reports that a reporting
issuer must file under sections 4.1 and 4.3 are the fina tatements for the financial
year and interim periods immediately following periods for which financial
statements were included in a document filed of thegiSser

(@) thatresulted in the issuer becomiﬂg(la reporting issuer; or

(b) in respect of a transaction thgayesulted in the issuer becoming a reporting
issuer. (19«

(2) If a reporting issuer is re to file annual financial statements for a financial
year that ended before the i became a reporting issuer, those annual financial
statements must be filed on$~ efore the later of

(@  the 20th ter the issuer became a reporting issuer; and

(b) the&@'deadline in section 4.2.

3) Ifar %ﬂng issuer is required to file an interim financial report for an interim
period th ed before the issuer became a reporting issuer, that interim financial
report &e filed on or before the later of
%%a) the 10th day after the issuer became a reporting issuer; and
N\

(b)  the filing deadline in section 4.4.

(4) A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative interim financial
information for periods that ended before the issuer became a reporting issuer if
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(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b)  the prior-period information that is available is presented; and
(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose the fact that the prior-

period information has not been prepared on a basis consistent with the most rexent
interim financial information. ‘.1/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 7; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. '\Q"
4.8. Changein Year-End Qﬂ
(1)  An SEC issuer satisfies this section if \)?“

(@) it complies with the requirements of U.S. law @ ing to a change of fiscal
year; and QQ/

(b) it files a copy of all materials requireg@J.S. laws relating to a change of
fiscal year at the same time as, or as soon as pradsticable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC and, in the case of fina&c | statements, no later than the filing
deadlines prescribed under sections 4.2 an .

(2) If a reporting issuer decides Q:hange its financial year-end by more than
14 days, it must file a notice as soon racticable, and, in any event, not later than the

earlier of \\/
(@ the filing dea%, ;ased on the reporting issuer's old financial year-end,

for the next financial stat nts required to be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first; and S

(b) thep deadline, based on the reporting issuer's new financial year-end,
for the next financyal statements required to be filed, either annual or interim, whichever
comes first. O
(3) &)tice referred to in subsection (2) must state

é a) thatthe reporting issuer has decided to change its year-end;
(b)  the reason for the change;

(c) the reporting issuer's old financial year-end;

(d)  the reporting issuer's new financial year-end;
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(e) the length and ending date of the periods, including the comparative
periods, of each interim financial report and the annual financial statements to be filed
for the reporting issuer's transition year and its new financial year; and

() the filing deadlines, prescribed under sections 4.2 and 4.4, for the annual
financial statements and interim financial reports for the reporting issuer's transition

year. Q'\ R
(4) For the purposes of this section, (1/

N

(@) a transition year must not exceed 15 months; and 4

(b)  the first interim period after an old financial yearg%( not exceed 4

months. 0

(5) Despite subsection 4.3(1)(b), a reporting issuer is quired to file an interim
financial report for any period in its transition year that e%pot more than 1 month

(a) after the last day of its old financial yg{@(
(b) before the first day of its new flna;(h year.
(6) Despite subsection 4.1(1), if a transftbn year is less than 9 months in length, the

reporting issuer must include as com we financial information to its annual financial
statements for its new financial year

\cxl position, a statement of comprehensive income, a
, a statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial

€) a statement of fi
statement of changes in e
statements for its transiti
(b) a stat t of financial position, a statement of comprehensive income, a
statement of ch in equity, a statement of cash flows and notes to the financial
statements fo@ d financial year;
(C)Q~ the following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beglnn f the old financial year:
Q 0] the reporting issuer discloses in its annual financial statements an
uNJeserved statement of compliance with IFRS; and
(i) the reporting issuer
(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual

financial statements;
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(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements; or

(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements; and

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the
opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS. r\ .

(7 Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for the reporting |ssuers t‘lnsmon
year end 3, 6, 9 or 12 months after the end of its old financial year, the re& g issuer
must include

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim fi C|aI report during

its transition year, the comparative financial information requir subsectlon 4.3(2),
except if an interim period during the transition year is 12 s in length and the
reporting issuer's transition year is longer than 13 mon e comparative financial
information must be the statement of financial posm ement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statem cash flows for the 12 month
period that constitutes its old financial year; &

(b) as comparative financial informai@m each interim financial report during
its new financial year Q

0] a statement of fi@al position as at the end of its transition year;
and

\%

(i) the state f comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and statement of ca ows for the periods in its transition year or old financial
year, for the same calendarnonths as, or as close as possible to, the calendar months
in the interim period incgﬁew financial year;

(c) in t%QOMowing circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginning of t% rliest comparative period:

unrese
Flna

the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
ﬁ. atement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
eporting; and
(i) the reporting issuer

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim
financial report;

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or
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(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at
the date of transition to IFRS.

(8) Despite subsection 4.3(2), if interim periods for a reporting issuer's transi{t@/ear
end 12, 9, 6 or 3 months before the end of the transition year, the reporting issué must
include '\Q .

(@) as comparative financial information in each interim fineg?;sl report during
its transition year ?\

0] a statement of financial position as at ti@gd of its old financial
year; and

(i) the statement of comprehensive | %me, statement of changes in
equity and statement of cash flows for periods i Id financial year, for the same
calendar months as, or as close as pOSSIb|e Dshe calendar months in the interim
period in the transition year;

(b) as comparative financial infoﬂation in each interim financial report during
its new financial year Q«

0] a statement o&nancial position as at the end of its transition year;
and

equity and statement h flows in its transition year or old financial year, or both, as
appropriate, for th calendar months as, or as close as possible to, the calendar
months in the |nt eriod in the new financial year;

(i) the Eat?rﬁent of comprehensive income, statement of changes in

(c) %he following circumstances, a statement of financial position as at the
beginnin%~ e earliest comparative period:

« 0] the reporting issuer discloses in its interim financial report an
ved statement of compliance with International Accounting Standard 34 Interim
nC|aI Reporting; and
(i) the reporting issuer
(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim

financial report;
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(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
financial report; or

(C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report; and

(d) in the case of the reporting issuer's first interim financial report required to
be filed in the year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial positioQ at

the date of transition to IFRS. ‘.1/
M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 8; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. '\Q‘*
4.9. Change in Corporate Structure Qﬂ

If an issuer is party to a transaction that resulted in, \)?“

(@) the issuer becoming a reporting issuer other y filing a prospectus; or

(b) if the issuer was already a reporting issg%
0] the issuer ceasing to be a r%;iéﬁﬁng issuer,
(i) a change in the reporti‘p,&'}uer’s financial year end, or

(i)  achangein the nﬁi@ of the reporting issuer;

the issuer must, as as practicable, and in any event not later than the
deadline for the first filing requy nder this Regulation following the transaction, file a
notice stating ?“

(c) the nam@\he parties to the transaction;

d a d@Qp‘tion of the transaction;
(e) ct)%'effective date of the transaction;

the name of each party, if any, that ceased to be a reporting issuer after
the t ction and of each continuing entity;

\é (9) the date of the reporting issuer's first financial year-end after the
transaction if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies;

(h)  the periods, including the comparative periods, if any, of the interim
financial reports and the annual financial statements required to be filed for the reporting
issuer’s first financial year after the transaction, if paragraph (a) or subparagraph (b)(ii)
applies; and
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0] what documents were filed under this Regulation that described the
transaction and where those documents can be found in electronic format, if paragraph
(a) or subparagraph (b)(ii) applies.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 5.

t\.

4.10. Reverse Takeovers ‘-19

(1) If a reporting issuer must comply with section 4.9 because it Wa§®)arty to a
reverse takeover, the reporting issuer must comply with section 4.8 unlegs

(@) the reporting issuer had the same year-end as tl$geverse takeover
acquirer before the transaction; or

(b)  the reporting issuer changes its year-end t %Tlhe same as that of the
reverse takeover acquirer. Q

(2) If a reporting issuer completes a reverse tal«@(, it must

(@) file the following financial stater)\glrs for the reverse takeover acquirer,
unless the financial statements have alreaq;@en filed:

0] financial stateme for all annual and interim periods ending
before the date of the reverse takeoVvgr and after the date of the financial statements
included in an information circulaQy similar document, or under Item 5.2 of the Form
51-102F3 Material Change R@repared in connection with the transaction; or

(i) if th Qﬁorting issuer did not file a document referred to in
subparagraph (i), or cument does not include the financial statements for the
reverse takeover a r that would be required to be included in a prospectus, the
financial stateme escribed under securities legislation and described in the form of
prospectus thgt the reverse takeover acquirer was eligible to use prior to the reverse
takeover for, %mribution of securities in the jurisdiction;

@ file the annual financial statements required by paragraph (a) on or before
f

the |a¢€

\é 0] the 20th day after the date of the reverse takeover;
(i) the 90th date after the end of the financial year; and

(i)  the 120th day after the end of the financial year if the reporting
issuer is a venture issuer; and
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(c) file each interim financial report required by paragraph (a) on or before the
later of

0] the 10th day after the date of the reverse takeover;
(i) the 45th day after the end of the interim period;

(i)  the 60th day after the end of the interim period if the ﬁ?&t}ng
issuer is a venture issuer; and
N

(iv)  the filing deadline in paragraph (b). 4
(3) A reporting issuer is not required to provide compara@qterim financial
information for the reverse takeover acquirer for periods that en efore the date of a
reverse takeover if %Q.

(@) to a reasonable person it is impractj to present prior-period
information on a basis consistent with subsection 4.3(2);

(b)  the prior-period information that is ?.Y:a&able is presented; and
(c) the notes to the interim financiallsﬁ'o\t disclose the fact that the prior-period

information has not been prepared on a S consistent with the most recent interim
financial information. Q«

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.10; M.O. ZOwS. 10; M.O. 2007-08, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6.

N

(1) In this section
S

"appointm&eans, in relation to a reporting issuer, the earlier of

4.11. Change of Auditor

(@) ct)%'appointment as its auditor of a person; and

@f the decision by the board of directors of the reporting issuer to propose to
holdﬁ qualified securities to appoint such person as its auditor to replace its
ssor auditor;

p\

"consultation” means advice provided by a successor auditor, whether or not in
writing, to a reporting issuer during the relevant period, which the successor auditor
concluded was an important factor considered by the reporting issuer in reaching a
decision concerning
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(@) the application of accounting principles or policies to a transaction,
whether or not the transaction is completed,;

(b) a report provided by an auditor on the reporting issuer's financial
statements;

(c) scope or procedure of an audit or review engagement; or N\

Q
(d) financial statement disclosure; "1/
)

"disagreement” means a difference of opinion between personngl (')\a reporting
issuer responsible for finalizing the reporting issuer's financial s@vents and the
personnel of a predecessor auditor responsible for authorizing t Ssuance of audit
reports on the reporting issuer's financial statements or authorigidgdthe communication
of the results of the auditor's review of the reporting issuer' Im financial report, if
the difference of opinion

@) resulted in a modified opinion in the pr ssor auditor's audit report on
the reporting issuer's financial statements for any K durlng the relevant period;

(b)  would have resulted in a modlf;e\q,oplnlon in the predecessor auditor's

audit report on the reporting issuer's fin | statements for any period during the
relevant period if the difference of opinio d not been resolved to the predecessor
auditor's satisfaction, not including \fference of opinion based on incomplete or

preliminary information that was reso to the satisfaction of the predecessor auditor
upon the receipt of further inform

(c) resulted in a ined or adverse communication or denial of assurance in
respect of the predeces or%auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim financial
report for any interim @ during the relevant period; or

(d) Wo%?ﬂve resulted in a qualified or adverse communication or denial of
assurance in t of the predecessor auditor's review of the reporting issuer's interim
financial re &k)r any interim period during the relevant period if the difference of
opinion h t been resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction, not including a
differer@ opinion based on incomplete or preliminary information that was resolved
to th sfaction of the predecessor auditor upon the receipt of further information;

\s "predecessor auditor" means the auditor of a reporting issuer that is the subject
of the most recent termination or resignation;

"qualified securities” means securities of a reporting issuer that carry the right to
participate in voting on the appointment or removal of the reporting issuer's auditor;

"relevant information circular" means
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(@) if a reporting issuer's constating documents or applicable law require
holders of qualified securities to take action to remove the reporting issuer's auditor or to
appoint a successor auditor

0] the information circular required to accompany or form part of every
notice of meeting at which that action is proposed to be taken; or Qr\ .

(i) the disclosure document accompanying the text of the b#ritten
resolution provided to holders of qualified securities; or '\Q‘\

accompany or form part of the first notice of meeting to be sent t ers of qualified
securities following the preparation of a reporting package congex8ng a termination or
resignation;

(b) if paragraph (a) does not apply, the informaticﬁ%\ﬁr required to

"relevant period" means the period Q&

(@) commencing at the beginning of th&e@orting issuer's 2 most recently
completed financial years and ending on the datg,of ¥ermination or resignation; or

(b)  during which the predecesso @tor was the reporting issuer's auditor, if
the predecessor auditor was not the repOfgng issuer's auditor throughout the period
described in paragraph (a); “

('l/

"reportable event" mean§Wisagreement, a consultation, or an unresolved

Q

"reporting packagegy r%%ms

issue;

(@) the dg l@;nts referred to in subparagraphs (5)(a)(i) and (6)(a)(i);

(b) t@(%tter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting
issuer, unle updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) has been received by
the repor@suer;

Q@ the letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(ii)(B), if received by the reporting

r*and

is
N\

(d) any updated letter referred to in clause (6)(a)(iii)(B) received by the
reporting issuer,;

"resignation” means notification from an auditor to a reporting issuer of the
auditor's decision to resign or decline to stand for reappointment;
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"successor auditor" means the person
(@) appointed;

(b) that the board of directors have proposed to holders of qualified securities
be appointed; or

(c) that the board of directors have decided to propose to holders of ifled

securities be appointed,
4

as the reporting issuer's auditor after the termination or re 'gr'ﬁ(ion of the
reporting issuer's predecessor auditor; Q‘

"termination” means, in relation to a reporting issuer, the @of

(@ the removal of its auditor before the expj the auditor's term of
appointment, the expiry of its auditor's term of appoin@ without reappointment, or
the appointment of a different person as its auditor ygot\ expiry of its auditor's term of
appointment; and &6

(b)  the decision by the board of direﬂ\az of the reporting issuer to propose to
holders of its qualified securities that its a @r be removed before, or that a different
person be appointed as its auditor upon, thefexpiry of its auditor's term of appointment;

)

"unresolved issue" means an)ﬂnatter that, in the predecessor auditor's opinion,
has, or could have, a material im n the financial statements, or reports provided by
the auditor relating to the fi | statements, for any financial period during the
relevant period, and abou ich the predecessor auditor has advised the reporting
issuer if v
matter's implicati fore the date of termination or resignation;

(@) the préessor auditor was unable to reach a conclusion as to the

(b) matter was not resolved to the predecessor auditor's satisfaction
before th of termination or resignation; or

g@ the predecessor auditor is no longer willing to be associated with any of
the\pancial statements;

(2) For the purposes of this section, the term "material® has a meaning consistent
with the discussion of the term "materiality” in the issuer's GAAP.

(3)  This section does not apply if

(@) the following 3 conditions are met:
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0] a termination, or resignation, and appointment occur in connection
with an amalgamation, arrangement, takeover or similar transaction involving the
reporting issuer or a reorganization of the reporting issuer;

(i) the termination, or resignation, and appointment have been
disclosed in a news release that has been filed or in a disclosure document thaians
been delivered to holders of qualified securities and filed; and ‘.1/

(i)  no reportable event has occurred; '\Q‘\

(b)  the change of auditor is required by the Iegislatio@der which the
reporting issuer exists or carries on its activities; or ?\

(© the change of auditor arises from an amalg@gn, merger or other
reorganization of the auditor. &

(4)  An SEC issuer satisfies this section if it

(@ complies with the requirements P{:&S. laws relating to a change of
auditor; N

(b) files a copy of all materials r&ulred by U.S. laws relating to a change of
auditor at the same time as, or as as practicable after, they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC,;

(© issues and files @s release describing the information disclosed in the
materials referred to in para%@h (b), if there are any reportable events; and

(d) includes aterials referred to in paragraph (b) with each relevant
information circular.2

(5) Upon ajeriwNination or resignation of its auditor, a reporting issuer must
(a)leaithin 10 days after the date of termination or resignation

%O 0] prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance with subsection
(7@ deliver a copy of it to the predecessor auditor; and
N\

(i) request the predecessor auditor to

(A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;
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(B) prepare a letter, addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

(C)  deliver the letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the date of termination or resignation;

(b)  within 30 days after the date of termination or resignation ‘.19
0] have the audit committee of its board of directors o;\ Poard of
directors review the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) if received&/ tNe reporting

issuer, and approve the change of auditor notice;

(i) file a copy of the reporting package with %?gcurities regulatory

authority; @Q.

(i)  deliver a copy of the reporting pack the predecessor auditor;

(iv)  if there are any reportable e&@ issue and file a news release
describing the information in the reporting packa‘gﬁ d

(c) include with each relevant inf?,@on circular

0] a copy of the repgz@apackage as an appendix; and

(i) a summary contents of the reporting package with a cross-
reference to the appendix. Q

(6) Upon an appointmgny)"f a successor auditor, a reporting issuer must

(@) within é@ays after the date of appointment

' Q prepare a change of auditor notice in accordance with subsection
(7) and deli 0 the successor auditor and to the predecessor auditor;
02 (i) request the successor auditor to
éQ (A) review the reporting issuer's change of auditor notice;
(B) prepare a letter addressed to the securities regulatory
authority, stating, for each statement in the change of auditor notice, whether the auditor
agrees, disagrees and the reasons why, or has no basis to agree or disagree; and

(C)  deliver that letter to the reporting issuer within 20 days after
the date of appointment; and
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(i) request the predecessor auditor to, within 20 days after the date of
appointment,

(A) confirm that the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B) does
not have to be updated; or

(B) prepare and deliver to the reporting issuer an updaﬁiﬂ}tter
to replace the letter referred to in clause (5)(a)(ii)(B);
N

(b)  within 30 days after the date of appointment, 4
(1) have the audit committee of its board of dir Qs or its board of
directors review the letters referred to in clauses (6)(a)(ii)(B) an@g)(iii)(B) if received

by the reporting issuer, and approve the change of auditor notQ.;.

(i) file a copy of the reporting packagQ pn the securities regulatory

authority; O

(i)  deliver a copy of the reporting©éackage to the successor auditor
and to the predecessor auditor; and N

(iv) if there are any repmﬂbe events, issue and file a news release
disclosing the appointment of the essor auditor and either describing the
information in the reporting packag referring to the news release required under
subparagraph (5)(b)(iv). \\/

(7) A change of auditor @e must state

(@ the date@minaﬁon or resignation;
(b) Wh%ﬁhe predecessor auditor

ﬁ/ resigned on the predecessor auditor's own initiative or at the
reporting 'S request;

O (i) was removed or is proposed to holders of qualified securities to be
rP@v d during the predecessor auditor's term of appointment; or

(i) was not reappointed or has not been proposed for reappointment;

(c) whether the termination or resignation of the predecessor auditor and any
appointment of the successor auditor were considered or approved by the audit
committee of the reporting issuer's board of directors or the reporting issuer's board of
directors;
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(d)  whether the predecessor auditor's report on any of the reporting issuer's
financial statements relating to the relevant period expressed a modified opinion and, if
so, a description of each modification;

(e) if there is a reportable event, the following information:

(i)  for a disagreement, (19'\

(A) adescription of the disagreement; '\Q 5

(B)  whether the audit committee of the repo@é\issuer's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed t ISagreement with
the predecessor auditor; and 0

(C)  whether the reporting issuer %rized the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any succ<z<?l auditor concerning the
disagreement and, if not, a description of and reasong.fol\any limitation;

(i) for a consultation, &

U

(A) a description @'é issue that was the subject of the
consultation;

“
B) a summalﬂ,% the successor auditor's oral advice, if any,
provided to the reporting issuer co@ming the issue;

© pr of the successor auditor's written advice, if any,
received by the reporting ggs¥er concerning the issue; and

@ whether the reporting issuer consulted with the predecessor
auditor concernirg issue and, if so, a summary of the predecessor auditor's advice
concerning theQis/ e; and

Q_ i)  for an unresolved issue,

(A) adescription of the issue;

\s (B)  whether the audit committee of the reporting issuer's board
of directors or the reporting issuer's board of directors discussed the issue with the
predecessor auditor; and

(C) whether the reporting issuer authorized the predecessor
auditor to respond fully to inquiries by any successor auditor concerning the issue and,
if not, a description of and reasons for any limitation; and
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() if there are no reportable events, a statement to that effect.

(8) If the successor auditor becomes aware that the change of auditor notice
required by this section has not been prepared and filed by the reporting issuer, the
auditor must, within 7 days, advise the reporting issuer in writing and deliver a copy of
the letter to the securities regulatory authority. N\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 4.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 11; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-‘]..12', s. 1;
M.O. 2010-17, s. 7. \Qﬂ
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PART 4A°  FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
4A.1. Application

This Part applies to forward-looking information that is disclosed by a repdﬁlng
issuer other than forward-looking information contained in oral statements. ‘.1/

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. \Qﬂ
4A.2. Reasonable Basis Qﬂ

A reporting issuer must not disclose forward-looking inforr{é&ﬁ unless the issuer
has a reasonable basis for the forward-looking information. Q.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. Q&
4A.3. Disclosure &O

A reporting issuer that discloses mq\gb&l forward-looking information must
include disclosure that Q

(@) identifies forward-lookin @xmation as such;

(b)  cautions users Wd-looking information that actual results may vary

from the forward-looking infor and identifies material risk factors that could cause
actual results to differ mater'e\ from the forward-looking information;

(c) states th erial factors or assumptions used to develop forward-looking
information; and 6

(d) %:E(ibes the reporting issuer's policy for updating forward-looking
information b ludes procedures in addition to those described in subsection 5.8(2).

M.O. 2@%8, s. 3.

P@T%IB FOFI AND FINANCIAL OUTLOOKS
\

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
4B.1. Application

(1) This Part applies to FOFI or a financial outlook that is disclosed by a reporting
issuer.
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(2)  This Part does not apply to disclosure that is

(@)  subject to requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of
Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23), or Regulation 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (c. V-1.1, r. 15); or

(b) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption f @'\the
requirements referred to in paragraph (a) that a reporting issuer received Wom a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority or, “that this
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption; or 4

Q~
Ne
M.O. 2007-08, s. 3. &
4B.2. Assumptions Q&

(1) A reporting issuer must not disclose FOFI ggr ancial outlook unless the FOFI
or financial outlook is based on assumptions tha{.ﬁr easonable in the circumstances.

(© contained in an oral statement.

(2) FOFI or a financial outlook that is b %'i\on assumptions that are reasonable in
the circumstances must, without Iimitation,ﬂ/

“
(@) be limited to a period \Q/Qwhich the information in the FOFI or financial
outlook can be reasonably estim s@/and

(b) use the acco Qg policies the reporting issuer expects to use to prepare
its historical financial st eu&e“nts for the period covered by the FOFI or the financial

outlook.
O

M.O. 2007-08, s. Q‘

4B.3. Discl&e

dition to the disclosure required by section 4A.3, if a reporting issuer
discl OFI or a financial outlook, the issuer must include disclosure that

\s (@) states the date management approved the FOFI or financial outlook, if the
document containing the FOFI or financial outlook is undated; and

(b)  explains the purpose of the FOFI or financial outlook and cautions readers
that the information may not be appropriate for other purposes.

M.O. 2007-08, s. 3.
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PART 5 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
5.1. Filing of MD&A

(1) A reporting issuer must file MD&A relating to its annual financial statements and
each interim financial report.

(1.1) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer does not have to file MD&A r gto
the annual financial statements and interim financial reports required under sec s4.7
and 4.10 for financial years and interim periods that ended before the ISSIK ®came a

reporting issuer. 4
(2)  The MD&A required to be filed must be filed on or before the§~ ler of

(@) the filing deadlines for the annual financial sta@ts and each interim
financial report set out in sections 4.2 and 4.4, as applicabl

(b) the date the reporting issuer filescbhg financial statements under
subsections 4.1(1) or 4.3(1), as applicable. &

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 12; M.Q@OlO-l?, s. 9.

5.2.  Filing of MD&A for SEC Issuers (1/
)
Despite subsection 5.1(2), if aﬁ@EC issuer that is a reporting issuer is filing its
annual or interim MD&A prepare ccordance with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under
the 1934 Act, the SEC issuer ile that document on or before the earlier of

(@) the date t &'C issuer would be required to file that document under
section 5.1; and é

(b) the{@‘lhe SEC issuer files that document with the SEC.

pa
M.O. 2005-(&3(/5.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

@onal Disclosure for Venture Issuers Without Significant Revenue
]@A venture issuer that has not had significant revenue from operations in either of
|t‘s‘ st 2 financial years, must disclose in its MD&A, for each period referred to in
subsection (2), a breakdown of material components of

(@) exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures;

(b)  expensed research and development costs;
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(© intangible assets arising from development;
(d) general and administration expenses; and

(e) any material costs, whether expensed or recognized as assets, not
referred to in paragraphs (a) through (d);

and if the venture issuer's business primarily involves mining explora{;@and
development, the analysis of exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures rtist be
presented on a property-by-property basis. '\Q 5

(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided for the follo@\periods:

@) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 most rece %mpleted financial

years; and Q.

(b) in the case of interim MD&A, for the n&@ecent year-to-date interim
period and the comparative year-to-date period presenieM in the interim financial report.

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply if the infg '&on required under that subsection
has been disclosed in the financial statements p{i;hich the MD&A relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 14;%. 2010-17, s. 9.
Q«
5.4. Disclosure of Outstanding Sﬁ.be Data

(1) A reporting issuer mu tisclose in its MD&A the designation and number or
principal amount of ?“

(@) eachcla series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
for which there are ities outstanding;

(b) cﬁclass and series of securities of the reporting issuer for which there
are securitig tstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchang or, voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer; and

@ each class and series of voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer
t re issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of
tAQ¥eporting issuer.

(2) For the application of paragraph (1)(c), if the exact number or principal amount of
voting or equity securities of the reporting issuer that are issuable on the conversion,
exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer is not
determinable, the reporting issuer must disclose the maximum number or principal
amount of each class and series of voting or equity securities that are issuable on the
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conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of the reporting issuer and, if
that maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, the reporting issuer
must describe the exchange or conversion features and the manner in which the
number or principal amount of voting or equity securities will be determined.

(3)  The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) must be prepared as of the latest
practicable date. N\

Q
M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9. ‘.1/
NS

5.5. Approval of MD&A 4

(2) The annual MD&A that a reporting issuer is required to filevggr this Part must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed.

(2)  The interim MD&A that a reporting issuer is requir ¢ile under this Part must
be approved by the board of directors before being filed,

3) In fulfilling the requirement in subsection (2 @board of directors may delegate
the approval of the interim MD&A required tg beMiled under this Part to the audit
committee of the board of directors. '3.1/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.5; M.O. 2010-17, 5. 9. ©))
he

5.6. Delivery of MD&A ),

(2) If a registered holde @beneficial owner of securities, other than debt
instruments, of a reportin Quer requests the reporting issuer's annual or interim
MD&A, the reporting issu rgRUst send a copy of the requested MD&A to the person that
made the request, wit harge, by the delivery deadline set out in subsection 4.6(3)
for the annual finangj atements or interim financial report to which the MD&A relates.
(2) A repor, 'ng(issuer Is not required to send copies of any MD&A that was filed
more than 2«%&5 before the issuer receives the request.

(3) equirement to send annual MD&A under subsection (1) does not apply to a
repo% ssuer that sends its annual MD&A and any related MD&A supplement to its
S ityholders, other than holders of debt instruments, within 140 days of the issuer's

fisgncial year-end and in accordance with Regulation 54-101 respecting Communication
with Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer (c. V-1.1, r. 29).

4) If a reporting issuer sends MD&A under this section, the reporting issuer must
also send, at the same time, the annual financial statements or interim financial report to
which the MD&A relates.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 5.6; M.O. 2006-04, s. 15; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 9.

5.7. Additional Disclosure for Reporting Issuers with Significant Equity
Investees

(1) A reporting issuer that has a significant equity investee must disclose in its
MD&A for each period referred to in subsection (2), N\

Q

€) summarized financial information of the equity investee, inclugbrg the
aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and '\Q‘\

(b)  the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the equitg’lff.'&estee and any
contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might v\ iIcantly affect the
reporting issuer's share of profit or loss.

(2)  The disclosure in subsection (1) must be provided f 3.following periods:

@) in the case of annual MD&A, for the 2 t recently completed financial
years; and 6

(b) in the case of interim MD&A, %e most recent year-to-date interim
period and the comparative year-to-date pe&@ resented in the interim financial report.

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply i Q«
(@ the information re under that subsection has been disclosed in the

financial statements to which &A relates; or

(b)  the issuer fi §!~eparate financial statements of the equity investee for the
periods referred to in tion (2).

M.O. 2006-04, S.QQM.O. 2010-17,s. 9.

5.8. Discl&e Relating to Previously Disclosed Material Forward-Looking

InformatQL

(1) g\ S section applies to material forward-looking information that is disclosed by a
g issuer other than

(@) forward-looking information contained in an oral statement, or

(b)  disclosure that is
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(1) subject to the requirements in Regulation 51-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23) or Regulation 43-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (c. V-1.1, r. 15), or

(i) made to comply with the conditions of any exemption from the
requirements referred to in subparagraph (i) that a reporting issuer received from a
securities regulatory authority unless the securities regulatory authority orders that(his
Part applies to disclosure made under the exemption. ‘.1/

(2)  Areporting issuer must discuss in its MD&A, '\Q‘\

(@) events and circumstances that occurred during the p ﬂ;d to which the
MD&A relates that are reasonably likely to cause actual results to?~ I materially from
material forward-looking information for a period that is not@ complete that the
reporting issuer previously disclosed to the public; and Q.

(b)  the expected differences referred to in par (a).
(3)  Subsection (2) does not apply if the reportin’@ler

(@) includes the information requirep{by subsection (2) in a news release
issued and filed by the reporting issuer e the filing of the MD&A referred to in
subsection (2); and

“

(b) includes disclosure in th‘e'SD&A referred to in subsection (2) that
\Y
0] identifies ws release referred to in paragraph (a);
(i) state t%date of the news release; and

(i) é S that the news release is available at www.sedar.com.

4 A repo%n/&ssuer must disclose and discuss in its MD&A, material differences

between O

@2 actual results for the annual or interim period to which the MD&A relates,
and Q

\é (b)  any FOFI or financial outlook for the period referred to in paragraph (a)
that the reporting issuer previously disclosed.

(5) If during the period to which its MD&A relates, a reporting issuer decides to
withdraw previously disclosed material forward-looking information,
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(@) the reporting issuer must disclose in its MD&A the decision and discuss
the events and circumstances that led the reporting issuer to that decision, including a
discussion of the assumptions underlying the forward-looking information that are no
longer valid, and

(b)  subsection (4) does not apply to the reporting issuer with respect to the
MD&A Ne

(1) if the reporting issuer complies with paragraph (a); and "1/

)
(i) the MD&A is filed before the end of the period&'\/\ered by the

forward-looking information. Q‘
(6) Paragraph 5(a) does not apply if the reporting issuer \)?“

@) includes the information required by paragr )(@) in a news release
issued and filed by the reporting issuer before the fili the MD&A referred to in

subsection (5); and O
(b) includes disclosure in the MD&A r 'r$ed to in subsection (5) that
0] identifies the news reI&Q;%'}eferred to in paragraph (a);
(i) states the date of‘_i/%news release; and
(i)  statesthatt Q\ews release is available at www.sedar.com.
M.O. 2007-08, s. 4; M.O. 2(%@1 , S. 10.

PART 6 ANNUAb@ORMATION FORM

6.1. Requirem&&l‘b File an AlF

A repcr)%g issuer that is not a venture issuer must file an AlF.

M.O. 2@3, s.6.1.
6 g:iling Deadline for an AIF
>

An AlF must be filed,

(@ on or before the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most
recently completed financial year; or
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(b) in the case of a reporting issuer that is an SEC issuer filing its AIF on
Form 10-K or Form 20-F, on or before the earlier of

(i) the 90th day after the end of the reporting issuer's most recently
completed financial year; and

(i) the date the reporting issuer files its Form 10-K or Form 20-F»Qith

the SEC. Q
YV

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 11. '\Q"

6.3. (Revoked). 4
S

XK

&

(1) If a material change occurs in the affairs g\ﬁeporting issuer, the reporting issuer
must y\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 6.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 17.
PART 7 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORTS

7.1. Publication of Material Change

(@) immediately issue and file glnews release authorized by an executive
officer disclosing the nature and subsﬁ/@nof the change; and

(b) as soon as practic and in any event within 10 days of the date on
which the change occurs, file 51-102F3 Material Change Report with respect to
the material change. ?é

(2)  Subsection (1) @'lot apply if,

@) in t% inion of the reporting issuer, and if that opinion is arrived at in a
reasonable nrer, the disclosure required by subsection (1) would be unduly
detrimental é)%e interests of the reporting issuer; or

@ the material change consists of a decision to implement a change made
by s?ll_I management of the reporting issuer who believe that confirmation of the
degion by the board of directors is probable, and senior management of the reporting
iss¥er has no reason to believe that persons with knowledge of the material change
have made use of that knowledge in purchasing or selling securities of the reporting
issuer,

and the reporting issuer immediately files the report required under paragraph
(2)(b) marked so as to indicate that it is confidential, together with written reasons for
non-disclosure.
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(3)  (paragraph revoked).
4) (paragraph revoked).

(5) If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the reporting issuer must advise
the securities regulatory authority in writing if it believes the report should continmgto
remain confidential, within 10 days of the date of filing of the initial report and 10
days thereafter until the material change is generally disclosed in the manner reféfred to
in paragraph (1)(a), or, if the material change consists of a decision of the t@ﬂreferred
to in paragraph (2)(b), until that decision has been rejected by the boﬂo irectors of

the reporting issuer. Q‘

(6) In Ontario, the reporting issuer must advise the securities@?ﬁtory authority.

(7 If a report has been filed under subsection (2), the r Qr?g issuer must promptly
generally disclose the material change in the manner re, to in subsection (1) upon
the reporting issuer becoming aware, or having regsoNable grounds to believe, that
persons are purchasing or selling securities of th orting issuer with knowledge of
the material change that has not been generally disc¥sed.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 7.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 18;@2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 2.
PART 8 BUSINESS ACQUISITI?I;G%EPORT

8.1. Interpretation and Appli w

N

S an acquisition of an interest in a business that is
ing purposes or accounted for by another method, such as the

(1) In this Part,

"acquisition” i
consolidated for ac
equity method; Q

"acqu of related businesses” means the acquisition of 2 or more
businessQ_

@ the businesses were under common control or management before the
a@s ions were completed;

(b)  each acquisition was conditional upon the completion of each other
acquisition; or

(c) the acquisitions were contingent upon a single common event;
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"business” includes an interest in an oil and gas property to which reserves, as
defined in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas
Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23), have been specifically attributed; and

"specified profit or loss" means profit or loss from continuing operations
attributable to the owners of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.
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(2) This Part does not apply to a transaction that is a reverse takeover.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 19; M.O. 2007-08, s. 5; M.O. 2010-17, s. 12.
8.2. Obligation to File a Business Acquisition Report and Filing Deadline

(2) If a reporting issuer completes a significant acquisition, it must file a busilngss
acquisition report within 75 days after the acquisition date. ‘.19

(2) Despite subsection (1), if the most recently completed financiako of the
acquired business ended 45 days or less before the acquisition date, a gepdrting issuer
must file a business acquisition report Q‘

(@ within 90 days after the acquisition date, in the @f an issuer other
than a venture issuer, or Q.

(b)  within 120 days after the acquisition date, i&%case of a venture issuer.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.2; M.O. 2006-04, s. 20; M.O. 29@7, s. 13.
8.3. Determination of Significance y\(l/

(1)  An acquisition of a business or relat&zbusinesses is a significant acquisition,
)
(a) for a reporting issuer thﬁlje not a venture issuer, if the acquisition satisfies
any of the 3 significance tests se Wn subsection (2); and

(b)  for a venture 'Qer, if the acquisition satisfies either of the significance
tests set out in paragra;@(%?a) or (b) if "20%" is read as "40%".

(2) For the purp@@of subsection (1), the significance tests are:

(@) TheNasset test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidate Qeets of the business or related businesses exceeds 20% of the
consolid sets of the reporting issuer calculated using the audited annual financial
of each of the reporting issuer and the business or the related businesses
st recently completed financial year of each that ended before the acquisition

(b)  The investment test: The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
and advances to the business or related businesses as at the acquisition date
exceeds 20% of the consolidated assets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the
most recently completed financial year of the reporting issuer ended before the
acquisition date, excluding any investments in or advances to the business or related
businesses as at that date.
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(c) The profit or loss test: The reporting issuer's proportionate share of the
consolidated specified profit or loss of the business or related businesses exceeds 20%
of the consolidated specified profit or loss of the reporting issuer calculated using the
audited annual financial statements of each of the reporting issuer and the business or
related businesses for the most recently completed financial year of each ended before
the acquisition date. Q\ .
3) Despite subsection (1), if an acquisition of a business or related busin‘e.LSes is
significant based on the significance tests in subsection (2), '\Q‘\

(@) a reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer maé:r&-calculate the
significance using the optional significance tests in subsection (4);

(b) a venture issuer may re-calculate the signifi using the optional
significance tests in paragraphs (4)(a) or (b) if "20%" is rea 40%".

(4)  The optional significance tests are: Q

(@ The asset test: The reporting 's’s(uer’s proportionate share of the
consolidated assets of the business or re businesses exceeds 20% of the
consolidated assets of the reporting issuer @c lated using the financial statements of
each of the reporting issuer and the busihgss or the related businesses for the most
recently completed interim period or }@cial year of each, without giving effect to the

acquisition.

(b) The investment ~The reporting issuer's consolidated investments in
and advances to the busin r related businesses as at the acquisition date exceeds
20% of the consolidatede¢as¥ets of the reporting issuer as at the last day of the most
recently completed in@eriod or financial year of the reporting issuer, excluding any
investments in or aa‘ es to the business or related businesses as at that date.

(© The$rofit or loss test: The specified profit or loss calculated under the
following su graph (i) exceeds 20% of the specified profit or loss calculated under
the follow} bparagraph (ii):

%O (1) the reporting issuer's proportionate share of the consolidated
S@fl d profit or loss of the business or related businesses for the later of
N\

(A)  the most recently completed financial year of the business or
related businesses; or

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently
completed interim period of the business or related businesses;

51



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

(i) the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the
later of

(A) the most recently completed financial year, without giving
effect to the acquisition; or

(B) the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recaQtly
completed interim period of the reporting issuer, without giving effect to the acqui n.

(4.1) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (4), the reporting iss must not
remeasure its previously held equity interest in the business or related bysin®sses.

(4.2) For the purposes of paragraphs (2)(b) and (4)(b), th%?e"porting issuer's
investments in and advances to the business or related businesses\Must include

(@) the consideration transferred for the acquis@;asured in accordance

with the issuer's GAAP, Q

(b) payments made in connection with t uisition which do not constitute
consideration transferred but which would not Rav®d been paid unless the acquisition
had occurred, and N

(© contingent consideration for ﬁle acquisition measured in accordance with
the issuer's GAAP. Q -\
(5) If an acquisition does not any of the significance tests under paragraph (4),
the acquisition is not a signific quisition.

(6) Despite subsectio (&‘the significance of an acquisition of a business or related
businesses may be re@&llated using financial statements for periods that ended after
the acquisition date I, after the acquisition date, the business or related businesses
remained substaﬁy intact and were not significantly reorganized, and no significant

assets or Iiabi@e/ ere transferred to other entities.

(7) Fo g)purposes of paragraphs (2)(c) and (4)(c), if any of the reporting issuer,
the bus'@ s or the related businesses has incurred a loss, the significance test must be
applig ing the absolute value of the loss from continuing operations attributable to
o\ rs of the parent, adjusted to exclude income taxes.

(8) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c) and clause (4)(c)(ii)(A), if the reporting
issuer's consolidated specified profit or loss for the most recently completed financial
year was lower by 20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for
the 3 most recently completed financial years, the issuer may, subject to subsection
(10), substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most recently
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completed financial years in determining whether the significance test set out in
paragraph (2)(c) or (4)(c) is satisfied.

(9) For the purpose of clause (4)(c)(ii)(B) if the reporting issuer's consolidated
specified profit or loss for the most recently completed 12-month period was lower by
20% or more than its average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most
recently completed 12-month periods, the issuer may, subject to subsection &0),
substitute the average consolidated specified profit or loss for the 3 most(ﬁntly
completed 12-month periods in determining whether the significance test setwbut in
paragraph (4)(c) is satisfied. '\Q‘\

(10) If the reporting issuer's consolidated specified profit or Ioss@lleither of the 2
earlier financial periods referred to in subsections (8) and (9) is Ss, the reporting
issuer's specified profit or loss for that period is considered to ro for the purposes
of calculating the average consolidated specified profit or loss e 3 financial periods.

(11) If a reporting issuer has made multiple investm @n the same business, then
for the purposes of applying subsections (2) and (4), O

@) if the initial investment and one %re incremental investments were
made during the same financial year, the inve)it nts must be aggregated and tested
on a combined basis; (19

(b) if one or more increme {investments were made in a financial year
subsequent to the financial year in wﬁﬁan initial or incremental investment was made
and the initial or previous incr tal investments are reflected in audited annual
financial statements of the reg #1g issuer previously filed, the reporting issuer must
apply the significance test out in subsections (2) and (4) on a combined basis to
the incremental investme tssW)t reflected in audited financial statements of the reporting
issuer previously fiIed@

(c) if ofm more incremental investments were made in a financial year
subsequent to:h inancial year in which the initial investment was made and the initial

investment i reflected in audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer
previousl , the reporting issuer must apply the significance tests set out in
subsec (2) and (4) to the initial and incremental investments on a combined basis.

(&) or the purposes of calculating the optional profit or loss test under clause
(ANe)(i))(A), a reporting issuer may use pro forma consolidated specified profit or loss
for its most recently completed financial year that was included in a previously filed
document if

(@) the reporting issuer has made a significant acquisition of a business after
its most recently completed financial year; and
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(b) the previously filed document included

(1) audited annual financial statements of that acquired business for
the periods required by this Part; and

(i) the pro forma financial information required by subsection 8.4(5) or

(6). .
Q\

(12) In determining whether an acquisition of related businesses is a sigWficant
acquisition, related businesses acquired after the ending date of the mos r%ently filed
audited annual financial statements of the reporting issuer must be cpnsered on a
combined basis. Q‘

(13) For the purposes of calculating the significance tests in %?gctions (2) and (4),
the amounts used for the business or related businesses mus

(@) be based on the issuer's GAAP, and Q&

(b) be translated into the same preseg@\ currency as that used in the
reporting issuer's financial statements. (l/

(13.1) Paragraph 8.3(13)(a) does not appl;;.&t\venture issuer if

(@) the financial statements @he business or related businesses referred to
in subsections 8.3(2) and (4)

(1) are prep accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to
private enterprises, and ?“

(i) ar pared in a manner that consolidates any subsidiaries and
accounts for signifé' @y influenced investees and joint ventures using the equity

method;
K
and Q/
O

Q‘none of the accounting principles described in paragraphs 3.11(1)(a)
thrm@) of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and
AUy Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25) were used to prepare financial statements for the
bNNness or related businesses referred to in subsections 8.3(2) and (4).

(14) Despite subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
or related businesses may be calculated using unaudited financial statements of the
business or related businesses that comply with section 3.11 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards if the financial

54



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

statements of the business or related businesses for the most recently completed
financial year have not been audited.

(15) Despite subsections (2) and (4), the significance of an acquisition of a business
or related businesses may be calculated using the audited financial statements for the
financial year immediately preceding the reporting issuer's most recently completed
financial year if the reporting issuer has not been required to file, and has not &ed,
audited financial statements for its most recently completed financial year. ‘.19

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 21; M.O. 2010-17, s. 14. '\Qﬂ
8.4. Financial Statement Disclosure for Significant Acquisition@
Q) If a reporting issuer is required to file a business acquisitio ?eToort under section

8.2, the business acquisition report must include the follovg or each business or
related businesses: @

(@) a statement of comprehensive income gatement of changes in equity
and a statement of cash flows for the following peri)@
(1) if the business has complqéaane financial year,

(A) the most receﬂy completed financial year ended on or
before the acquisition date; and Q«

(B) the finwal year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if an

(i) if th bgl"ness has not completed one financial year, the financial

period commencing o date of formation and ending on a date not more than 45
days before the ac I@)n date;

(b) statement of financial position as at the end of each of the periods
specified in 6?€graph (a); and
@2 notes to the financial statements.

(% he most recently completed financial period referred to in subsection (1) must
pasudited.

3) If a reporting issuer is required to include financial statements in a business

acquisition report under subsection (1), the business acquisition report must include
financial statements for
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(@) the most recently completed interim period or other period that started the
day after the date of the statement of financial position specified in paragraph (1)(b) and
ended,

(1) in the case of an interim period, before the acquisition date; or

(i) in the case of a period other than an interim period, after the intqim
period referred to in subparagraph (i) and on or before the acquisition date; andq/Q

(b)  acomparable period in the preceding financial year of the bu;i\%ss.
(3.1) If a reporting issuer is required under subsection (3) to @fl&de an interim

financial report in a business acquisition report and the financi ements for the
business or related businesses acquired are prepared in acc nce with Canadian

GAAP applicable to private enterprises, as permitted Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditin @l dards (c. V-1.1, r. 25),
the interim financial report must include Q&/

(@) a balance sheet as at the end of the | t@n period and a balance sheet as
at the end of the immediately preceding financialyeay, if any;

(b) an income statement, a stat '\ of retained earnings and a cash flow
statement, all for the year-to-date interim 10d, and comparative financial information
for the corresponding interim period iFl;@«immediately preceding financial year, if any;

and
\/

(© notes to the fina tatements.

(4) Despite subsectio &7 the business acquisition report may include financial
statements for a peri ding not more than one interim period before the period
referred to in subp@ph (3)(a)(i) if

(@) t %siness does not, or related businesses do not, constitute a material
departure fr business or operations of the reporting issuer immediately before the

acquisitioQ_
Q@ (paragraph revoked).

\s (c) either

0] the acquisition date is, and the reporting issuer files the business
acquisition report, within the following time after the business's or related businesses'
most recently completed interim period:

(A) 45 days, if the reporting issuer is not a venture issuer; or
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(B) 60 days, if the reporting issuer is a venture issuer; or

(i) the reporting issuer filed a document before the acquisition date
that included financial statements for the business or related businesses that would
have been required if the document were a prospectus, and those financial statements
are for a period ending not more than one interim period before the interim oQod
referred to in subparagraph (3)(a)(i). ‘.1/&

(5) If a reporting issuer is required to include financial statements i@ business
acquisition report under subsection (1) or (3), the business acquisitipn ¥eport must

include Q‘

(@) apro forma statement of financial position of the re@?ﬁg issuer,

financial position filed, that gives effect, as if they had t place as at the date of the
pro forma statement of financial position, to signifj acquisitions that have been
completed, but are not reflected in the reporting& er's most recent statement of
financial position for an annual or interim period; Qr

0] as at the date of the reporting issue:' st recent statement of

(i) if the reporting issuer P@%t filed a statement of financial position
for any annual or interim period, as at the  date of the acquired business's most recent
statement of financial position, that gi ffect, as if they had taken place as at the date
of the pro forma statement of finan%&osition, to significant acquisitions that have

been completed; \\/

(b) a pro forma i Qm statement of the reporting issuer that gives effect to
significant acquisitions ¢ r&e’ted since the beginning of the financial year referred to in
clause (i)(A) or (ii))(A), plicable, as if they had taken place at the beginning of that
financial year, for e the following financial periods:

%Q the reporting issuer's

financi tements; and

%Q (B) interim period for which it has filed an interim financial report
tAQ® started after the period in clause (A) and ended immediately before the acquisition
date or, in the reporting issuer's discretion, after the acquisition date; or

$O (A)  most recently completed financial year for which it has filed

(i) if the reporting issuer has not filed a statement of comprehensive
income for any annual or interim period, for the business's or related businesses'
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(A)  most recently completed financial year that ended before the
acquisition date; and

(B) period for which financial statements are included in the
business acquisition report under paragraph (3)(a); and

(© pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financial statennis
referred to in paragraph (b). ‘.19

(6) Despite paragraph (5)(a) and clauses (5)(b)(i)(B) and (5)(b)(ii))(B), if t%reporting
issuer relies on subsection (4), the business acquisition report may incliqe'\

(@) a pro forma statement of financial position as at the (§\ of the statement
of financial position filed immediately before the reportin uer's most recent
statement of financial position filed; and Q.

(b) a pro forma income statement for the pe@ending not more than one
interim period before the interim period referred to i se (5)(b)(1)(B) or (5)(b)(ii)(B),
as applicable. b

(7 If a reporting issuer is required to mcb\%pro forma financial statements in a
business acquisition report under subsectiq

(@) the reporting issuer m Xlentify in the pro forma financial statements
each significant acquisition, if the projforma financial statements give effect to more
than one significant acquisition; \\/

(b)  the reporting iﬁgr must include in the pro forma financial statements

0] ents attributable to each significant acquisition for which
there are firm com nts and for which the complete financial effects are objectively
determinable;

& adjustments to conform amounts for the business or related
busmessQ_ he issuer's accounting policies, and

(i)  a description of the underlying assumptions on which the pro forma
Cl I statements are prepared, cross-referenced to each related pro forma
stment;

(© if the financial year-end of the business differs from the reporting issuer's
year-end by more than 93 days, for the purpose of preparing the pro forma income
statement for the reporting issuer's most recently completed financial year, the reporting
issuer must construct an income statement of the business for a period of 12
consecutive months ending no more than 93 days before or after the reporting issuer's
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year-end, by adding the results for a subsequent interim period to a completed financial
year of the business and deducting the comparable interim results for the immediately
preceding year;

(d) if a constructed income statement is required under paragraph (c), the pro
forma financial statements must disclose the period covered by the constructed income
statement on the face of the pro forma financial statements and must include aRote
stating that the financial statements of the business used to prepare the p Q’grma
financial statements were prepared for the purpose of the pro forma fiancial
statements and do not conform with the financial statements for the busin&Qy sncluded
elsewhere in the business acquisition report; 4

come statement
income statement
e business which are
m period, the reporting
statements the revenue,
included in each pro forma

(e) if a reporting issuer is required to prepare a pro for
for an interim period required by paragraph (5)(b), and the pro
for the most recently completed financial year includes result
also included in the pro forma income statement for the,t
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro forma fin
expenses and profit or loss from continuing operaji %
income statement for the overlapping period; and &

)] a constructed period referred tq\ﬂ/paragraph (c) does not have to be

audited. Q
Vv

(8) If a reporting issuer is req q sunder subsection (1) to include financial
statements for more than one busin(?éb ecause the significant acquisition involves an
acquisition of related businesses inancial statements required under subsection (1)
must be presented separatel ach business, except for the periods during which
the businesses have been Qer common control or management, in which case the
reporting issuer may pr@%ﬁhe financial statements of the businesses on a combined

basis.
O

M.O. 2005-03, s. .0. 2006-04, s. 22; M.O. 2008-06, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 15.

8.5. (Rev@s%r).
0. @3‘ ’s. 8.5 M.O. 2006-04, s. 23.

M.O. 2
S%Qﬂemption for Significant Acquisitions Accounted for Using the Equity
Mhod

A reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements in section 8.4 if

(@) the acquisition is, or will be, of an equity investee;
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(b) the business acquisition report includes disclosure for the periods for
which financial statements are otherwise required under subsection 8.4(1) that

0] summarizes financial information of the equity investee, including
the aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss; and

(i) describes the reporting issuer's proportionate interest in the eapdlty
investee and any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee t ight
significantly affect the reporting issuer's share of profit or loss;

(c) the financial information provided under paragraph L{%ﬂ‘ the most
recently completed financial year

0] has been derived from audited financial s@s??ents of the equity

investee: or @Q.

(i)  has been audited; and QQ/
(d)  the business acquisition report &O

(1) identifies the financial stat&@ents referred to in subparagraph (c)(i)
from which the disclosure provided under p @ ph (b) has been derived; or

(i) discloses that th ancial information provided under paragraph
(b), if not derived from audited financiglztatements, has been audited; and

(i)  discloses he auditor expressed an unmodified opinion with
respect to the financial s ents referred to in subparagraph (i) or the financial

information referred to in gu aragraph (ii).
0. 2005-03, s. .-@2006-04, s. 24; M.O. 2010-17, s. 16.

M.O. 2005-03, s 8%

8.7. (Revokgd)®

C
M.O. 200 /s. 8.7; M.O. 2006-04, s. 25.
8.8. @mption for Significant Acquisitions if Financial Year End Changed

\) If under section 8.4 a reporting issuer is required to provide financial statements
for a business acquired and the business changed its financial year end during either of
the financial years required to be included, the reporting issuer may include financial
statements for the transition year in satisfaction of the financial statements for one of the
years, provided that the transition year is at least 9 months.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.8; M.O. 2006-04, s. 26.

60



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

8.9. Exemption from Comparatives if Financial Statements Not Previously
Prepared

A reporting issuer is not required to provide comparative information for an
interim financial report required under subsection 8.4(3) for a business acquired if

(@) to a reasonable person it is impracticable to present pri @rlod
information on a basis consistent with the most recently completed interim period/of the
acquired business; '\Q‘\

(b)  the prior-period information that is available is presente@éd

(c) the notes to the interim financial report disclose M\ fact that the prior-
period information has not been prepared on a basis consi ith the most recent

interim financial information.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.9; M.O. 2006-04, s. 27; M.O. 201(6%,5. 17.
8.10. Acquisition of an Interest in an Oil andﬁ:é\Property

(1) Despite subsections 8.3(1), 8.3( %(3) and 8.3(4), the asset tests in
paragraphs 8.3(2)(a) and 8.3(4)(a) do not y to an acquisition

O

)
(@) of a business that is aﬂ/tnterest in an oil and gas property or related
businesses that are interests in oikkod gas properties; and

(b)  thatis not of s@itles of another issuer.

(2) Despite subse 8.3(1), 8.3(2), 8.3(3), 8.3(4), 8.3(8), 8.3(9), 8.3(10) and
8.3(11.1), a reporti uer must substitute "operating income" for "specified profit or
loss" for the purp f the profit or loss test in paragraphs 8.3(2)(c) and 8.3(4)(c) if the
acquisition is @ escribed in subsection (1).

3) I@%n from Financial Statement Disclosure - A reporting issuer is exempt

from th uirements in section 8.4 if
%%a) the significant acquisition is an acquisition described in subsection (1);

(b)  the reporting issuer is unable to provide the financial statements in respect
of the significant acquisition otherwise required under this Part because those financial
statements do not exist or because the reporting issuer does not have access to those
financial statements;

(© the acquisition does not constitute a reverse takeover,
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(d) (paragraph revoked);

(e) in respect of the business or related businesses, for each of the financial
periods for which financial statements would, but for this section, be required under
section 8.4, the business acquisition report includes

0] an operating statement for the business or related bu?@sses
prepared in accordance with subsection 3.11(5) of Regulation 52-107 resptcting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25); '\Q‘\

effect to significant acquisitions completed since the beginning of eporting issuer’s
most recently completed financial year for which financial sta nts are required to
have been filed, as if they had taken place at the beginnin at financial year, for
each of the financial periods referred to in paragraph 8.4(5

(i) a pro forma operating statement of the reportgg}ssuer that gives

(i)  a description of the property or prQpPSrties and the interest acquired
by the reporting issuer; and &

(iv)  disclosure of the annual qi(bnd gas production volumes from the
business or related businesses; (19

() the operating statemen the most recently completed financial period
referred to in subsection 8.4(1) is auditga; and

| \4 |
(g) the business ac n report discloses

(1) the tNﬁted reserves and related future net revenue attributable
to the business or rel usinesses, the material assumptions used in preparing the
estimates and the i and relationship to the reporting issuer or to the vendor of the
person who prep, e estimates; and

é/ the estimated oil and gas production volumes from the business or
related sses for the first year reflected in the estimates disclosed under
subpar h (i).

( reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements of subparagraphs (3)(e)(i), (ii)
an» (iv), if

(@) production, gross revenue, royalty expenses, production costs and
operating income were nil for the business or related businesses for each financial
period; and

(b) the business acquisition report discloses this fact.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.10; M.O. 2006-04, s. 28; M.O. 2008-06, s. 3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 18.
8.11. Exemption for Multiple Investments in the Same Business

Despite section 8.4, a reporting issuer is exempt from the requirements to file
financial statements for an acquired business, other than the pro forma finaj\cial
statements required by subsection 8.4(5), in a business acquisition repo, %the
reporting issuer has made multiple investments in the same business and the agquired
business has been consolidated in the reporting issuer's most recent an&@ Kfinancial
statements that have been filed. \\

M.O. 2005-03, s. 8.11; M.O. 2006-04, s. 29; M.O. 2010-17, s. 19. ?g
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PART 9 PROXY SOLICITATION AND INFORMATION CIRCULARS
9.1. Sending of Proxies and Information Circulars

(2) If management of a reporting issuer gives notice of a meeting to its registered
holders of voting securities, management must, at the same time as or before giving
that notice, send to each registered holder of voting securities who is entitled to nls{ioe
of the meeting a form of proxy for use at the meeting. ‘.1/

(2) A person that solicits proxies from registered holders of voting s&@it\ies of a
reporting issuer must, 4

(@) in the case of a solicitation by or on behalf of manaﬁ%n of a reporting
issuer, send an information circular with the notice of meet{nyMo each registered
securityholder whose proxy is solicited; or Q.

(b) in the case of any other solicitation, c%@crently with or before the
solicitation, send an information circular to each regis{eled securityholder whose proxy

is solicited. &

3) (paragraph revoked). y\(l/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.1; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11, . 2008-10, s. 3.

Q«
9.2. Exemptions from Sending Infaymation Circular

(1)  Subsection 9.1(2) doe @7} apply to a solicitation by a person in respect of
securities of which the pers@ the beneficial owner.

(2) Paragraph 9.1(2 oes not apply to a solicitation if the total number of
securityholders whog oxies are solicited is not more than 15.

(3) For the p@%es of subsection (2), 2 or more persons who are joint registered

owners of o ore securities are considered to be one securityholder.
(4) Degpvparagraph 9.1(2)(b), a person, other than management of a reporting issuer
or a on acting on behalf of management, may solicit proxies from registered

se@i holders of a reporting issuer without sending an information circular, if

N

(@) the solicitation is made to the public by broadcast, speech or publication;

(b)  soliciting proxies by broadcast, speech or publication is permitted by the
laws under which the reporting issuer is incorporated, organized or continued and the
person making the solicitation complies with the requirements, if any, of those laws
relating to the broadcast, speech or publication;
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(© the person has filed the following information:

(1) the name and address of the reporting issuer to which the
solicitation relates,

(i) the information required under item 2, sections 3.2, 3.3 and‘.&'}nd
paragraphs (b) and (d) of item 5 of Form 51-102F5,

broadcast, speech or publication by the laws under which the ting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued, and ?\

Q‘\
(i)  any information required to be disclosed in ges{hect of the

(iv)  acopy of any communication intended to @blished; and

(d) the broadcast, speech or publication conta{z%he information referred to in
paragraphs (c)(i) to (iii). O

(5)  Subsection (4) does not apply to a persgp that is proposing, at the time of the
solicitation, a significant acquisition or restrugirprg transaction involving the reporting
issuer and the person, under which securi&@o the person, or securities of an affiliate
of the person, are to be changed, exchangegy issued or distributed, unless
“
(@) the person has filed anqhiormation circular or other document containing
the information required by secti WA of Form 51-102F5; and

(b)  the solicitatio Qers to that information circular or other document and
discloses that the circular, ol&fher document is on SEDAR.

(6) Subsection es not apply to a person that is nominating or proposing to
nominate, at the of the solicitation, an individual, including himself or herself, for

election as a (@ r of the reporting issuer, unless

(a C&’ie person has filed an information circular or other document containing
the inf ion required by Form 51-102F5 in respect of the proposed nominee; and

% b)  the solicitation refers to that information circular or other document and
ddloses that the circular or other document is on SEDAR.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-10, s. 4.

9.3. Filing of Information Circulars and Proxy-Related Material
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A person that is required under this Regulation to send an information circular or
form of proxy to registered securityholders of a reporting issuer must promptly file a
copy of the information circular, form of proxy and all other material required to be sent
by the person in connection with the meeting to which the information circular or form of
proxy relates.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11. N\

9.3.1. Content of Information Circular (1/

)
(1)  Subject to Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, if a reporting issuer send a'n\information
circular to a securityholder under paragraph 9.1(2)(a), the issuer mus@

otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a fdiary of the issuer, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, including, for certainty, all plan and
non-plan compensation, direct or indirect pay, remu %on economic or financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, pay awarded granted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or director for servK rowded directly or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and (l/

(b) include detail and discussig @ the compensation, and the decision-
making process relating to compensation,‘%fesented in such a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasona?ﬁ;@f{ort, an understanding of

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payable, aw@?&ranted, given, or

0] how decisio Wut NEO and director compensation are made,

(i) the cor@rsaﬁon paid, made payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to ea O and director, and

(i) specific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and ance of the reporting issuer.

(2) The gf)gesure required under subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
set out IQ‘ ccordance with, and subject to any exemptions set out in, Form 51-
102F86, h came into force on December 31, 2008.

( %or the purposes of this section, "NEQO" and "plan” have the meaning ascribed to
Mse terms in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

(4)  This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 2; M.O. 2011-05, s. 1.
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9.4. Content of Form of Proxy

(1) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer by a person soliciting
proxies must indicate in bold-face type whether or not the proxy is solicited by or on
behalf of the management of the reporting issuer, provide a specifically designated
blank space for dating the form of proxy and specify the meeting in respect of which the
proxy is solicited. Q\ .
(2)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the ¥6rm of
proxy to which the information circular relates must '\Q‘\

@) indicate in bold-face type that the securityholder has th@&wt to appoint a
person to represent the securityholder at the meeting other thav e person if any,
designated in the form of proxy; and

(b)  contain instructions as to the manner in w, he securityholder may
exercise the right referred to in paragraph (a).

3) If a form of proxy sent to securityholder, @ a reporting issuer contains a
designation of a named person as nomineg, itMNmust provide an option for the
securityholder to designate in the form az.lproxy some other person as the
securityholder's nominee. (19

(4) A form of proxy sent to secu ders of a reporting issuer must provide an
option for the securityholder to ébecn‘y that the securities registered in the
securityholder's name will be v for or against each matter or group of related
matters identified in the form oxy, in the notice of meeting or in an information
circular, other than the app(@went of an auditor and the election of directors.

(5) A form of prc@ént to securityholders of a reporting issuer may confer
discretionary authoy ith respect to each matter referred to in subsection (4) as to
which a choice | pecified if the form of proxy or the information circular states in
bold-face typ the securities represented by the proxy will be voted in respect of
each matter, Qmup of related matters.

(6) m of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer must provide an
opti the securityholder to specify that the securities registered in the name of the
s@i holder must be voted or withheld from voting in respect of the appointment of an
anNtor or the election of directors.

(7)  An information circular sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer or the form of
proxy to which the information circular relates must state that

67



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

(@) the securities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld from
voting in accordance with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that may be
called for; and

(b) if the securityholder specifies a choice under subsection (4) or (6) with
respect to any matter to be acted upon, the securities will be voted accordingly.

(8) A form of proxy sent to securityholders of a reporting issuer ma @nfer
discretionary authority with respect to Y'l/

(@) amendments or variations to matters identified in the n~\ce'\of meeting;

and Q‘

(b)  other matters which may properly come before the@ ting,
if, Q)z

(c) the person by whom or on whose be e soI|C|tat|on is made is not
aware within a reasonable time before the time the |tat|on is made that any of those
amendments, variations or other matters are to esented for action at the meeting;

and y\

(d) a specific statement is maderln the information circular or in the form of
proxy that the proxy is conferring suc)?,i;@oretionary authority.

(9) A form of proxy sent to Wltyholders of a reporting issuer must not confer
authority to vote Q

(@) for the elec 'o&“f any person as a director of a reporting issuer unless a
bona fide proposed n e for that election is named in the information circular or, in
the case of a sol; ion under subsection 9.2(4), the document required under
paragraph 9.2(6)

(b) y meeting other than the meeting specified in the notice of meeting or
any adjOLQ_ nt of that meeting.

M.O. -03, s. 9.4; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2010-17, s. 20.

9@ Exemption

Sections 9.1 to 9.4 do not apply to a reporting issuer, or a person that solicits
proxies from registered holders of voting securities of a reporting issuer, if
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(@) the reporting issuer or other person complies with the requirements of the
laws relating to the solicitation of proxies under which the reporting issuer is
incorporated, organized or continued;

(b)  the requirements referred to in subsection (a) are substantially similar to
the requirements of this Part; and

(c) the reporting issuer or other person files a copy of any informatioQﬁkular
and form of proxy, or other documents that contain substantially similar inforgfation
promptly after the reporting issuer or other person sends the circular, ;\ *or other
document in connection with the meeting.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 9.5; M.O. 2006-04, s. 30; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M%?UOBlO s. 5.
PART 10 RESTRICTED SECURITY DISCLOSURE Q.Q
10.1. Restricted Security Disclosure Q&

(2) If a reporting issuer has outstanding restri;@ecurities, or securities that are
directly or indirectly convertible into or exer or exchangeable for restricted
securities or securities that will, when issued, It in an existing class of outstanding
securities being considered restricted '\les each document referred to in
subsection (2) must

€) refer to restricted secu(r.ibes using a term that includes the appropriate
restricted security term; \\/

(b) not refer to se @ies by a term that includes "common®, or "preference" or
"preferred”, unless the &Eurities are common shares or preference shares,
respectively; @

O

(c) des&any restrictions on the voting rights of restricted securities;

(d) ribe the rights to participate, if any, of holders of restricted securities if
a takeoveryWis made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to
those ed to the restricted securities;

e) state the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the
rting issuer's securities that are represented by the class of restricted securities;
and

) if holders of restricted securities have no right to participate if a takeover

bid is made for securities of the reporting issuer with voting rights superior to those
attached to the restricted securities, contain a statement to that effect in bold-face type.
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(2)  Subsection (1) applies to the following documents:
(@) an information circular;

(b) a document required by this Regulation to be delivered upon request by a
reporting issuer to any of its securityholders; and
t\ .

(c) an AIF prepared by a reporting issuer. ‘.19

(3) Despite subsection (2), annual financial statements, an interim fi @ial report
and MD&A or other accompanying discussion by management of ¢those financial
statements are not required to include the details referred to in pa@ hs (1)(c), (d),

(e) and (f). ?\

(4) Each reference to restricted securities in any doc@ not referred to in
subsection (2) that a reporting issuer sends to its sec lders must include the
appropriate restricted security term. Q

(5) A reporting issuer must not refer, in a/rg? the documents described in
subsection (4), to securities by a term that jQcldes "common” or "preference"” or
"preferred”, unless the securities are co;{riwn shares or preference shares,

respectively. Q

(6) Despite paragraph (1)(b) and s tion (5), a reporting issuer may, in one place
only in a document referred to in subSgetion (2) or (4), describe the restricted securities
by the term used in the constatingd@cuments of the reporting issuer, to the extent that
term differs from the appropri tricted security term, if the description is not on the
front page of the documen d'is in the same type face and type size as that used
generally in the documen v

M.O. 2005-03. s. 1&@rratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727: M.O. 2008-06, s. 4: M.O. 2010-17,

s. 21. Q

10.2. Diss@&tion of Disclosure Documents to Holder of Restricted Securities

secu the document must also be sent by the reporting issuer at the same time to
t\ olers of its restricted securities.

(2) A reporting issuer that is required by this Regulation to arrange for, or voluntarily
makes arrangements for, delivery of the documents referred to in subsection (1) to the
beneficial owners of any securities of a class of equity securities registered in the name
of a registrant, must make similar arrangements for delivery of the documents to the
beneficial owners of securities of a class of restricted securities registered in the name
of the registrant.

(1) éeeporting issuer sends a document to all holders of any class of its equity
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.2.
10.3. Exemptions for Certain Reporting Issuers

The provisions of sections 10.1 and 10.2 do not apply to

(@)  securities that carry a right to vote subject to a restriction on the n*@r or
percentage of securities that may be voted or owned by persons that are not citigns or
residents of Canada or that are otherwise considered as a result of any | \@pplicable

to the reporting issuer to be non-Canadians, but only to the extent of the gestriction; and

(b)  securities that are subject to a restriction, imposed %y law governing
the reporting issuer, on the level of ownership of the secur{id$ by any person or
combination of persons, but only to the extent of the restrictio

M.O. 2005-03, s. 10.3; M.O. 2008-06, s. 11; M.O. 2008-@1 :
PART 11 ADDITIONAL FILING REQUIREMEN@

11.1. Additional Disclosure Requirements y\(l/

(1)  Areporting issuer must file a copy oﬂny disclosure material

Q-
(@) that it sends to its secur@holders;

\%
(b) in the case of&t issuer, that it files with or furnishes to the SEC
m

under the 1934 Act, inclu aterial filed as exhibits to other documents, if the
material contains informagioN that has not been included in disclosure already filed in a
jurisdiction by the SEC{ r; or

(c) thaggﬁes with another provincial or territorial securities regulatory
authority othe@ in connection with a distribution.

(2) @v\ing issuer must file the material on the same date as, or as soon as
f

practic ter, the earlier of

a) the date on which the reporting issuer sends the material to its
saQurityholders;

(b) the date on which the reporting issuer files or furnishes the material to the
SEC; and

(c) the date on which the reporting issuer files that material with the other
provincial or territorial securities regulatory authority.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 31.
11.2. Change of Status Report

A reporting issuer must file a notice promptly after the occurrence of either of the
following: N\

(@) the reporting issuer becomes a venture issuer; or (1/

N

(b) the reporting issuer ceases to be a venture issuer. 4

Q~
Ne
11.3. Voting Results Q.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.2.

A reporting issuer that is not a venture issuer mu f%romptly following a meeting
of securityholders at which a matter was submitted tg te, file a report that discloses,
for each matter voted upon &

(@) a brief description of the matter )‘&d upon and the outcome of the vote;
and (19

(b) if the vote was conduct ballot, including a vote on a matter in which
votes are cast both in person and by plexy, the number or percentage of votes cast for,
against or withheld from the vote;\\/

M.O. 2005-03, s. 11.3. ?‘

11.4. Financial Info@on

A reportln r must file a copy of any news release issued by it that discloses
information re ng its historical or prospective financial performance or financial
condition for %ﬁanmal year or interim period.

@3 s.11.4; M.O. 2010-17, s. 23.
1%@% -filing Documents

If a reporting issuer decides it will

(@) re-file a document filed under this Regulation, or
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(b) re-state financial information for comparative periods in financial
statements for reasons other than retrospective application of a change in an
accounting standard or policy or a new accounting standard,

and the information in the re-filed document, or re-stated financial information,
will differ materially from the information originally filed, the issuer must immediately
issue and file a news release authorized by an executive officer disclosing the naNUke
and substance of the change or proposed changes. ‘.1/

M.O. 2006-04, s. 32; M.O. 2010-17, s. 24. '\Q"
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11.6. Executive Compensation Disclosure for Certain Reporting Issuers

(1)  Areporting issuer that does not send to its securityholders an information circular
that includes the disclosure required by Item 8 of Form 51-102F5 and that does not file
an AlF that includes the executive compensation disclosure required by Item 18 of Form
51-102F2 must

(@) disclose all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, gD, or
otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, or a subsidiary of the is$der, to
each NEO and director, in any capacity, including, for greater certainty ﬁbplan and
non-plan compensation, direct or indirect pay, remuneration, econoriic Yr financial
award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisite paid, payable, awarded, ted, given, or
otherwise provided to the NEO or director for services provided, d@ or indirectly, to
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, and

(b) include detail and discussion of the com ion and the decision-
making process relating to compensation, presented I% a way that it provides a
reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, an un nding of

0] how decisions about NEO aﬁ{&rector compensation are made,

(i) the compensation pai %e payable, awarded, granted, given or
otherwise provided to each NEO and direc and

(i)  how specific NESland director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship and governance of t orting issuer.

(2)  The disclosure requi eQunder subsection (1) must be provided for the periods
set out in, and in ac r&ﬁce with Form 51-102F6, which came into force on
December 31, 2008. &

O

(3) The disc@ﬂ? required under subsection (1) must be filed not later
than 140 days aft& the end of the reporting issuer’s most recently completed financial

year. O

4) Q e purposes of this section, "NEO" and "plan" have the meaning ascribed to
thos s in Form 51-102F6, which came into force on December 31, 2008.

(Bxé This section does not apply to an issuer that satisfies securities legislation
requirements relating to information circulars, proxies and proxy solicitation under
section 4.6 or 5.7 of Regulation 71-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure and Other
Exemptions Relating to Foreign Issuers (c. V-1.1, r. 37).
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(6) This section does not apply to an issuer in respect of a financial year ending
before December 31, 2008.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 4; M.O. 2011-05, s. 2.

PART 12 FILING OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS

t\.

12.1. Filing of Documents Affecting the Rights of Securityholders ‘.19

(1) A reporting issuer must file copies of the following documents, anc}@/\material
amendments to the following documents, unless previously filed: 4

(@) articles of incorporation, amalgamation, continugdl or any other
constating or establishing documents of the issuer, unless the cQmy%ting or establishing
document is a statutory or regulatory instrument;

(b) by-laws or other corresponding mstrument&@ently in effect;

(c) any securityholder or voting trust ag s@nt that the reporting issuer has
access to and that can reasonably be regarded terial to an investor in securities of
the reporting issuer; ?i/

(d) any securityholders' rights plaﬂ? or other similar plans; and

“

(e) any other contract of therbsuer or a subsidiary of the issuer that creates or

can reasonably be regarded as\Naterially affecting the rights or obligations of its

securityholders generally.

(2) A document requir, d%“be filed under subsection (1) may be filed in paper format
” >

(@) it isQQ?d before June 1, 2005; and

(b) C)%OGS not exist in an acceptable electronic format.
@3 s. 12.1; M.O. 2006-04, s. 33.
1%@1mng of Material Contracts

(1) Unless previously filed, a reporting issuer must file a material contract entered
into

(@) within the last financial year; or
(b) before the last financial year if that material contract is still in effect.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), a reporting issuer is not required to file a material
contract entered into in the ordinary course of business unless the material contract is

(&) a contract to which directors, officers, or promoters are parties other than
a contract of employment;

(b)  a continuing contract to sell the majority of the reporting issuer’s P@ucts
or services or to purchase the majority of the reporting issuer’s requirements oflgoods,
services, or raw materials; '\Q‘\

(c) a franchise or licence or other agreement to use a pa ~f‘,\formula, trade
secret, process or trade name; ?\

(d) a financing or credit agreement with terms tha@ a direct correlation
with anticipated cash distributions; &

(e) an external management or external adjnstration agreement; or

() a contract on which the reportj g’;%ssuer’s business is substantially
dependent. y\ﬁ/

(3) A provision in a material contract filgh'pursuant to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unreadabl %an executive officer of the reporting issuer
reasonably believes that disclosure oﬁb&t provision would be seriously prejudicial to the
interests of the reporting issuer orWId violate confidentiality provisions.

(4)  Subsection (3) does @apply if the provision relates to:
(@  debt CO\@S and ratios in financing or credit agreements;

(b) evqum default or other terms relating to the termination of the material

contract; or @

(c) her terms necessary for understanding the impact of the material
contra@ﬁ}e business of the reporting issuer.

(& f a provision is omitted or marked to be unreadable under subsection (3), the
rexerting issuer must include a description of the type of information that has been
omitted or marked to be unreadable immediately after the provision in the copy of the
material contract filed by the reporting issuer.

(6) Despite subsections (1) and (2), a reporting issuer is not required to file a
material contract entered into before January 1, 2002.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.2; M.O. 2008-06, s. 5.
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12.3. Time for Filing of Documents

The documents required to be filed under sections 12.1 and 12.2 must be filed no
later than the time the reporting issuer files a material change report in Form 51-102F3,
if the making of the document constitutes a material change for the issuer, and

€) no later than the time the reporting issuer's AlF is filed under section N,.if
the document was made or adopted before the date of the issuer's AlF; or ‘.19

(b) if the reporting issuer is not required to file an AIF under secti@ﬁl, within
120 days after the end of the issuer's most recently completed finangialMear, if the
document was made or adopted before the end of the issuer's most tly completed
financial year. Q‘

M.O. 2005-03, s. 12.3; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727. Q.QV\

PART 13 EXEMPTIONS Q&

13.1. Exemptions from this Regulation &O

(1) The gecurities regulatory authority. may %ﬂnt an gxemption from this Regulgtion,
in whole or in part, subject to such Condltl?.@) restrictions as may be imposed in the

exemption.

Q«
(2) Despite subsection (1), in @ario only the regulator may grant such an
exemption. \\/

(3) Except in Ontario, a tgzmption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the
statute referred to in p%endix B of Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions
(c. V-1.1, r. 3), opposi name of the local jurisdiction.

M.O. 2005-03, S.QQTM.O. 2006-04, s. 34; M.O. 2008-18, s. 6 and 13.

13.2. Exisl'c&xemptions

(1) orting issuer that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval
gran 0 it by a securities regulatory authority relating to continuous disclosure
r&'r ents of securities legislation or securities directions existing immediately before
tMZMRegulation came into force is exempt from any substantially similar provision of this
Regulation to the same extent and on the same conditions, if any, as contained in the
exemption, waiver or approval.

(2) A reporting issuer must, at the time that it first intends to rely on subsection (1) in
connection with a filing requirement under this Regulation, inform the securities
regulatory authority in writing of
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(@) the general nature of the prior exemption, waiver or approval and the date
on which it was granted; and

(b) the requirement under prior securities legislation or securities directions in
respect of which the prior exemption, waiver or approval applied and the substantially
similar provision of this Regulation. N\

Q
M.O. 2005-03, 5. 13.2. YV

13.3. Exemption for Certain Exchangeable Security Issuers

olumbia, Manitoba,

"designated Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, Brd
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec, or Saskatc X

"designated exchangeable security" means r&xchangeable security which
provides the holder of the security with economic @oting rights which are, as nearly
as possible except for tax implications, equale?.i/ e underlying securities;

"exchangeable security” means a s ty of an issuer that is exchangeable for,
or carries the right of the holder to pur e, or of the parent issuer to cause the
purchase of, an underlying security; Q«

"exchangeable security is u@/means a person that has issued an exchangeable
security;

"parent issuer”, w rm“sed in relation to an exchangeable security issuer, means
the person that issues nderlying security; and

"underlying‘QCurity" means a security of a parent issuer issued or transferred, or
to be issued oerr/ sferred, on the exchange of an exchangeable security.

(2) AngJangeable security issuer satisfies the requirements in this Regulation if

@ the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all the issued and outstanding
VQ@ ecurities of the exchangeable security issuer;

(b)  the parent issuer is either

0] an SEC issuer with a class of securities listed or quoted on a U.S.
marketplace that has filed all documents it is required to file with the SEC; or
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(i) a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction that has
filed all documents it is required to file under this Regulation;

(c) the exchangeable security issuer does not issue any securities, and does
not have any securities outstanding, other than

0] designated exchangeable securities; Q\ .
(i) securities issued to and held by the parent issuer or an agb'rate of
the parent issuer; '\Q.,

(i)  debt securities issued to and held by banks, loa U‘\porations, loan
and investment corporations, savings companies, trust corporation rQe‘asury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services cooperatives, insur %mpanies or other
financial institutions; or Q.

(iv)  securities issued under exem%{(@a from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and registration require in section 3.35 of Regulation
45-106 respecting Prospectus and Registration Ex@ons (c. V-1.1,r. 21);

(d) the exchangeable security issuer&ﬁz in electronic format,

(1) if the parent issuer ﬁ/not a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, copies of all d nts the parent issuer is required to file with
the SEC under the 1934 Act, at the gﬂ(ftime as, or as soon as practicable after, the
filing by the parent issuer of thos uments with the SEC; or

(i) if the p Qlt issuer is a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction,

a notice indicating that the exchangeable security issuer is
relying on the co%TI us disclosure documents filed by its parent issuer and setting out
where those gocnents can be found in electronic format, if the parent issuer is a
reporting iss&ﬂ the local jurisdiction; or

Qz (B) copies of all documents the parent issuer is required to file
und urities legislation, other than in connection with a distribution, at the same time
a&e filing by the parent issuer of those documents with a securities regulatory
awgwority;

(e) the exchangeable security issuer concurrently sends to all holders of

designated exchangeable securities all disclosure materials that are sent to holders of
the underlying securities in the manner and at the time required by
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(1) U.S. laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent issuer are listed or quoted, if the parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

(i) securities legislation, if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadian jurisdiction;

() the parent issuer ‘.19

0] complies with U.S. laws and the requirements Qahy U.S.
marketplace on which the securities of the parent issuer are listed qr gqMoted if the
parent issuer is not a reporting issuer in a designated Cana yurisdiction, or
securities legislation if the parent issuer is a reporting issuer in a nated Canadian
jurisdiction, in respect of making public disclosure of material ﬁnaﬂon on a timely
basis; and

(i) immediately issues in Canada ar&%&s any news release that
discloses a material change in its affairs;

files a material change report in accordance wi rt 7 of this Regulation for all material
changes in respect of the affairs of the e @1 eable security issuer that are not also
material changes in the affairs of its parent’igguer; and
)
(h) the parent issuer incluo‘ebln all mailings of proxy solicitation materials to
holders of designated exchange Wecurities a clear and concise statement that

() the exchangeable security issuer ;{S&s in Canada a news release and

0] explain@e reason the mailed material relates solely to the parent
issuer;

(i) i ates that the designated exchangeable securities are the
economic equiva the underlying securities; and

@/ describes the voting rights associated with the designated
exchang ecurities.

3) 1(% insider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an insider profile
u@ National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders
(O\VY-1.1, r. 30) does not apply to any insider of an exchangeable security issuer in
respect of securities of the exchangeable security issuer so long as,

@) if the insider is not the parent issuer,
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(1) the insider does not receive, in the ordinary course, information as
to material facts or material changes concerning the parent issuer before the material
facts or material changes are generally disclosed, and

(i) the insider is not an insider of the parent issuer in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of the exchangeable security issuer;

r\ .
(b)  the parent issuer is the beneficial owner of all of the iss@and
outstanding voting securities of the exchangeable security issuer;
)
(© if the insider is the parent issuer, the insider does not ben fi(%lly own any
designated exchangeable securities other than securities acquired tl@ggh the exercise
of the exchange right and not subsequently traded by the insider; ?\

(d) the parent issuer is an SEC issuer or a reporti Suer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction; and

(e) the exchangeable security issuer has t%sued any securities and does
not have any securities outstanding, other than /@

(1) designated exchangeable p\gzarities;
(i)  securities issued to arﬂ,held by the parent issuer or an affiliate of

the parent issuer; Q -\

and investment corporations, S companies, trust corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, fi ial services cooperatives, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; and

(i)  debt securitiz:\bsued to and held by banks, loan corporations, loan

(iv) rities issued wunder exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in é;é'ﬁon 2.35 and registration requirement in section 3.35 of
Regulation 45-208wespecting Prospectus and Registration Exemptions.

r
M.O. 200, /7s. 13.3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 35; M.O. 2008-06, s. 6 and 11; M.O. 2009-05,

s. 1. O

1% xemption for Certain Credit Support Issuers
N

(1) In this section:
"alternative credit support” means support, other than a guarantee, for the

payments to be made by the issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an
agreement governing rights of, or granting rights to, holders of the securities that
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(@) obliges the person providing the support to provide the issuer with funds
sufficient to enable the issuer to make the stipulated payments, or

(b)  entitles the holder of the securities to receive, from the person providing
the support, payment if the issuer fails to make a stipulated payment;

"credit support issuer" means an issuer of securities for which a credit suppiter
has provided a guarantee or alternative credit support; ‘.1/

"credit supporter" means a person that provides a guarantee or altgrRyive credit
support for any of the payments to be made by an issuer of securities P’\tlpulated in
the terms of the securities or in an agreement governing rights of, o ting rights to,
holders of the securities; ??L

"designated Canadian jurisdiction” means Alberta, Br@)Columbia, Manitoba,
New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Ontario, Québec or Sask an; "designated credit
support securities" means Q/

(@) non-convertible debt securities or ;@srtlble debt securities that are
convertible into non-convertible securities of theé:{/e ¥t supporter; or

(b) non-convertible preferred sh %'}r convertible preferred shares that are
convertible into securities of the credit sﬁorter, in respect of which a parent credit
supporter has provided

(c) alternative credit s %@Athat
0] entltles older of the securities to receive payment from the

credit supporter, or ena Ie he holder to receive payment from the credit support
issuer, within 15 day failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment; and

(||) ults in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rgtinvthan, the credit rating they would have received if payment had been
fully and u &dltlonally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result in the
securitie |ng such a rating if they were rated; or

@ a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be made by the
crgdt Support issuer, as stipulated in the terms of the securities or in an agreement
gWerning the rights of holders of the securities, that results in the holder of such
securities being entitled to receive payment from the credit supporter within 15 days of
any failure by the credit support issuer to make a payment;

"parent credit supporter" means a credit supporter of which the reporting issuer is
a subsidiary;
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"subsidiary credit supporter" means a credit supporter that is a subsidiary of the
parent credit supporter; and

"summary financial information™ includes the following line items:
(@) revenue;

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to ownerﬂ/@ the

N

parent;
(© profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent; and 4

(d) unless the accounting principles used to prepare the%@"ncial statements
of the person permits the preparation of the person's statem f financial position
without classifying assets and liabilities between current and LUrrent and the person
provides alternative meaningful financial information whic ore appropriate to the

industry, Q
(1) current assets; &O

(i) non-current assets; y\(l/
(i) current liabilities; and |

)
(iv)  non-current Iiabilfib?

(1.1) For the purposes of \ragraph (2)(g)(ii), consolidating summary financial
information must be prepar n the following basis:

(@ an entit ’@mual or interim summary financial information must be
derived from the enjl financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial stateme the parent credit supporter for the corresponding period;

(b) Q parent credit supporter column must account for investments in all
subsidiaer~ der the equity method; and

@ all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments in non-credit
S\,@o er subsidiaries under the equity method.
(2) Except as provided in this section, a credit support issuer satisfies the
requirements in this Regulation if

(@) the parent credit supporter is the beneficial owner of all the outstanding
voting securities of the credit support issuer;
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(b) the parent credit supporter is either

(1) an SEC issuer that is incorporated or organized under the laws of
the United States of America or any state or territory of the United States of America or
the District of Columbia and that has filed all documents it is required to file with the
SEC; or

r\.
(i) a reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurisdiction é@has
filed all documents it is required to file under this Regulation;

(© the credit support issuer does not issue any securities, ai s not have
any securities outstanding, other than

(i) designated credit support securities; \)?“

(i) securities issued to and held by the &credlt supporter or an
affiliate of the parent credit supporter; Q&/

(i)  debt securities issued to and I)%I;@y banks, loan corporations, loan
and investment corporations, savings compan t corporations, treasury branches,
savings or credit unions, financial services coo@mtlves, insurance companies or other
financial institutions; or (19

(iv)  securities issue Qu-nder exemptions from the prospectus
requirement in section 2.35 and regisgation requirement in section 3.35 of Regulation
45-106 respecting Prospectus a ngstration Exemptions (c. V-1.1, r. 21);

(d)  the credit sup issuer files in electronic format,

0] if parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a
designated Canadi{a isdiction, copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is

required to file e SEC under the 1934 Act, at the same time or as soon as
practicable a Q/ e filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with the
SEC; or

Q (||) if the parent credit supporter is a reporting issuer in a designated
Can jurisdiction,

\é (A) a notice indicating that the credit support issuer is relying on
the continuous disclosure documents filed by the parent credit supporter and setting out
where those documents can be found for viewing in electronic format, if the credit
support issuer is a reporting issuer in the local jurisdiction; or

(B) copies of all documents the parent credit supporter is
required to file under securities legislation, other than in connection with a distribution,
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at the same time as the filing by the parent credit supporter of those documents with a
securities regulatory authority;

(e) if the parent credit supporter is not a reporting issuer in a designated
Canadian jurisdiction, the parent credit supporter

(1) complies with U.S. laws and the requirements of any &S.
marketplace on which securities of the parent credit supporter are listed or din
respect of making public disclosure of material information on a timely basis; and

(i) immediately issues in Canada and files any neﬂ(s'\alease that
discloses a material change in its affairs;

() the credit support issuer issues in Canada a n% elease and files a
material change report in accordance with Part 7 for all mate%L anges in respect of
the affairs of the credit support issuer that are not also ma hanges in the affairs of
the parent credit supporter; Q

(9) the credit support issuer files, in elec@ format, in the notice referred to
in clause (d)(ii))(A) or in or with the copy of each gonelidated interim financial report and
consolidated annual financial statements filex{fmder subparagraph (d)(i) or clause

(d)(i)(B), either Q
Vv

0] a statement that imancial results of the credit support issuer are
included in the consolidated financial pesults of the parent credit supporter, if at that

time, \\/

(A) chedlt support issuer has minimal assets, operations,
revenue or cash flows than those related to the issuance, administration and
repayment of the securR descrlbed in paragraph (c), and

each item of the summary financial information of the
subsidiaries ohth parent credit supporter on a combined basis, other than the credit

support iss presents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the consolidated
financial &ents of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to under

paragr@ d), or

% (i) for the periods covered by the consolidated interim financial report
ONxonsolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit supporter filed,
consolidating summary financial information for the parent credit supporter presented
with a separate column for each of the following:

(A) the parent credit supporter;
(B) the credit support issuer;
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(C) any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a
combined basis;

(D) consolidating adjustments; and
(E) the total consolidated amounts; N\

(h) the credit support issuer files a corrected notice under clause ((f)'bb(A) if
the credit support issuer filed the notice with the statement con@ﬂated in
subparagraph (g)(i) and the credit support issuer can no longer rely 2”\5 paragraph

(@)(); Q‘

0] in the case of designated credit support securitie t include debt, the
credit support issuer concurrently sends to all holders of su Curities all disclosure
materials that are sent to holders of similar debt of the credit supporter in the
manner and at the time required by

0] U.S. laws and any U.S. ma@aoe on which securities of the
parent credit supporter are listed or quoted, hd parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issuer in a designated Canadian jurlspk n; or

(i) securities legislation, ffl;he parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer in a designated Canadian jUI’IS?,i/@N and

() in the case of desj d credit support securities that include preferred
shares, the credit support iss ncurrently sends to all holders of such securities all
disclosure materials that a ent to holders of similar preferred shares of the parent

credit supporter in the m @ and at the time required by

0] laws and any U.S. marketplace on which securities of the
parent credit sugzl r are listed or quoted, if the parent credit supporter is not a
reporting issueé'/ designated Canadian jurisdiction; or

) securities legislation, if the parent credit supporter is a reporting
issuer | esignated Canadian jurisdiction.

% k) no person other than the parent credit supporter has provided a guarantee
lternative credit support for the payments to be made under any issued and
outstanding securities of the credit support issuer.

(2.1) A credit support issuer satisfies the requirements of this Regulation where there
is a parent credit supporter and one or more subsidiary credit supporters if

(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (f), (i), and (j) are complied with;
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(b)  the parent credit supporter controls each subsidiary credit supporter and
the parent credit supporter has consolidated the financial statements of each subsidiary
credit supporter into the parent credit supporter’s financial statements that are filed or
referred to under paragraph (2)(d);

(© the credit support issuer files, in electronic format, in the notice referr@Qto
in clause (2)(d)(ii)(A) or in or with the copy of each consolidated interim financj port
and the consolidated annual financial statements filed under subparagraph (Zﬁ?)zi) or
clause (2)(d)(ii))(B), for a period covered by any consolidated interim fina c@heport or
consolidated annual financial statements of the parent credit supporter Mled by the
parent credit supporter, consolidating summary financial information f parent credit
supporter presented with a separate column for each of the foIIowir@"

N

()  the parent credit supporter; @Q.

(i)  the credit support issuer; QQ/

(i)  each subsidiary credit support&@a combined basis;

(iv)  any other subsidiaries of t@arent credit supporter on a combined
(v) consolidating adj@ents; and

(vi)  the total conggated amounts;

basis;

(d) no person, o chan the parent credit supporter or a subsidiary credit
supporter has provided rantee or alternative credit support for the payments to be
made under the issue &outstanding designated credit support securities; and

(e) the %antees or alternative credit supports are joint and several.

(2.2) Despj ragraph (2.1)(c), the information set out in a column in accordance

with Q_

@ subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv), may be combined with the information set out in
@ nce with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if each item of the
sssmary financial information set out in a column in accordance with
subparagraph (2.1)(c)(iv) represents less than 3% of the corresponding items on the
consolidated financial statements of the parent credit supporter being filed or referred to
under paragraph (2)(d),

(b)  subparagraph (2.1)(c)(ii) may be combined with the information set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (2.1)(c); if the credit support
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issuer has minimal assets, operations, revenue or cash flows other than those related to
the issuance, administration and repayment of the securities described in
paragraph (2)(c).

3) The insider reporting requirement and the requirement to file an insider profile
under National Instrument 55-102 System for Electronic Disclosure by Insiders (SEDI)
(c. V-1.1, r. 30) do not apply to an insider of a credit support issuer in respesy of

securities of the credit support issuer so long as, ‘.1/
(@) the conditions in paragraphs (2)(a) to (c) are complied with; '\Q‘\
(b) if the insider is not a credit supporter, Qﬂ
0] the insider does not receive, in the ordinar rse, information as
to material facts or material changes concerning a credit su r before the material

facts or material changes are generally disclosed, and

(i) the insider is not an insider of g cXedit supporter in any capacity
other than by virtue of being an insider of the credi&@ort issuer; and

(© if the insider is a credit supporter&%insider does not beneficially own any
designated credit support securities; (19

(4) A parent credit supporter is sreporting issuer in a designated Canadian
jurisdiction for the purposes of subgg;raph (2)(b)(i1) if the parent credit supporter
complies with a requirement %)his Regulation by relying on a provision of
Regulation 71-102 respecting uous Disclosure and Other Exemptions Relating to
Foreign Issuers (c. V-1.1, r.%.

M.O. 2005-03, s. 13.4; tum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 36; M.O. 2008-
06, s. 7 and 11, 2008-18, s. 7; M.O. 2009-05, s. 2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 26;
M.O. 2012-05, s.

PART 14 C}&FECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

14.1. Q&Tive Date
%Omitted).
Nn

M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.1.

14.2. Transition

Despite section 14.1, section 5.7 applies for financial years of the reporting issuer
beginning on or after January 1, 2007.
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M.O. 2005-03, s. 14.2; Erratum, 2005, G.O. 2, 3727; M.O. 2006-04, s. 37.
14.3. Transition - Interim Financial Report

(1) Despite section 4.4 and paragraph 4.10(2)(c), the first interim financial report
required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim o{od
beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed &

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer other than a venture issuer @m before
the earlier of 4'\

(1) the 75th day after the end of the interim periodv%'

(i) the date of filing, in a foreign jurisdiction,@terim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the interim period; or

(b) in the case of a venture issuer, on or be@ he earlier of
0] the 90th day after the end o(.irl ¥nterim period; and

(i) the date of filing, in a Jurlsdlctlon an interim financial report
for a period ending on the last day of the intgptm period.

(2) Despite subsection 5.1(2), the ﬂD&A required to be filed under subsection 5.1(1)
relating to the first interim finangcs port required to be filed in the year of adopting
IFRS in respect of an interim beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be filed
on or before the earlier of

(@ the fiIing@line for the interim financial report set out in subsection (1);
and

(b) t ate the reporting issuer files the interim financial report under
subsections@ 4.3(1), as applicable.

3) ite subsection 4.6(3), if a registered holder or beneficial owner of securities,
othe debt instruments, of a reporting issuer requests the issuer's first interim
figdxcial report required to be filed in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim
paod beginning on or after January 1, 2011, the reporting issuer may send a copy of
the required interim financial report and the interim MD&A relating to the interim
financial report to the person that made the request, without charge, by the later of,

(@) in the case of a reporting issuer relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline set out in subsection (1), for the financial statements
requested,;
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(b) in the case of a reporting issuer not relying on subsection (1), 10 calendar
days after the filing deadline in subparagraph 4.4(a)(i) or 4.4(b)(i), subsection 4.10(2) or
subsection 14.3(1), as applicable, for the financial statements requested; and

(c) 10 calendar days after the issuer receives the request.

}\.

(4)  Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply unless the reporting issuer: ‘.19

@) is disclosing, for the first time, a statement of compliance Witl}\@mational
Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting; and \\

(b) did not previously file financial statements that disclo@"compliance with
IFRS.

(5)  Subsections (1), (2) and (3) do not apply if the fir&%m financial report is in

respect of an interim period ending after March 30, 201

M.O. 2010-17, 5. 27. &O
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FORM 51-102F1 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of MD&A

MD&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of howl)()ur
company performed during the period covered by the financial statements, an(}kﬁ)/our
company's financial condition and future prospects. MD&A complement and
supplements your financial statements, but does not form part of )@‘ﬁnancial
statements. 4

Your objective when preparing the MD&A should be to imp% your company's
overall financial disclosure by giving a balanced discussion of . ompany's financial
performance and financial condition including, without Iimitatiaggch considerations as
liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad new % ell as good news. Your
MD&A should Qé/

- help current and prospective inve;@understand what the financial
statements show and do not show; (l/

- discuss material information @r'}ay not be fully reflected in the financial
statements, such as contingent liabilitiesly defaults under debt, off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, or other cont{,ﬁml obligations;

- discuss important s and risks that have affected the financial
statements, and trends and ri at are reasonably likely to affect them in the future;

and
v

- provide j ation about the quality, and potential variability, of your
company's profit 02 s and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past

performance is irQ e of future performance.

(b) Datee&ormation

paring the MD&A, you must take into account information available up to
the f the MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, you must ensure
tl@s losure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading when it is filed.
N\

(c) Use of "Company"
Wherever this Form uses the word "company"”, the term includes other types of

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business
entities.
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(d)  Explain Your Analysis
Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in your company's performance.
Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from period

to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. Your discussion should assist the reader to
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures.

(e)  Focus on Material Information ‘.19
Focus your MD&A on material information. You do not neec}}ﬁ@‘disclose
information that is not material. Exercise your judgment when detergninmg whether
information is material. Q‘
() Determination of what is Material Information \)?“
Would a reasonable investor's decision whether %t to buy, sell or hold

securities in your company likely be influenced or chan IJsthe information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is Iikeés terial.

(@) Venture Issuers Without Significant Re(xitin e

If your company is a venture issuer '}ut significant revenue from operations,
focus your discussion and analysis of ncial performance on expenditures and
progress towards achieving your bUSI?'i/% objectlves and milestones.

(h)  Reverse Takeover Transa?éwns

If an acquisition is a Qrse takeover, the MD&A should be based on the reverse
takeover acquirer's fina@&tﬁtement&

) (paragraph @d).
() Resou% suers

company has mineral projects, your disclosure must comply with
Regula§~43 101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects
(c Vv 15), including the requirement that all scientific and technical disclosure be

n a technical report or other information prepared by or under the supervision of
allfled person.

If your company has oil and gas activities, your disclosure must comply with

Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
(c. V-1.1,r. 23).
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(k) Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordreing of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

() Omitting Information N\

You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicable. (1/
)

(m) Defined Terms 4'\

If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 @Egulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) a Regulation 14-101
respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this nd is defined in both
the securities statute of the local jurisdiction and in tion 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to sectio of Policy Statement to
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuo Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further’{ nce.

This Form also uses accounting term (tlat are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountag)ﬁn erprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Stgement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations . q/Q«

(n)  Plain Language \\/

Write the MD&A so Qt readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles list d% section 1.5 of Policy Statement 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosur igations for further guidance. If you use technical terms,
explain them in a c@nd concise manner.

(0) Availat@gior Period Information

If ave not presented comparative financial information in your financial
statem in your MD&A you must provide prior period information relating to financial
perf ce that is available.

(b)‘é Use of "Financial Condition"

This Form uses the term "financial condition”. Financial condition reflects the
overall health of the company and includes your company's financial position (as shown
on the statement of financial position) and other factors that may affect your company's
liquidity, capital resources and solvency.
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PART 2 CONTENT OF MD&A
ltem 1 Annual MD&A
1.1 Date

Specify the date of your MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no earlierlsQan
the date of the auditor's report on the annual financial statements for your c ny's
most recently completed financial year. Q

\ )

1.2 Overall Performance 4

Provide an analysis of your company's financial condition, f@ﬁal performance
and cash flows. Discuss known trends, demands, commitments nts or uncertainties
that are reasonably likely to have an effect on your company’ Iness. Compare your
company's performance in the most recently completed fi )2l year to the prior year's
performance. Your analysis should address at least theQ

(@) operating segments that are report;{@segments as those terms are
described in the issuer's GAAP;
N4

(b)  other parts of your business if Q

0] they have a dis Wtionate effect on revenue, profit or loss or
cash needs; or B[l/

(i) there are egal or other restrictions on the flow of funds from
one part of your company's Iness to another;

(c) industry &conomic factors affecting your company's performance;

(d) Wh@ﬂﬁges have occurred or expected changes have not occurred in
your company's filNancial condition and financial performance; and

(e)Qgﬁe effect of discontinued operations on current operations.

INSTQQHONS

(D\s When explaining changes in your company's financial condition and results,
include an analysis of the effect on your continuing operations of any acquisition,
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction.

(i) A discussion of financial condition should include important trends and risks that
have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to
affect them in the future.
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(i)  Include information for a period longer than 2 financial years if it will help the
reader to better understand a trend.

1.3. Selected Annual Information

(2) Provide the following financial data derived from your company's annual final\cial
statements for each of the 3 most recently completed financial years: ‘.1/

(@) total revenue; 5
N

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable@ewners of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; ?\

(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the pare@ total and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis; &

(d) total assets; O

(e) total non-current financial Iiabilities('.ﬁ/r%

() distributions cash dividends dﬁ/@rkd per-share for each class of share.
(2) Discuss the factors that hav: Qaused period to period variations including
discontinued operations, changes iﬁiaccounting policies, significant acquisitions or
dispositions and changes in the tion of your business, and any other information

your company believes would ce an understanding of, and would highlight trends
in, financial position and fin$~al performance.

INSTRUCTIONS O®

0] For eaché‘tﬁe 3 most recently completed financial years, indicate the
accounting pri?i s that the financial data has been prepared in accordance with, the

presentatio ency and the functional currency if different from the presentation
currency.Q~
(i) Q1e financial data provided was not prepared in accordance with the same

a ting principles for all 3 years, focus the discussion on the important trends and
rSQs that have affected the business.

1.4  Discussion of Operations

Discuss your analysis of your company's operations for the most recently
completed financial year, including
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(@) total revenue by reportable segment, including any changes in such
amounts caused by selling prices, volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or
the introduction of new products or services;

(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in total revenue;

(c) cost of sales or gross profit; Qr\ .

(d) for issuers that have significant projects that have not yet gemérated
revenue, describe each project, including your company's plan for the pr@t‘\and the
status of the project relative to that plan, and expenditures made and hpw Yhese relate
to anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage 01@ roject plan;

Yﬁder development,
n plans, productivity
decisions, and whether
ulation 43-101 respecting

(e)  for resource issuers with producing mines or mi
identify any milestone, including, without limitation, mine ex
improvements, plans to develop a new deposit, or produ
the milestone is based on a technical report filed und
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects; GQ

revenue, including changes in costs of labourporymaterials, price changes or inventory

adjustments; (19

(g9 commitments, events, g_ﬁor uncertainties that you reasonably believe

() factors that caused a change gﬁ% relationship between costs and

will materially affect your company' ture performance including total revenue and
profit or loss from continuing ope, Qons attributable to owners of the parent;

(h)  effect of infl Q and specific price changes on your company's total
revenue and on profit orgdods from continuing operations attributable to owners of the

parent;
O

0] a c\g&ﬁaﬁson in tabular form of disclosure you previously made about how
your compan S going to use proceeds (other than working capital) from any
financing, a &alanation of variances and the impact of the variances, if any, on your
companyé&?lty to achieve its business objectives and milestones; and

Q@ unusual or infrequent events or transactions.
I@RUCTION

Your discussion under paragraph 1.4(d) should include

0] whether or not you plan to expend additional funds on the project; and
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(i) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as change in
commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues.

1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results

Provide the following information in summary form, derived from your company's
financial statements, for each of the 8 most recently completed quarters: r\ .

Q
(a) total revenue; (l/

“

(b) profit or loss from continuing operations attributable tm%ers of the
parent, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and Q‘

(c) profit or loss attributable to owners of the paren@%tal and on a per-
share and diluted per-share basis. Q.

Discuss the factors that have caused variations é he quarters necessary to
understand general trends that have developed an seasonality of the business.

INSTRUCTIONS &

0] In the case of the annual MD&A, %ost recently completed quarter is the
quarter that ended on the last day of your t recently completed financial year.

(i) You do not have to provide ﬁ.rlﬁormatlon for a quarter prior to your company
becoming a reporting issuer if y meany has not prepared financial statements for
those quarters. é~

(i)  For sections 1.2, %4 and 1.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing
the following factors: O

(A) chaﬁrin customer buying patterns, including changes due to new
technologies @ anges in demographics;
el

anges in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution
arrang ts or a reorganization of a direct sales force;

C) changes in competition, including an assessment of the issuer's
urces, strengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors;

(D) the effect of exchange rates;

(E) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other
input-related matters;
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(F) changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closures
and work stoppages;

(G) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns
and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a net basis
against revenue;

(H) changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts; ‘.19
() the progress in achieving previously announced milestones; '\Q‘\

J) for resource issuers with producing mines, identify ch “e\s to cash flows
caused by changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off a%e, metallurgical
recovery and any expectation of future changes; and 0

(K) if you have an equity investee that is signjff to your company, the
nature of the investment and significance to your compa

(iv)  For each of the 8 most recently complet @larters, indicate the accounting
principles that the financial data has been prepaged W accordance with, the presentation
currency and the functional currency if differeny,&im the presentation currency.

(v) If the financial data provided was%t prepared in accordance with the same

accounting principles for all 8 quarters @us the discussion on the important trends and
risks that have affected the business.(l/

\%
1.6 Liquidity QQ}
Provide an analysig o?;?our company's liquidity, including

(@) its abill @) generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash equivalents, in
the short term a long term, to maintain your company's capacity, to meet your

company's plagnes growth or to fund development activities;

(b Qends or expected fluctuations in your company's liquidity, taking into
accou ands, commitments, events or uncertainties;

é%c) its working capital requirements;
N\
(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments;
(e) if your company has or expects to have a working capital deficiency,

discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how you expect it to
remedy the deficiency;
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() statement of financial position conditions or profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent or cash flow items that may affect your company's liquidity;

(9) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer funds
to your company and the effect these restrictions have had or may have on the ability of
your company to meet its obligations; and

(n)  defaults or arrears or significant risk of defaults or arrears on ‘.19

0] distributions or dividends payments, lease payment;\Qlterest or
principal payment on debt; 4

(i) debt covenants; and ?g"

(i)  redemption or retraction or sin@ fund  payments,

and how your company intends to cure the defa%@arrears or address the risk.

INSTRUCTIONS &O

(1) In discussing your company's ability to ,g{elaerate sufficient amounts of cash and
cash equivalents you should describe so 6@; of funding and the circumstances that
could affect those sources that are l{'éztsonably likely to occur. Examples of
circumstances that could affect lig '@y«are market or commodity price changes,
economic downturns, defaults on g{a/ tees and contractions of operations.

(i) In discussing trends g Qx\pected fluctuations in your company's liquidity and
liquidity risks associated Wi$ ancial instruments you should discuss

(A)  provisionsN¥W“debt, lease or other arrangements that could trigger an
additional funding rement or early payment. Examples of such situations are
provisions linked dit rating, profit or loss, cash flows or share price; and

(B) Xgumstances that could impair your company's ability to undertake
transacth_ sidered essential to operations. Examples of such circumstances are the
inabilit)Q maintain investment grade credit rating, earnings per-share, cash flow or
shar e.

(N In discussing your company's working capital requirements you should discuss
situations where your company must maintain significant inventory to meet customers'
delivery requirements or any situations involving extended payment terms.

(iv)  In discussing your company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cash flow items you should present a summary, in tabular form, of contractual
obligations including payments due for each of the next 5 years and thereafter. The
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summary and table do not have to be provided if your company is a venture issuer. An
example of a table that can be adapted to your company's particular circumstances
follows:
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Payments Due by Period

Contractual Total Less than 1year | 1-3years 4 -5years After 5 years
Obligations

Debt

Finance Lease
Obligations

Operating Leases ,\'\ *

Purchase \ Q)
Obligations(1) (1/

Other Y
N

Obligations(2)

Total Contractual

Obligations 0:\

(1) Purchase Obligation" means an agreement to purchase goods or servic t is enforceable and
legally binding on your company that specifies all significant terms, includingafi or minimum quantities
to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and t proximate timing of the

transaction.
(2) "Other Obligations" means other financial liabilities reflect your company's statement of
financial position.

The tabular presentation may be accorﬁ@ied by footnotes to describe
provisions that create, increase or accelerate obli{qa ions, or other details to the extent
necessary for an understanding of the timin@Q amount of your company's specified
contractual obligations.

1.7  Capital Resources (19"
Provide an analysis of yoq\gm‘npany's capital resources, including

(@ commitments capital expenditures as of the date of your company's
financial statements inc@p

0] Qpamount, nature and purpose of these commitments;

Q/ the expected source of funds to meet these commitments; and
Q. li)  expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain your
comp @ capacity, to meet your company's planned growth or to fund development
actlviNgs;
N\ (b) known trends or expected fluctuations in your company's capital
resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost of these resources;

and

(c) sources of financing that your company has arranged but not yet used.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] Capital resources are financing resources available to your company and include
debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that you reasonably consider will
provide financial resources to your company.

(i) In discussing your company's commitments you should discuss any exploeron
and development, or research and development expenditures required to tain
properties or agreements in good standing. Q

\ )

1.8 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 4

Discuss any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or reasonably likely
to have, a current or future effect on the financial performance ancial condition of
your company including, without limitation, such considerati liquidity and capital

resources. &

In your discussion of off-balance sheet arran nts you should discuss their
business purpose and activities, their economic éance, risks associated with the
arrangements, and the key terms and conditigQs associated with any commitments.
Your discussion should include yzli/

(@) adescription of the other confrb:ting party(ies);
)
(b)  the effects of terminatingthe arrangement;

(© the amounts re le or payable, revenue, expenses and cash flows
resulting from the arrangem%

(d)  the natu
the arrangement t

arrangement andQ

and Q/

(Efga‘ny known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect the
t

amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising from
ould require your company to provide funding under the
iggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise;

availabj r benefits of the arrangement (including any termination) and the course of
actio management has taken, or proposes to take, in response to any such

ci@n tances.
A\

INSTRUCTIONS
0] Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an

entity not reported on a consolidated basis with your company, under which your
company has
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(A) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts;

(B) aretained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated
entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to that
entity for the assets;

(C) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or Q\
(D) any obligation held by your company in an unconsolidated ent¥ that
provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to your @many, or
engages in leasing, hedging activities or, research and development segvic®s with your

company. Q‘

(i) Contingent liabilities arising out of litigation, arbitration OQS ulatory actions are
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangements.

(i)  Disclosure of off-balance sheet arrangements cover the most recently
completed financial year. However, the discussion ﬁ |d address changes from the
previous year where such discussion is necessary erstand the disclosure.

(iv)  The discussion need not repeat inform %provided in the notes to the financial
statements if the discussion clearly cro férences to specific information in the
relevant notes and integrates the substanc the notes into the discussion in a manner
that explains the significance of the in}@ation not included in the MD&A.

1.9 Transactions Between RWd Parties

Discuss all transactio&@etween related parties as defined by the issuer's GAAP.

INSTRUCTION O®

In discuss our company's transactions between related parties, your
discussion shgul®\ include both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are
necessary f understanding of the transactions' business purpose and economic

substaan_ should discuss
QQ the relationship and identify the related person or entities;
\) (B) the business purpose of the transaction;

(C) the recorded amount of the transaction and describe the measurement
basis used; and

(D) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the
transaction.
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1.10 Fourth Quarter

Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that affected your company's
financial condition, financial performance or cash flows, year-end and other
adjustments, seasonal aspects of your company's business and dispositions of
business segments. If your company has filed separate MD&A for its fourth quarter, you
may satisfy this requirement by incorporating that MD&A by reference. N\

1.11 Proposed Transactions (1/

)
Discuss the expected effect on financial condition, financial p rf&ﬁnance and
cash flows of any proposed asset or business acquisition or “gosition if your
company's board of directors, or senior management who believﬁf confirmation of
the decision by the board is probable, have decided to proce@ ith the transaction.
Include the status of any required shareholder or regulatory%a als.

INSTRUCTION QQ/

You do not have to disclose this inf @ion if, under section 7.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous DisclQs Obligations, your company has
fled a Form 51-102F3 Material Change rt regarding the transaction on a
confidential basis and the report remains c?@e tial.

1.12 Critical Accounting Estimate‘s,l/ “

If your company is not a re issuer, provide an analysis of your company's
critical accounting estimates. nalysis should

(@) identify an &cribe each critical accounting estimate used by your
company including O

0] escription of the accounting estimate;
@/ the methodology used in determining the critical accounting
estimate;Q~
O (i)  the assumptions underlying the accounting estimate that relate to
m@r highly uncertain at the time the estimate was made;

(iv)  any known trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that could
materially affect the methodology or the assumptions described; and

(v) if applicable, why the accounting estimate is reasonably likely to
change from period to period and have a material impact on the financial presentation;
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(b)  explain the significance of the accounting estimate to your company's
financial position, changes in financial position and financial performance and identify
the financial statement line items affected by the accounting estimate;

(© (paragraph revoked);

(d) discuss changes made to critical accounting estimates during the Ait.Z

financial years including the reasons for the change and the quantitative effec‘,@/our
company's overall financial performance and financial statement line items; and
)

(e) identify the reportable segments of your company's bu ir{éss that the

accounting estimate affects and discuss the accounting estimat a reportable
segment basis, if your company operates in more than one reporta@?gment.

INSTRUCTIONS Q‘Q
O

(1) An accounting estimate is a critical accounting es@e only if

(A) it requires your company to make )@nptions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimgte ™ made; and

(B) different estimates that your, @'ﬁsany could have used in the current
period, or changes in the accounting estirﬂ%&e that are reasonably likely to occur from
period to period, would have a mater&Nmpact on your company's financial condition,
changes in financial condition or finarftJ:la performance.

(i) As part of your descri \of each critical accounting estimate, in addition to
qualitative disclosure, you uld provide quantitative disclosure when quantitative
information is reasonably, ilable and would provide material information for investors.
Similarly, in your disﬁn of assumptions underlying an accounting estimate that
relates to matters L uncertain at the time the estimate was made, you should
provide quantitat QMSCIosure when it is reasonably available and it would provide
material informati®n for investors. For example, quantitative information may include a
sensitivity a s or disclosure of the upper and lower ends of the range of estimates
from whi recorded estimate was selected.

1.13@:\nges in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption

\s Discuss and analyze any changes in your company's accounting policies,
including

(@ for any accounting policies that you have adopted or expect to adopt

subsequent to the end of your most recently completed financial year, including
changes you have made or expect to make voluntarily and those due to a change in an
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accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do not have to adopt until a
future date, you should

0] describe the new standard, the date you are required to adopt it
and, if determined, the date you plan to adopt it;

(i) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the accouhQng
standard and the method you expect to use; ‘.1/

(i)  discuss the expected effect on your compa financial
statements, or if applicable, state that you cannot reasonably estimate Ee ct; and

(iv)  discuss the potential effect on your business, xample technical
violations or default of debt covenants or changes in business pr@ es; and

(b)  for any accounting policies that you have initj gdopted during the most
recently completed financial year, you should Q

(1) describe the events or trans@ws that gave rise to the initial
adoption of an accounting policy; (l/

(i) describe the accounti Q%Iicy that has been adopted and the
method of applying that policy; ﬁ/

Q-
(i)  discuss the eﬁ&r resulting from the initial adoption of the
accounting policy on your compa inancial position, changes in financial position and
financial performance;

(iv) if y r?Eompany is permitted a choice among acceptable
accounting policies, <>§

QQR) state that you made a choice among acceptable alternatives;
O (B) identify the alternatives;
02 (C)  describe why you made the choice that you did; and

Q (D) discuss the effect, where material, on your company's
fisgncial position, changes in financial position and financial performance under the
alternatives not chosen; and

(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting for the events
or transactions giving rise to your initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain your
decision regarding which accounting policy to use and the method of applying that
principle.
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INSTRUCTION

You do not have to present the discussion under paragraph 1.13(b) for the initial
adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption of new accounting
standards.

1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments r\

For financial instruments and other instruments, (1/
)
(@) discuss the nature and extent of your company's u 'bf including
relationships among, the instruments and the business purposes tha@ serve;

(b)  describe and analyze the risks associated with the@ments;

(c) describe how you manage the risks in raph (b), including a
discussion of the objectives, general strategies and in ents used to manage the
risks, including any hedging activities;

O
(d) disclose the financial statement a’sgification and amounts of income,
expenses, gains and losses associated with thg\ﬁmrument; and

(e) discuss the significant assunﬂ:%ns made in determining the fair value of
financial instruments, the total amo and financial statement classification of the
change in fair value of financial instr nts recognized in profit or loss for the period,
and the total amount and financi tement classification of deferred or unrecognized
gains and losses on financial i ents.

INSTRUCTIONS Ve

0] "Other instru @s" are instruments that may be settled by the delivery of non-
financial assets. modity futures contract is an example of an instrument that may
be settled by delivery of non-financial assets.

(i) Yq Qiscussion under paragraph 1.14(a) should enhance a reader's
unders ing of the significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on your
com financial position, financial performance and cash flows. The information
s& also assist a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and certainty of future
C flows associated with those instruments. Also discuss the relationship between
liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments.

(i)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(c), if your company is exposed to significant
price, credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or tabular
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an analysis of
the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or currency rates on
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the fair value of financial instruments and future profit or loss and cash flows may be
useful in describing your company's exposure to price risk.

(iv)  For purposes of paragraph 1.14(d), disclose and explain the revenue, expenses,
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other activities.

1.15 Other MD&A Requirements Qr\
€) Your MD&A must disclose that additional information relating your

company, including your company's AIF if your company files an AlF, is @EDAR at

www.sedar.com. 4

(b)  Your MD&A must also provide the information reqx'vg'ln the following
sections of Regulation 51-102, if applicable: 0

0] section 5.3 involving additional dis e for venture issuers
without significant revenue;

<

(i) section 5.4 involving disclosurg(@utstanding share data; and

(i)  section 5.7 involving addit}@ disclosure for reporting issuers with
significant equity investees. Q

(c) Your MD&A must includ MD&A disclosure required by Regulation 52-
109 respecting Certification of Discl e in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (c. V-

1.1, r. 27) and, as applicable, 52-109F1 Certification of Annual Filings — Full
Certificate, Form 52-109F1R ffication of Refiled Annual Filings, or Form 52-109F1

AIF Certification of Annual F§~ s in Connection with Voluntarily Filed AlF.

Item 2 Interim @

2.1 Date Q‘

Specj date of your interim MD&A.

2.2 cgﬁn MD&A

nterim MD&A must update your company's annual MD&A for all disclosure
reQuired by Item 1 except section 1.3. This disclosure must include

(@) a discussion of your analysis of

0] current quarter and year-to-date results including a comparison of
financial performance to the corresponding periods in the previous year;
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(i.0) a comparison of cash flows to the corresponding period in the
previous year;

(i) changes in financial performance and elements of profit or loss
attributable to owners of the parent that are not related to ongoing business operations;

(i)  any seasonal aspects of your company's business that affec\lts
financial position, financial performance or cash flows; and ‘.1/

(b) a comparison of your company's interim financial condka@ﬂto your
company's financial condition as at the most recently completed financi r-end

INSTRUCTIONS Q~
?\

(1) If the first MD&A you file in this Form (your first MD&A@ interim MD&A, you
must provide all the disclosure called for in Item 1 in first MD&A. Base the
disclosure, except the disclosure for section 1.3, on yot\yerim financial report. Since
you do not have to update the disclosure required i g(tion 1.3 in you interim MD&A,
your first MD&A will provide disclosure under sectiés"@ based on your annual financial
statements. Your subsequent interim MD&A foh/ year will update your first interim
MD&A.

(i) For the purposes of paragraph 2.2(lf)1/you may assume the reader has access to
your annual MD&A or your first MD& @u do not have to duplicate the discussion and
analysis of financial condition in you?%anual MD&A or your first MD&A. For example, if
economic and industry factors are(substantlally unchanged you may make a statement
to this effect. Q

(i)  For the purpos;% subparagraph 2.2(a)(i), you should generally give

prominence to the curr arter.

@iv) In discuss@bur company's statement of financial position conditions or profit
or loss or cashyflow items for an interim period, you do not have to present a summary,
in tabular f f all known contractual obligations contemplated under section 1.6.
Instead, ould disclose material changes in the specified contractual obligations
durlng terim period.

(v gnterlm MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 2 is not required for your
pany's fourth quarter as relevant fourth quarter content will be contained in your
companys annual MD&A prepared in accordance with Item 1 (see section 1.10).

(vi)  In your interim MD&A, update the summary of quarterly results in section 1.5 by
providing summary information for the 8 most recently completed quarters.
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(vii)  Your annual MD&A may not include all the information in Item 1 if you were a
venture issuer as at the end of your last financial year. If you ceased to be a venture
issuer during your interim period, you do not have to restate the MD&A you previously
filed. Instead, provide the disclosure for the additional sections in Item 1 that you were
exempt from as a venture issuer in the next interim MD&A you file. Base your disclosure
for those sections on your interim financial report.

r\.

2.3 Other Interim MD&A Requirements ‘.19

Your interim MD&A must include the interim MD&A disclosure@mired by
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Anquai™and Interim
Filings and, as applicable, Form 52-109F2 Certification of Inte@r‘\Filings — Full
Certificate or Form 52-109F2R Certification of Refiled Interim Filingv

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F1; M.O. 2005-25, s. 2; M.O. 200@,)8. 38; M.O. 2007-08,
S. 6; M.O. 2008-17, s. 1, M.O. 2008-18, s. 8 and 13; M.O.@ 7,s.28; M.O. 2011-02,

s. 1. Q
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FORM 51-102F2 ANNUAL INFORMATION FORM
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Description of AIF

An AIF (annual information form) is required to be filed annually by ca@in
companies under Part 6 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous D'ksﬂgsure
Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24). An AIF is a disclosure document intended to pfovide
material information about your company and its business at a point i %re in the
context of its historical and possible future development. Your AIF (deSeribes your
company, its operations and prospects, risks and other external fact@ t impact your

company specifically. ?\
This disclosure is supplemented throughout the year sequent continuous
disclosure filings including news releases, material change, ts, business acquisition

reports, financial statements and management discussi% analysis.

(b)  Date of Information &O

Unless otherwise specified in this For&(}the information in your AIF must be
presented as at the last day of your comp ost recently completed financial year.
If necessary, you must update the informatipn in the AIF so it is not misleading when it
is filed. For information presented tnany date other than the last day of your
company's most recently completeo?ﬁlncial year, specify the relevant date in the
disclosure. \\/

(c) Use of "Company" ??

Wherever this E uses the word "company", the term includes other types of
business organizati uch as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business

entities. Q

All reﬁé es to "your company" in Iltems 4, 5, 6, 12, 13, 15 and 16 of this Form
apply collggtw€ly to your company, your company's subsidiaries, joint ventures to which
your cﬁ;ny is a party and entities in which your company has an investment
acco for by the equity method.

(&s Focus on Material Information

Focus your AIF on material information. You do not need to disclose information
that is not material. Exercise your judgment when determining whether information is
material. However, you must disclose all corporate and individual cease trade orders,
bankruptcies, penalties and sanctions in accordance with Item 10 and section 12.2 of
this Form.
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(e) Determination of What is Material

Would a reasonable investor's decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold
securities in your company likely be influenced or changed if the information in question
was omitted or misstated? If so, the information is likely material.

()] Incorporating Information by Reference ‘.19

You may incorporate information required to be included in your AIR @sference
to another document, other than a previous AIF. Clearly identify th'e\referenced
document or any excerpt of it that you incorporate into your AlF ss you have
already filed the referenced document or excerpt, including any do nts incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, under your SEDA file, you must file it
with your AIF. You must also disclose that the doc is on SEDAR at

www.sedar.com.
&

(9) Defined Terms O

If a term is used but not defined in this F 'S‘efer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations\ d to Regulation 14-101 respecting
Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is u N this Form and is defined in both the
securities statute of a local jurisdiction ano?ﬁegulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations, refer to secti # of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure ODl|gations (Decision 2006-PDG-0229, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance. \\/

This Form also use Qcounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to pybli¥ly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) a ) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous DiSC|OSé~ bligations.

(h) PlainL gage

Wi C-ﬂe AIF so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
langua %nciples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respﬂ@ Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
t\ , explain them in a clear and concise manner.

(1) Special Purpose Entities
If your company is a special purpose entity, you may have to modify the

disclosure items in this Form to reflect the special purpose nature of your company's
business.
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() Numbering and Headings

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need not be repeated
elsewhere.

(k)  Omitting Information N\
You do not need to respond to any item in this Form that is inapplicablegﬂd you

may omit negative answers. N 5

PART 2 CONTENT OF AIF Qﬂ

Item 1 Cover Page \)?‘
1.1 Date Q)Q~

Specify the date of your AIF. The date must Qe Ro earlier than the date of the
auditor's report on the financial statements for you pany's most recently completed

financial year. (l/
You must file your AIF within 10 day Q}%e date of the AlF.
1.2 Revisions Q«

If you revise your compaw AIF after you have filed it, identify the revised
version as a "revised AIF".

Item 2 Table of C '&?rﬂs
2.1 Tableof Co @s
Include@%le of contents.

ltem 3 Q_ orporate Structure

3.1 Q@Twe, Address and Incorporation

NN  State your company's full corporate name or, if your company is an
unincorporated entity, the full name under which it exists and carries on business, and
the address(es) of your company's head and registered office.

(2) State the statute under which your company is incorporated, continued or
organized or, if your company is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or
foreign jurisdiction under which it is established and exists. Describe the substance of
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any material amendments to the articles or other constating or establishing documents
of your company.

3.2 Intercorporate Relationships

Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships
among your company and its subsidiaries. For each subsidiary state: N\

Q

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the sﬂsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by your c&@any;

(b)  the percentage of each class of restricted securities “lssthe subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, bvﬁ company; and

(© where it was incorporated, continued, formed or ized.
INSTRUCTION Q&

You may omit a particular subsidiary if, at the m@cent financial year-end of your

company,
O

0] the total assets of the subsidiary dg %xceed 10% of the consolidated assets
of your company;

)
(i) the revenue of the subsidiary Ws not exceed 10% of the consolidated revenue
of your company; and \\/

(i) the conditions in parg@phs (i) and (ii) would be satisfied if you

(A) aggrega subsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (i) and
(i), and

(B) c&i%ed the reference in those paragraphs from 10% to 20% .

Item 4 Qgéeneral Development of the Business

4.1 QQear History

\é Describe how your company's business has developed over the last 3 completed
financial years. Include only events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions
that have influenced the general development of the business. If your company
produces or distributes more than one product or provides more than one kind of
service, describe the products or services. Also discuss changes in your company's
business that you expect will occur during the current financial year.
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4.2  Significant Acquisitions

Disclose any significant acquisition completed by your company during its most
recently completed financial year for which disclosure is required under Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, by providing a brief
summary of the significant acquisition and stating whether your company has filed a
Form 51-102F4 in respect of the acquisition. N\

ltem 5 Describe the Business Q"lz
N
5.1 General 4'\
g

Describe the business of your company and its operm@g‘ ments that are

reportable segments as those terms are described in the isgu GAAP. For each

reportable segment include: @Q.

(@) Summary - For products or services, QQ/
0] their principal markets; &O
(i) distribution methods: ,\(l/

(i)  for each of the 2 mostQa»:ently completed financial years, as dollar
amounts or as percentages, the reve for each category of products or services that
accounted for 15% or more of total solidated revenue for the applicable financial

year derived from \\/

A. ﬁgs or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is

a participant or to entitie§ irKwhich your company has an investment accounted for by

the equity method, O
%‘ sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause A,
outside the copsoNdated entity, and
Qg) C. sales or transfers to controlling shareholders;

(iv)  if not fully developed, the stage of development of the products or
se@ s and, if the products are not at the commercial production stage
N\

A. the timing and stage of research and development
programs,

B. whether your company is conducting its own research and
development, is subcontracting out the research and development or is using a
combination of those methods, and
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C. the additional steps required to reach commercial production
and an estimate of costs and timing.

(b) Production and Services - The actual or proposed method of production
and, if your company provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing

services. Q\

(c) Specialized Skill and Knowledge - A description of any speciali skill
and knowledge requirements and the extent to which the skill and kr@edge are
available to your company. 4

(d) Competitive Conditions - The competitive conditio your company's
principal markets and geographic areas, including, if re@bly possible, an
assessment of your company's competitive position.

(e) New Products - If you have publicly annoQQ%the introduction of a new
product, the status of the product. O

() Components - The sources, prigihgdand availability of raw materials,
component parts or finished products. N

(9) Intangible Properties - The %portance, duration and effect of identifiable
intangible properties, such as bran es, circulation lists, copyrights, franchises,
licences, patents, software, subscriptibpplists and trademarks, on the segment.

(h) Cycles - The e o which the business of the reportable segment is
cyclical or seasonal. ?“

0] Econor@ependence - A description of any contract upon which your
company's businesgy stantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part
of your company@ducts or services or to purchase the major part of your company's
requirements fpr §oods, services or raw materials, or any franchise or licence or other
agreement %e a patent, formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which
your comqg% business depends.

@ Changes to Contracts -A description of any aspect of your company's
byaess that you reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by
reQegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely effect.

(k) Environmental Protection - The financial and operational effects of
environmental protection requirements on the capital expenditures, profit or loss and
competitive position of your company in the current financial year and the expected
effect in future years.
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)] Employees - The number of employees as at the most recent financial
year-end or the average number of employees over the year, whichever is more
meaningful to understand the business.

(m) Foreign Operations - Describe the dependence of your company and
any reportable segment upon foreign operations.

(n) Lending - With respect to your company's lending operations, disg@'\the
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions.
)

(2) Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures - Disclose the nature an r'&ults of any
bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings against the com@s or any of its
subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar ceedings by the
company or any of its subsidiaries, within the 3 most recently c@ ted financial years
or during or proposed for the current financial year. Q.

3) Reorganizations - Disclose the nature and resul %&ny material reorganization
of your company or any of its subsidiaries within the t recently completed financial
years or completed during or proposed for the curr ancial year.

(4)  Social or Environmental Policies - If &company has implemented social or
environmental policies that are fundamg@ 0 your operations, such as policies
regarding your company's relationship with gae environment or with the communities in
which it does business, or human ri Qy.policies, describe them and the steps your
company has taken to implement theréni/

5.2 Risk Factors QQS\/

Disclose risk fact s?e]ating to your company and its business, such as cash
flow and liquidity pr@s, if any, experience of management, the general risks

inherent in the busj carried on by your company, environmental and health risks,
reliance on key nel, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and
financial history ald any other matter that would be most likely to influence an investor's
decision to %ﬁse securities of your company. If there is a risk that securityholders of
your com ay become liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of
the secg™y¥, disclose that risk.

I\I\@%CTIONS

0] Disclose the risks in order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
serious.

(i) A risk factor should not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
conditions.
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5.3 Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding

If your company had asset-backed securities outstanding that were distributed
under a prospectus, disclose the following information:

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or amount oMny
payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed securities. ‘.1/

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the 3 most recently completed fi @ﬂal years
of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first dategon™hich your
company had asset-backed securities outstanding, financial disclo ?\that described
the underlying pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed s%es relating to

(@) the composition of the pool as of the end of eaQ})ancial year or partial
period;

(b) profit and losses from the pool on at le t% annual basis or such shorter
period as is reasonable given the nature of the uan g pool of assets;

(© the payment, prepayment and ¢ &h’on experience of the pool on at least
an annual basis or such shorter period iS reasonable given the nature of the
underlying pool of assets;

“
(d) servicing and other admﬁ.rli%rative fees; and

(e) any significant ces experienced in the matters referred to in
paragraphs (a) through (d). ?“

(2.1) If any of the fin disclosure disclosed in accordance with subsection (2) has
been audited, discl e existence and results of the audit.

3) Invest &Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to investments
of any cash %urpluses.

4) ﬁent History - The amount of payments made during the 3 most recently
com financial years or the lesser period commencing on the first date on which
y company had asset-backed securities outstanding, in respect of principal and
ikyest or capital and yield, each stated separately, on asset-backed securities of your
company outstanding.

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the

passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest or capital of
asset-backed securities.
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of financial assets
servicing the asset-backed securities represented by obligations of each principal
obligor and whether the principal obligor has filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form
10-K or Form 20-F in the United States.

INSTRUCTIONS N

Q

(1) Present the information requested under subsection (2) in a manner that dhables

a reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, s ds and
preconditions referred to in subsection (1) of this item. 4
(i) If the information required under subsection (2) ?g

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of fina@)assets servicing the
asset-backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool o ame assets from which
the securitized assets are randomly selected so that th?g)ormance of the larger pool
is representative of the performance of the pool of SG@I ed assets, or

(B) in the case of a new company, where e pool of financial assets servicing
the asset-backed securities will be randomly p} ted from a larger pool of the same
assets so that the performance of the r pool will be representative of the
performance of the pool of securitized as‘;@to be created, a company may comply
with subsection (2) by providing the i @nation required based on the larger pool and
disclosing that it has done so. ﬂ/

N\

5.4 Companies With Ming ojects

If your company h d??nineral project, disclose the following information for each
project material to yo%> pany:

(1) Project DQQTption and Location

@) c)ﬂe area (in hectares or other appropriate units) and the location of the

project. Q_

g@ The nature and extent of your company's title to or interest in the project,
i Ihg surface rights, obligations that must be met to retain the project and the
expiration date of claims, licences and other property tenure rights.

(© The terms of any royalties, overrides, back-in rights, payments or other
agreements and encumbrances to which the project is subject.

(d)  All environmental liabilities to which the project is subject.
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(e) The location of all known mineralized zones, mineral resources, mineral
reserves and mine workings, existing tailing ponds, waste deposits and important
natural features and improvements.

() To the extent known, the permits that must be acquired to conduct the
work proposed for the project and if the permits have been obtained.

(2)  Accessibility, Climate, Local Resources, Infrastructure and Physiog;@

(@) The means of access to the property. '\Q‘\

(b)  The proximity of the property to a population centre@& the nature of
transport ?\

(c) To the extent relevant to the mining project, the@})&tte and length of the
operating season.

(d)  The sufficiency of surface rights for mI% peratlons the availability and

sources of power, water, mining personnel, pot %‘ ailings storage areas, potential
waste disposal areas, heap leach pads areas a ential processing plant sites.

(e)  The topography, elevation anéil(/@g tation.
(3)  History Q«
(@  The prior ownershif\gnd development of the property and ownership

changes and the type, amou ntity and results of the exploration work undertaken
by previous owners, and anyevious production on the property, to the extent known.

(b) If your c
financial years or d

ny acquired a project within the 3 most recently completed
he current financial year from, or intends to acquire a project
from, an informe on or promoter of your company or an associate or affiliate of an
informed pers promoter, the name of the vendor, the relationship of the vendor to
your compa@ d the consideration paid or intended to be paid to the vendor.

To the extent known, the name of every person that has received or is
expe%e to receive a greater than 5% interest in the consideration received or to be
d by the vendor referred to in paragraph (b).
(4) Geological Setting - The regional, local and property geology.

(5) Exploration - The nature and extent of all exploration work conducted by, or on
behalf of, your company on the property, including
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(@) the results of all surveys and investigations and the procedures and
parameters relating to surveys and investigations;

(b)  aninterpretation of the exploration information;

(c) whether the surveys and investigations have been carried out by your
company or a contractor and if by a contractor, the name of the contractor; and N\

(d) a discussion of the reliability or uncertainty of the data obtaine‘adn the
program. '\Qﬂ

(6) Mineralization - The mineralization encountered on 4property, the
surrounding rock types and relevant geological controls, detailingd@tgth, width, depth
and continuity together with a description of the type, charact distribution of the

mineralization. Q.

(7 Drilling - The type and extent of drilling, includi@e procedures followed and
an interpretation of all results. O

(8) Sampling and Analysis - The sampling agssaying including

(@)  description of sampling met '}nd the location, number, type, nature,
spacing or density of samples collected,;

“
(b) identification of any dﬁm,vngg sampling or recovery factors that could
materially impact the accuracy ot i@'ﬁbility of the results;

(c) a discussion &t e sample quality and whether the samples are

representative and of anyfa¥tors that may have resulted in sample biases;

(d) rock t @geological controls, widths of mineralized zones, cut-off grades
and other param%é‘used to establish the sampling interval; and
(e) ity control measures and data verification procedures.

(9) ﬁ?ity of Samples - The measures taken to ensure the validity and integrity of
sam;Q aken.

(ﬁ Mineral Resource and Mineral Reserve Estimates - The mineral resources
and mineral reserves, if any, including

(@) the quantity and grade or quality of each category of mineral resources
and mineral reserves;
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(b) the key assumptions, parameters and methods used to estimate the
mineral resources and mineral reserves; and

(c) the extent to which the estimate of mineral resources and mineral
reserves may be materially affected by metallurgical, environmental, permitting, legal,
title, taxation, socio-economic, marketing, political and other relevant issues.

r\.
(11) Mining Operations - For development properties and production prope;ti;% the
mining method, metallurgical process, production forecast, markets, contracts fori€ale of
products, environmental conditions, taxes, mine life and expected payb&@period of

capital. 4

(12) Exploration and Development - A description of your co@ﬁy's current and
contemplated exploration or development activities. 0

&

0] Disclosure regarding mineral exploration deve ent or production activities on

material projects must comply with, and is sufj to the limitations set out in,

Regulation 43-101 respecting Standards isclosure for Mineral Projects

(c. V-1.1, r. 15). Use the appropriate terminq\giy to describe mineral reserves and

mineral resources. Base the disclosureg@ echnical report, or other information,
If

prepared by or under the supervision of a ied person.

INSTRUCTIONS

Q«
(i) You may satisfy the disclosurglyequirements in section 5.4 by reproducing the
summary from the technical re on the material property, and incorporating the
detailed disclosure in the techp{ eport into the AIF by reference.

@ii)  In giving the inf n%ﬁon required under section 5.4 include the nature of
ownership interests, s fee interests, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any
other types and varj s of ownership interests.

5.5 Compa&iﬁgwith Oil and Gas Activities

If Qgéompany Is engaged in oil and gas activities as defined in Regulation 51-
101 re ting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23),
discl&e following information:

(T&s Reserves Data and Other Information
€) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1 Statement
of Reserves Data and Other Oil and Gas Information, is to be prepared as at the end of

a financial year, disclose that information as at your company's most recently completed
financial year-end.
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(b) In the case of information that, for purposes of Form 51-101F1, is to be
prepared for a financial year, disclose that information for your company's most recently
completed financial year.

(© (paragraph revoked).

(2) Report of Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor - Inolee
with the disclosure under subsection (1) a report in the form of Form 51-101Fﬁ;®p0rt
on Reserves Data by Independent Qualified Reserves Evaluator or Auditor, ¥n the
reserves data included in the disclosure required under subsection (1). '\Q‘\

(3) Report of Management -Include with the disclosure unde
report in the form of Form 51-101F3 Report of Management and
Gas Disclosure under Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
Gas Activities that refers to the information disclosed under s

4) Material Changes — To the extent not reflecte%@e information disclosed in
response to subsection (1), disclose the informajl contemplated by Part 6 of
Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards of Disc for Oil and Gas Activities in
respect of material changes that occurred ﬁ/ your company’s most recently

completed financial year-end. N

INSTRUCTION

Q«
The information presented in respoﬁbe to section 5.5 must be in accordance with
Regulation 51-101 respecting Sta@ards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities.

Item 6 Dividends an%@s;ributions

6.1 Dividends an@ibutions

(1) Disclose t@hount of cash dividends or distributions declared per security for
each class of oW company’s securities for each of the 3 most recently completed

financial yezts).

(2) ﬁﬁbe any restriction that could prevent your company from paying dividends
or di@ ions.

(& Disclose your company’s current dividend policy and any intended change in
dividend policy.

Item 7 Description of Capital Structure

7.1  General Description of Capital Structure
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Describe your company's capital structure. State the description or the
designation of each class of authorized security, and describe the material
characteristics of each class of authorized security, including voting rights, provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption and retraction, dividend rights and rights
upon dissolution or winding-up.

INSTRUCTION Qr\
This section requires only a brief summary of the provisions that are material ifom a
securityholder's standpoint. The provisions attaching to different classes o @urities do
not need to be set out in full. This summary should include the discl%xér required in
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disc@ Obligations.

7.2 Constraints \)?”

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership %ities of your company
to ensure that your company has a required level of C n ownership, describe the
mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian o ship of the securities is or will
be monitored and maintained. 8

7.3 Ratings y\(l/

(2) If you have asked for and received%credit rating, or if you are aware that you
have received any other kind of ratin @yl-uding a stability rating or a provisional rating,
from one or more credit rating orga%bations for securities of your company that are
outstanding, or will be outstanding\jd the rating or ratings continue in effect, disclose

(@) eachrating re@e from a credit rating organization;

(b)  for each @g disclosed under paragraph (a), the name of the credit
rating organization a®as assigned the rating;

(c) d&inition or description of the category in which each credit rating
organizatiorg d the securities and the relative rank of each rating within the
' verall classification system;

organlzatQ~|~
%@ an explanation of what the rating addresses and what attributes, if any, of
t e

urities are not addressed by the rating;

(e) any factors or considerations identified by the credit rating organization as
giving rise to unusual risks associated with the securities;

() a statement that a credit rating or a stability rating is not a

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the credit rating organization; and
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(g0 any announcement made by, or any proposed announcement known to
your company that is to be made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed under this section.

(2) If payments were, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization@at
provided a rating described in subsection (1), state that fact and state Whe{.@ any
payments were made to the credit rating organization in respect of any other gervice
provided to your company by the credit rating organization during the last rs.

INSTRUCTIONS Qﬂ

There may be factors relating to a security that are no
rating organization when they give a rating. For example, i
derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditwor
the continued subsistence of the underlying interest or t atility of the price, value or
level of the underlying interest may be reflected in ;S rating analysis. Rather than

ressed by a credit
case of cash settled
s of the issuer, such as

being addressed in the rating itself, these factors be described by a credit rating
organization by way of a superscript or other nQtatén to a rating. Any such attributes
must be discussed in the disclosure under secb’&ﬁi.&

A provisional rating received befoﬂ/the company’s most recently completed
financial year is not required to be dis;,i/ under section 7.3.

ltem 8 Market for Securit'Q/

8.1 Trading Price and V%Qme

(1) For each clas @ecurities of your company that is traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketpl Identify the marketplace and the price ranges and volume
traded or quoted&e Canadian marketplace on which the greatest volume of trading
or quotation genellly occurs.

(2) If g@s of securities of your company is not traded or quoted on a Canadian
market , but is traded or quoted on a foreign marketplace, identify the foreign
marke ce and the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on the foreign
n{@e lace on which the greatest volume of trading or quotation generally occurs.

(3) Provide the information required under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for each month or, if applicable, partial months of the most recently completed
financial year.

8.2 Prior Sales
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For each class of securities of your company that is outstanding but not listed or
guoted on a marketplace, state the price at which securities of the class have been
issued during the most recently completed financial year by your company, the number
of securities of the class issued at that price, and the date on which the securities were
issued.

Item 9 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to ContraNJaI
Restriction on Transfer ‘.1/

9.1 Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Rg@oﬂon on

Transfer 4

(1)  State, in substantially the following tabular form, the number&curities of each
class of your company held, to your company’s knowledge, in es¢ or that are subject
to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage tha er represents of the

outstanding securities of that class for your company, st recently completed
financial year. Q
ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SEC @ES SUBJECT
TO CONTRACTUEL RESTRICTI N TRANSFER
Designation of class Number of securiti eld in | Percentage of class

escrow or that a flect to a
contractual restpi-q@ on tranfer

“
(2) In a note to the table disclose ﬁ'le name of the depository, if any, and the date of
and conditions governing the r Q&s'e of the securities from escrow or the date the
contractual restriction on trangends, as applicable.

INSTRUCTIONS ?\

0] For the pur@;@ of this item, escrow includes securities subject to a pooling
agreement. Q

(i) For IQ rposes of this item, securities subject to contractual restrictions on
transfer a@ sult of pledges made to lenders are not required to be disclosed.

Item Directors and Officers

1‘0& Name, Occupation and Security Holding

(1) List the name, province or state, and country of residence of each director and
executive officer of your company and indicate their respective positions and offices

held with your company and their respective principal occupations during the 5
preceding years.
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(2)  State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director
and when his or her term of office will expire.

(3)  State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities
of your company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or directed,
directly or indirectly, by all directors and executive officers of your company as a group.

4) Identify the members of each committee of the board. ‘.19

(5) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of yo @mpany is
acting as an officer of a person other than your company, disclose that fa®t and state
the principal business of the person. Q‘

INSTRUCTION \)?“

For the purposes of subsection (3), securities of subsidiarj Q:/our company that are
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directl ndirectly, by directors or
executive officers through ownership, or control or dj &on, directly or indirectly, over
securities of your company, do not need to be incly %

10.2 Cease Trade Orders, Bankruptcies, PR%nies or Sanctions

If a director or executive officer of )ﬂ)lvr company is, as at the date of the AlF, or
was within 10 years before the date o MIF, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial officer of any company (includyag your company), that:

(@) was subject to er that was issued while the director or executive
officer was acting in the c$~ ity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial

officer
| N\
or Q~O

(b) sS\subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive
officer ceas e a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted n event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as
directo ief executive officer or chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the
hich the order was made and whether the order is still in effect.

(D For the purposes of subsection (1), "order" means
(@) a cease trade order;

(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or
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(© an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under
securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days.

(1.2) If a director or executive officer of your company, or a shareholder holding a
sufficient number of securities of your company to affect materially the control of your
company

@) is, as at the date of the AIF, or has been within the 10 years b?‘&'\the
date of the AIF, a director or executive officer of any company (including your cowpany)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year o %b person
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal undeg anly legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or institute *e& proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, &Ver manager or
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 0

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date o QZIF, become bankrupt,
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bank@ or insolvency, or become
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement.o\compromise with creditors, or
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appoig@}) hold the assets of the director,

executive officer or shareholder, state the fact. (l/

(2) Describe the penalties or sanctions i '}ed and the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement ag ent and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a dir mor executive officer of your company, or a
shareholder holding a sufficient ndﬁ}ber of securities of your company to affect
materially the control of your co , has been subject to

(@) any penalties Qsanctions imposed by a court relating to securities
legislation or by a sec it&s‘ regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a sec@ regulatory authority; or

(b) anyé'er penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would likglyN\oe considered important to a reasonable investor in making an
investment fon.

(3) ite subsection (2), no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
ente to before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
t easonable investor in making an investment decision.

A

INSTRUCTIONS
0] The disclosure required by subsections (1), (1.2) and (2) also applies to any

personal holding companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (1), (1.2)
and (2).
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(i) A management cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
of a company is an "order" for the purposes of paragraph 10.2(1)(a) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a "penalty or sanction” for the purposes of section 10.2. Q\ .
(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 10.2(1)(a) only applies if the director or exgtutive
officer was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when é@vder was
issued against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure iff the director or
executive officer became a director, chief executive officer or chief fi jal officer after
the order was issued. Q‘

10.3 Conflicts of Interest 0

Disclose patrticulars of existing or potential mate @onﬂlcts of interest between
your company or a subsidiary of your company a director or officer of your
company or of a subsidiary of your company.

ltem 11 Promoters y\(l/

11.1 Promoters (19

“
For a person that has been, vvrhm the 2 most recently completed financial years
or during the current financial y Q\,a promoter of your company or of a subsidiary of
your company, state Q

(@) the person a&e‘;

(b) the n and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity
securities of you any or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, dlrec% indirectly;

(c) e nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property,
contrac@ ptions or rights of any kind received or to be received by the promoter
direc indirectly from your company or from a subsidiary of your company, and the
n&e and amount of any assets, services or other consideration received or to be

ived by your company or a subsidiary of your company in return; and

(d)  for an asset acquired within the 3 most recently completed financial years

or during the current financial year, or an asset to be acquired, by your company or by a
subsidiary of your company from a promoter
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(1) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
which the consideration has been or will be determined;

(i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
and the person relationship with your company, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate
of your company or of the promoter; and

*

(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and cost
of the asset to the promoter.
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Item 12 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions
12.1 Legal Proceedings

(2) Describe any legal proceedings your company is or was a party to, or that any of
its property is or was the subject of, during your company’s financial year.

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings your company knows to be contem?@d.

(3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), includ name of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the proceeding, the
nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the pr, ding is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding. @

?\
INSTRUCTION Q‘Q

You do not need to give information with respect to any @eeding that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of in and costs, does not exceed
10% of the current assets of your company. Ho@, if any proceeding presents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues as ower proceedings pending or known
to be contemplated, you must include the amggi?involved in the other proceedings in

computing the percentage. (19

. >
Describe any \\/

12.2 Regulatory Actions

(@) penalties or s ions imposed against your company by a court relating
to securities legislation @ securities regulatory authority during your financial year,

(b) any o?@penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body

against your co that would likely be considered important to a reasonable
investor in ma@ n investment decision, and

to sec
year.Q
I@RUCTION

You do not need to give information with respect to any proceeding that involves a claim
for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not
exceed 10% of the current assets of your company. However, if any proceeding
presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues as other proceedings

(c) Calettlement agreements your company entered into before a court relating
t@;legislaﬁon or with a securities regulatory authority during your financial
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pending or known to be contemplated, you must include the amount involved in the
other proceedings in computing the percentage.

Item 13 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

13.1 Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions

Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, @@t or
indirect, of any of the following persons in any transaction within the 3 most ently
completed financial years or during the current financial year that has mate,@\affected

or is reasonably expected to materially affect your company: 4

(@) a director or executive officer of your company; ?g )

(b) a person that beneficially owns, or controls or di " directly or indirectly,
more than 10% of any class or series of your outstanding Vv securities; and

(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the pergoNs referred to in paragraphs (a)

or (b). &

INSTRUCTIONS ,\‘l/

0] The materiality of the interest is to bceldetermined on the basis of the significance
of the information to investors in light Isthe circumstances of the particular case. The
importance of the interest to the perpon having the interest, the relationship of the
parties to the transaction with other and the amount involved are among the
factors to be considered i @ebr'mining the significance of the information to
securityholders. ?“

(i) This Item does&pply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of your company if ecurityholder receives no extra or special benefit or advantage
not shared on ar%ﬂnl basis by all other holders of the same class of securities or all
other holders %t/ same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

@)y  Gi g%rief description of the material transactions. Include the name of each

person se interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
toy mpany.
@ For any transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to your

company or a subsidiary of your company, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser,
and the cost of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the
transaction.

(v) You do not need to give information under this Item for a transaction if
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(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,

(B) the interest of a specified person in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another company that is a party to the transaction,

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of fundg «a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services,

(D) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services a @e interest
of the specified person arose from the beneficial ownership, direct Oirt]sdl ct, of less
than 10% of any class of equity securities of another company t \s party to the
transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary course of busines&our company or
your company's subsidiaries. 0

(vi)  Describe all transactions not excluded above that in Qremuneration (including
an issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to a the specified persons for
services in any capacity unless the interest of t rson arises solely from the
beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than of any class of equity securities
of another company furnishing the services '%our company or your company's
subsidiaries. }f/

Item 14 Transfer Agents and Reglsws

14.1 Transfer Agents and Reg|strg|la

State the name of yo panys transfer agent(s) and registrar(s) and the
location (by municipalities) e register(s) of transfers of each class of securities.

ltem 15 Materia@racts
15.1 Material Cﬁl’acts

Give 6 ulars of any material contract

@ required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the time this
AlF |Q| as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, or

\é (b)  would be required to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation at the
time this AIF is filed, as required under section 12.3 of the Regulation, but for the fact
that it was previously filed.

INSTRUCTIONS
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(1) You must give particulars of any material contract that was entered into within the
last financial year or before the last financial year but is still in effect, and that is required
to be filed under section 12.2 of the Regulation or would be required to be filed under
section 12.2 of the Regulation but for the fact that it was previously filed. You do not
need to give particulars of a material contract that was entered into
before January 1, 2002 because these material contracts are not required to be filed
under section 12.2 of the Regulation. r\

(i) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be give nder
this item, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the AlF. Particul éﬂéed only
be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given is here in the
AlF.

(i)  Particulars of contracts must include the dates of,%g%no, consideration

provided for in, and general nature and key terms of, the contr.

Item 16 Interests of Experts QQ/
16.1 Names of Experts &O
Name each person y\(l/

(@) who is named as having (a;epared or certified a report, valuation,
statement or opinion described or in I@ed in a filing, or referred to in a filing, made
under Regulation 51-102 respecti Continuous Disclosure Obligations by your
company during, or relating to, Wompanys most recently completed financial year;
and é~

statement or opinion y the person.

16.2 Interests Qgrperts

(1) Disclg | registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities

(b)  whose profgs?o“n or business gives authority to the report, valuation,

or other y of your company or of one of your associates or affiliates

&Q held by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an
i al, by the designated professionals of that expert, when that expert prepared the
reyert, valuation, statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a);

(b) received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not an

individual, by the designated professionals of that expert, after the time specified in
paragraph 16.2(1)(a); or
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(© to be received by an expert named in section 16.1 and, if the expert is not
an individual, by the designated professionals of that expert.

(1.1) For the purposes of subsection (1), a "designated professional’ means, in
relation to an expert named in section 16.1,

(@) each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who participated imqnd
who was in a position to directly influence the preparation of the report, v, ion,
statement or opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a); and

)
(b)  each partner, employee or consultant of the expert who .\;ﬁs’,\% any time
during the preparation of the report, valuation, statement or opip®m\referred to in
paragraph 16.1(a), in a position to directly influence the outcome e preparation of
the report, valuation, statement or opinion, including, without limi{aN3n

0] any person who recommends the &ensation of, or who
provides direct supervisory, management or other overs'Q , the partner, employee or
e

consultant in the performance of the preparation oféf: port, valuation, statement or
opinion referred to in paragraph 16.1(a), including at all successively senior levels
through to the expert's chief executive officer; (l/

(i) any person who pr '} consultation regarding technical or
industry-specific issues, transactions or g¢ents for the preparation of the report,
valuation, statement or opinion referr%@m paragraph 16.1(a); and

(i)  any person rovides quality control for the preparation of the
report, valuation, statement or n referred to in paragraph 16.1(a).

(2) For the purposes o&s‘ubsection (1), if the person's interest in the securities
represents less than your outstanding securities of the same class, a general
statement to that ef sufficient.

(2.1) Despite s&ection (1), an auditor who is independent in accordance with the
auditor's rul %/professional conduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or who has performed
an audit | rdance with U.S. PCAOB GAAS or U.S. AICPA GAAS is not required to
provid disclosure in subsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is
inde nt in accordance with the auditor's rules of professional conduct in a
jﬁi ion of Canada or that the auditor has complied with the SEC's rules on auditor
iNnependence.

3) If a person or a director, officer or employee of a person referred to in subsection
(1) is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or
employee of your company or of any associate or affiliate of your company, disclose the
fact or expectation.
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INSTRUCTIONS
0] (paragraph revoked);
(i) Section 16.2 does not apply to

(A) auditors of a business acquired by your company provided they have\not
been or will not be appointed as your company's auditor subsequent to the ac )tion,

and
N

(B) your company's predecessor auditors, if any, for periods h'e\ they were
not your company's auditor. Q‘

(i)  Section 16.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial int@sﬁ direct or indirect,

held through mutual funds. @Q.

ltem 17 Additional Information QQ/
17.1 Additional Information &O

Q) Disclose that additional information relﬂﬂg to your company may be found on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. (19

(2) If your company is required @distribute a Form 51-102F5 to any of its
securityholders, include a statement additional information, including directors' and
officers' remuneration and indebi ss, principal holders of your company's securities

and securities authorized for i ce under equity compensation plans, if applicable, is
contained in your companygs ¥Miformation circular for its most recent annual meeting of
securityholders that involée e election of directors.

company's finangt atements and MD&A for its most recently completed financial

.g;(/

INSTRU

3) Include a sig@ent that additional financial information is provided in your

Your@Qpany may also be required to provide additional information in its AlIF as set
o@ orm 52-110F1 Audit Committee Information Required in an AlF.
N\

Item 18 Additional Disclosure for Companies Not Sending Information
Circulars

18.1 Additional Disclosure
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For companies that are not required to send a Form 51-102F5 to any of their
securityholders, disclose the information required under Items 6 to 10, 12 and 13 of
Form 51-102F5, as modified below, if applicable:
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Form 51-102-F5 Reference

Modification

ltem 6 -Voting Securities and Principal
Holders of Voting Securities

Include the disclosure specified in section 6.1 without
regard to the phrase "entitled to be voted at the
meeting”. Do not include the disclosure specified in
sections 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4. Include the disclosure
specified in section 6.5.

N
Item 7 - Election of Directors Disregard the preamble of section 7.1. Inc the
disclosure specified in section 7.1 without reg t the

word “"proposed" throughout.

Do not @:Ly e the
disclosure specified in section 7.3. r\
\

Item 8 - Executive Compensation

Disregard the preamble and paragrap™s (a), (b) and (c)
of ltem 8. A company th oées not send a

management information circ 0 its securityholders
must provide the disclo equired by Form 51-
102F6.

/A

ltem 9 - Securities Authorized for Issuance
under Equity Compensation Plans

Disregard subsecW(l).

ltem 10 - Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers

y 4
Include the/MsClosure specified throughout; however,
p g

replace hrase "date of the informtion circular" with
"date e AIF" throughout. Disregard paragraph
10

Item 12 - Appointment of Auditor

\4

2)

Vo)

ame th auditor. If the auditor was first appointed

ithin the last 5 years state the date when the auditor
was first last 5 years, state the date when the auditor
was first appointed.

=
M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-1 RZTM.O. 2005-25, s. 3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 39; M.O. 2007-08,

s. 7; M.O. 2008-06, s

d 11; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 29; M.O. 2011-
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FORM 51-102F3 MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@) Confidentiality

If this Report is filed on a confidential basis, state in block capi{als
"CONFIDENTIAL" at the beginning of the Report. ‘.19

(b)  Use of "Company"” '\Qﬂ

business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other uni orated business

entities. 0
XK

(c) Numbering and Headings Q/

Wherever this Form uses the word "company” the term in’(&?\other types of

The numbering, headings and ordering of the it&ms included in this Form are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response @ny item need not be repeated

elsewhere
| NV
(d) Defined Terms Q
If a term is used but not define Ris Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and to Regulation 14-101
respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r f a term is used in this Form and is defined in both

the securities statute of a jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obli ns, refer to section 1.4 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Ogli&ﬁons.

(e) Plain Langu

level of detgd vided and the language used in the document. Refer to the plain
languagepMCiples listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respeci ontinuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12).
If yo technical terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

Write t% ?eport so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the

F’A%’ 2 CONTENT OF MATERIAL CHANGE REPORT
Item 1 Name and Address of Company

State the full name of your company and the address of its principal office in
Canada.
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Item 2Date of Material Change
State the date of the material change.
Item 3News Release

State the date and method(s) of dissemination of the news release issued w@er
section 7.1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.q/Q

Item 4 Summary of Material Change '\Q‘*

Provide a brief but accurate summary of the nature and subst@af the material

change. ?\
Item 5 Full Description of Material Change Q.Q
5.1  Full Description of Material Change Q&

Supplement the summary required under/ﬁ 4 with sufficient disclosure to
enable a reader to appreciate the significancg ahd impact of the material change
without having to refer to other material. I‘)K gement is in the best position to
determine what facts are significant and t disclose those facts in a meaningful
manner. See also Item 7.

)

Some examples of significant fe.lbts relating to the material change include: dates,
parties, terms and conditions, d yption of any assets, liabilities or capital affected,
purpose, financial or dollar v ~Treasons for the change, and a general comment on
the probable impact on thedSguer or its subsidiaries. Specific financial forecasts would
not normally be required. v

Other additi&i@gisclosure may be appropriate depending on the particular

situation. Q

5.2 Discl&e for Restructuring Transactions

&em applies to a material change report filed in respect of the closing of a
restrl% ng transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, issued
o&t ibuted. This item does not apply if, in respect of the transaction, your company
S an information circular to its securityholders or filed a prospectus or a securities
exchange takeover bid circular.

Include the disclosure for each entity that resulted from the restructuring
transaction, if your company has an interest in that entity, required by section 14.2 of
Form 51-102F5. You may satisfy the requirement to include this disclosure by
incorporating the information by reference to another document.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) If your company is engaged in oil and gas activities, the disclosure under Item 5
must also satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards
of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (c. V-1.1, r. 23).

(i) If you incorporate information by reference to another document, clearly Ideﬂtlfy
the referenced document or any excerpt from it. Unless you have already the
referenced document or excerpt, you must file it with the material change repa#t. You
must also disclose that the document is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. '\Q‘\

Item 6 Reliance on subsection 7.1(2) of Regulation 51-102@

of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obli S, state the reasons

for such reliance.
(5&

INSTRUCTION

If this Report is being filed on a confidential basis in reIiagc?YrTsubsection 7.1(2)

Refer to subsections 7.1(5), (6) and (7) of Re u’<ﬂon 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations concerning continuin %bllgatlons in respect of reports filed
under subsection 7.1(2) of Regulatlon‘.'@l 2 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations.

ltem 7 Omitted Information (l/

N\

State whether any inforQ@e has been omitted on the basis that it is confidential

information. ?“

In a separate | o the securities regulatory authority marked "Confidential”
provide the reason our company's omission of confidential significant facts in the
Report in suffici tail to permit the applicable securities regulatory authority to
determine wh%h/ to exercise its discretion to allow the omission of these significant
facts.

INSTR!@%NS

r%;%m circumstances where a material change has occurred and a Report has been
ON¥s about to be filed but subsection 7.1(2) or (5) of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations is not or will no longer be relied upon, your company
may nevertheless believe one or more significant facts otherwise required to be
disclosed in the Report should remain confidential and not be disclosed or not be
disclosed in full detail in the Report.
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Item 8 Executive Officer

Give the name and business telephone number of an executive officer of your
company who is knowledgeable about the material change and the Report, or the name
of an officer through whom such executive officer may be contacted.
Item 9 Date of Report N\

Q
Date the Report. (1/

Q‘\
M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F3; M.O. 2006-04, s. 40; M.O. 2008-10, s. 8 h% 2008-18,

N v
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FORM 51-102F4 BUSINESS ACQUISITION REPORT

PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

(@) Description of Business Acquisition Report
Your company must file a Business Acquisition Report after completimq.a

significant acquisition. See Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting CoP@mus

Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24. The Business Acquisition Report descrilpes the
significant businesses acquired by your company and the effect of the @isition on

your company.
&
(b) Use of "C "
se of "Company ?\

Wherever this Form uses the word "company"”, the teq&ludes other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and o I@ nincorporated business

entities. Q

(c) Focus on Relevant Information &O

When providing the disclosure require Qvthis Form, focus your discussion on
information that is relevant to an investor, a‘ﬂg’s or other reader.

(d) Incorporating Material By Re e

You may incorporate infors{gon required by this Form, by reference to another
document. Clearly identify t renced document, or any excerpt of it, that you
incorporate into this Repor less you have already filed the referenced document or
excerpt, including any doc¥ments incorporated by reference into the document or

excerpt, you must file this Report. You must also disclose that the document is on
SEDAR at www.se m.

(e) Defi ne@gms

is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
Continuous Disclosure Obligations and to Regulation 14-101 respecting
(c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both the
S ittes statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
I%)sure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12)
for further guidance.

This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
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subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
() Plain Language

Write this Report so that readers are able to understand it. Consider both the

level of detail provided and the language used in the document. Refer to the p@ln
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulatio@?lOZ

respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use nical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner. '\Q‘\
(9) Numbering and Headings Qﬂ

guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any it ed not be repeated
elsewhere in the Report.

The numbering, headings and ordering of items ig&mn this Form are
PART 2 CONTENT OF BUSINESS ACQUISITI%%EPORT
Item 1 Identity of Company &
N4

1.1  Name and Address of Company Q)

State the full name of your c?,@any and the address of its principal office in

Canada.
N

1.2 Executive Officer Q~

company who is know, able about the significant acquisition and the Report, or the
name of an officer tg whom such executive officer may be contacted.

Give the name a§ &”siness telephone number of an executive officer of your
Item 2 %&s of Acquisition
21 N gbf Business Acquired
Qgcribe the nature of the business acquired.
Z@ Acquisition Date

State the acquisition date used for accounting purposes.

2.3 Consideration
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Disclose the type and amount of consideration, both monetary and non-
monetary, paid or payable by your company in connection with the significant
acquisition, including contingent consideration. Identify the source of funds used by your
company for the acquisition, including a description of any financing associated with the
acquisition.

2.4  Effect on Financial Position Qr\

Describe any plans or proposals for material changes in your business a#éirs or
the affairs of the acquired business which may have a significant effect o @‘financial
performance and financial position of your company. Examples include r%‘proposal to
liquidate the business, to sell, lease or exchange all or a substantial @gf its assets, to
amalgamate the business with any other business organization or ake any material
changes to your business or the business acquired such aﬁ%ﬁges in corporate
structure, management or personnel. Q.

2.5 Prior Valuations Q&

Describe in sufficient detail any valuation @on obtained within the last 12
months by the acquired business or your comp /reequired by securities legislation or a
Canadian exchange or market to support they\ sideration paid by your company or
any of its subsidiaries for the business, incl g the name of the author, the date of the
opinion, the business to which the opiniorﬂe ates, the value attributed to the business
and the valuation methodologies use(},llgﬂ

2.6  Parties to Transaction \\/
State whether the tra&@ctlon is with an informed person, associate or affiliate of

your company and, if soqth¢ identity and the relationship of the other parties to your
company. @

2.7  Date of RQQTO
Date @%{eport.

[tem 3 Financial Statements and Other Information

gnclude the financial statements or other information required by Part 8 of
ulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If applicable, disclose
that the auditors have not given their consent to include their audit report in this Report.

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 51-102F4; M.O. 2006-04, s. 41; M.O. 2008-18, s. 13; M.O. 2010-17,
s. 30.
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FORM 51-102F5 INFORMATION CIRCULAR
PART 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
(@  Timing of Information

The information required by this Form 51-102F5 must be given as of a speciﬂed
date not more than 30 days prior to the date you first send the information cj rto
any securityholder of the company.

N

(b)  Use of "Company" 4

Wherever this Form uses the word "company”, the term in@@s other types of
business organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other l@ orporated business

entities.
Qg&

(c) Incorporating Information by Reference QQ/

You may incorporate information required/%@e included in your information
circular by reference to another document. Cleggy Mentify the referenced document or
any excerpt of it that you incorporate into yo formation circular. Unless you have
already filed the referenced document or e . including any documents incorporated
by reference into the document or excerpt, must file it with your information circular.
You must also disclose that the doc is on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and that,
upon request, you will promptly provigg,ckopy of any such document free of charge to
a securityholder of the comp rx%,However, you may not incorporate information
required to be included in For&é 02F6 by reference into your information circular.

(d) Defined Terms ?“

Ifatermisu ut not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Conti% Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and to Regulation 14-101
respecting DefpitSns (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both
the securititsd tute of the local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuo sclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to
Regulagf 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(DeciQor2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further guidance.

\é This Form also uses accounting terms that are defined or used in Canadian
GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises. For further guidance, see
subsections 1.4(7) and (8) of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations.
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(e) Plain Language

Write this document so that readers are able to understand it. Refer to the plain
language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for further guidance. If you use technical
terms, explain them in a clear and concise manner.

r\ .

()] Numbering and Headings ‘-19

The numbering, headings and ordering of items included in ti}i orm are
guidelines only. Disclosure provided in response to any item need npt repeated

elsewhere. Q‘
(g) Tables and Figures \)?‘

Where it is practicable and appropriate, present infg @%n in tabular form. State
all amounts in figures. Q

(h)  Omitting Information &O

You do not need to respond to any itqqqm this Form that is inapplicable. You
may also omit information that is not k %n to the person on whose behalf the
solicitation is made and that is not reasonabfy within the power of the person to obtain, if
you briefly state the circumstances th?,i/@rder the information unavailable.

notice of meeting or form o y sent to the same persons whose proxies were
solicited in connection Wit%e same meeting, as long as you clearly identify the
Ng

particular document cor@ the information.

PART 2 CONT?@

ltem 1 %g
Spqgﬂhe date of the information circular.

ItemQO Revocability of Proxy

You may omit informatiog;‘that was contained in another information circular,

\é State whether the person giving the proxy has the power to revoke it. If any right
of revocation is limited or is subject to compliance with any formal procedure, briefly
describe the limitation or procedure.

Item 3 Persons Making the Solicitation
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3.1 If a solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company, state
this. Name any director of the company who has informed management in writing that
he or she intends to oppose any action intended to be taken by management at the
meeting and indicate the action that he or she intends to oppose.

3.2 If a solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of the
company, state this and give the name of the person by whom, or on whose behaIN is

made. ‘.19

3.3 If the solicitation is to be made other than by mail, describe the @md to be
employed. If the solicitation is to be made by specially engaged employges®or soliciting

agents, state, Q‘

(@) the parties to and material features of any contrac@%?rangement for the
solicitation; and

(b) the cost or anticipated cost thereof. Q&
3.4  State who has borne or will bear, directly or)@ctly, the cost of soliciting.
ltem 4 Proxy Instructions y\(l/

4.1  The information circular or the forr%of proxy to which the information circular
relates must indicate in bold-face typ @t the securityholder has the right to appoint a
person to represent the securityhol at the meeting other than the person, if any,
designated in the form of proxy ust contain instructions as to the manner in which
the securityholder may exerc@e right.

4.2  The information cj c&a“r or the form of proxy to which the information circular
relates must state tha ecurities represented by the proxy will be voted or withheld
from voting in acco e with the instructions of the securityholder on any ballot that
that, if the securityholder specifies a choice with respect to any
pon, the securities will be voted accordingly.

matter to be agie
Item 5 Qgﬁterest of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon
@fly describe any material interest, direct or indirect, by way of beneficial
0\$r hip of securities or otherwise, of each of the following persons in any matter to
p™¥ected upon other than the election of directors or the appointment of auditors:

€) if the solicitation is made by or on behalf of management of the company,

each person who has been a director or executive officer of the company at any time
since the beginning of the company's last financial year;
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(b) if the solicitation is made other than by or on behalf of management of the
company, each person by whom, or on whose behalf, directly or indirectly, the
solicitation is made;

(© each proposed nominee for election as a director of the company; and

(d) each associate or affiliate of any of the persons listed in paragraphb\(a)

to (c). ‘.1/

INSTRUCTIONS ,\Q«

0] The following persons and companies are deemed to be pers ’;\by whom or on
whose behalf the solicitation is made (collectively, "solicitorgs %r individually a

"solicitor"): 0

(A) any member of a committee or group that soji roxies, and any person
whether or not named as a member who, acting al f with one or more other
persons, directly or indirectly takes the initiative or %es in organizing, directing or
financing any such committee or group; /{6;

(B) any person who contributes, or jqﬁl/with another to contribute, more than
$250 to finance the solicitation of proxies; g Q

(C) any person who lends 8y, provides credit, or enters into any other
arrangements, under any contract or‘ﬂerstanding with a solicitor, for the purpose of
financing or otherwise inducing t rchase, sale, holding or voting of securities of the
company but not including a or other lending institution or a dealer that, in the
ordinary course of business ds money or executes orders for the purchase or sale of
securities. ?‘

(i) Subject to p ph (i), the following persons and companies are deemed not to
be solicitors: Q

(A) person retained or employed by a solicitor to solicit proxies or any
person w, rely transmits proxy-soliciting material or performs ministerial or clerical

duties; O

& B) any person employed or retained by a solicitor in the capacity of lawyer,
asQountant, or advertising, public relations, investor relations or financial advisor and
whose activities are limited to the performance of their duties in the course of the
employment or retainer;

(C) any person regularly employed as an officer or employee of the company
or any of its affiliates; or
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(D) any officer or director of, or any person regularly employed by, any
solicitor.
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Item 6 Voting Securities and Principal Holders of Voting Securities

6.1 For each class of voting securities of the company entitled to be voted at the
meeting, state the number of securities outstanding and the particulars of voting rights
for each class.

6.2 For each class of restricted securities, provide the information requira*ln
subsection 10.1(1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obli ns.

6.3 Give the record date as of which the securityholders entitled tqm@te at the
meeting will be determined or particulars as to the closing of the secu¥ity transfer

register, as the case may be, and, if the right to vote is not limited t rityholders of
record as of the specified record date, indicate the condi®s under which
securityholders are entitled to vote. 0

Q.

6.4 If action is to be taken with respect to the ele of directors and if the
securityholders or any class of securityholders havegé/right to elect a specified
number of directors or have cumulative or similar vatjn®\rights, include a statement of
such rights and state briefly the conditions precede){ ny, to the exercise thereof.

6.5 If, to the knowledge of the company’s cﬁébtors or executive officers, any person
beneficially owns, or controls or directs, dj @y or indirectly, voting securities carrying
10% or more of the voting rights attachefy to any class of voting securities of the
company, name each person and sta’algx

(@) the approximate n l?f of securities beneficially owned, or controlled or
directed, directly or indirectly,&a h such person; and

(b)  the percen &“ of the class of outstanding voting securities of the
company represente he number of voting securities so owned, controlled or
directed, directly or} ctly.

Item 7 %&on of Directors
7.1 If ¢ rs are to be elected, provide the following information, in tabular form to

the ex racticable, for each person proposed to be nominated for election as a
direcg "proposed director") and each other person whose term of office as a director
0

W@ tinue after the meeting:
(a) State the name, province or state, and country of residence, of each
director and proposed director.

(b) State the period or periods during which each director has served as a
director and when the term of office for each director and proposed director will expire.
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(© Identify the members of each committee of the board.

(d) State the present principal occupation, business or employment of each
director and proposed director. Give the name and principal business of any company in
which any such employment is carried on. Furnish similar information as to all of the
principal occupations, businesses or employments of each proposed director within the
5 preceding years, unless the proposed director is now a director and was elected to\the
present term of office by a vote of securityholders at a meeting, the notice of w '%Was
accompanied by an information circular.

)

(e) If a director or proposed director has held more than orlgsp'&ition in the

company, or a parent or subsidiary, state only the first and last positi% Id.

() State the number of securities of each class of Yﬁ securities of the
company or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or con or directed, directly
or indirectly, by each proposed director. &

(9) If securities carrying 10% or more of the g rights attached to all voting
securities of the company or of any of its subgiigties are beneficially owned, or
controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by /%roposed director and the proposed

director’s associates or affiliates, N

(1) state the number of Qzurities of each class of voting securities
beneficially owned, or controlled or dj @ed, directly or indirectly, by the associates or
affiliates; and J'[l/

(i) name eaaQroiate or affiliate whose security holdings are 10%

or more. ‘

7.2 If a proposed d@

@) is, he date of the information circular, or has been, within 10 years
before the da the information circular, a director, chief executive officer or chief
financial off} f any company (including the company in respect of which the

informati@_’ ular is being prepared) that,

%O 0] was subject to an order that was issued while the proposed director
W@ ing in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or

A\

(i) was subject to an order that was issued after the proposed director
ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer,
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state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and
whether the order is still in effect; or

(b) is, as at the date of the information circular, or has been within 10 years
before the date of the information circular, a director or executive officer of any company
(including the company in respect of which the information circular is being prepared)
that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that p
ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any | tion
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any procegtlings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver, @nager or
trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 4'\

(© has, within the 10 years before the date of the g@Q&rmation circular,
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation rela\\\g to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proc gs, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver ma or trustee appointed to
hold the assets of the proposed director, state the fact. Q

7.2.1 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposeg@the grounds on which they were
imposed, or the terms of the settlement agreem d the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a proposed dire;c\ has been subject to

(@) any penalties or sanctions %posed by a court relating to securities
legislation or by a securities regul @oauthority or has entered into a settlement
agreement with a securities regulatory thority; or

that would likely be consi d important to a reasonable securityholder in deciding
whether to vote for a propes dlrector

(b) any other pena& sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body

7.2.2 Despite secl .2.1, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered into befoi cember 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be important
to a reasonabl &/ urityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director.

INSTRU@@QS

(|) % disclosure required by sections 7.2 and 7.2.1 also applies to any personal
companies of the proposed director.

(||) A management cease trade order which applies to directors or executive officers
of a company is an "order" for the purposes of paragraph 7.2(a)(i) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the proposed director was named in the order.

(i) A late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies to the late filing of an insider
report, is not a "penalty or sanction" for the purposes of section 7.2.1.
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(iv)  The disclosure in paragraph 7.2(a)(i) only applies if the proposed director was a
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued
against the company. You do not have to provide disclosure if the proposed director
became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order was
issued.

7.2.3 For the purposes of subsection 7.2(a), "order" means ‘.19
(@) acease trade order; '\Q 5
(b)  an order similar to a cease trade order; or Qﬂ

(c) an order that denied the relevant company access@/ exemption under
securities legislation, Q.

that was in effect for a period of more Q%ﬂ 30 consecutive days.
7.3  If any proposed director is to be elected und r@y arrangement or understanding
between the proposed director and any other pegso except the directors and executive
officers of the company acting solely in suc}\ pacity, name the other person and
describe briefly the arrangement or unders @ng.

ltem 8 Executive Compensati Q«

Despite section 9.3.1 of Regulation, if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a

(@ thatisana Lkrgeneral meeting,

(b) at whi company’s directors are to be elected, or

(© ich the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to ec) ve compensation, include a completed Form 51-102F6.

Item 90 Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation

PIanQ

9® Equity Compensation Plan Information

(2) Provide the information in subsection (2) if you are sending this information
circular in connection with a meeting

(@) thatis an annual general meeting,
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(b) at which the company’s directors are to be elected, or

(© at which the company’s securityholders will be asked to vote on a matter
relating to executive compensation or a transaction that involves the company issuing
securities.

(2) In the tabular form under the caption set out, provide the information specifibq in
section 9.2 as of the end of the company's most recently completed financial %With
respect to compensation plans under which equity securities of the comp are
authorized for issuance, aggregated as follows: '\Q‘\

(@) all compensation plans previously approved by security 'I'Aers; and

(b)  all compensation plans not previously approved by.s&urityholders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information @
R
Number of securitie Weighté(aVerage Number of securities
to be issued upon ex e price of remaining available
exercise of tanding for future issuance
outstanding options, ptions, warrants under equity
warrants and rights h\ and rights compensation plans
(a) Q (b) (excluding securities
(1/ reflected in
column (a))
A (©)
Plan Category . Vv

approved by
securityholders

Equity compensation plans 2\\/

Equity compensation plans \?“

not approved by
securityholders r&‘
Total A\

X
9.2 Includeg %e table the following information as of the end of the company's most
recently co d financial year for each category of compensation plan described in

section QQ.
9 the number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding
S, warrants and rights (column (a));

(b) the weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding options, warrants
and rights disclosed under subsection 9.2(a) (column (b)); and

(c) other than securities to be issued upon the exercise of the outstanding
options, warrants and rights disclosed in subsection 9.2(a), the number of securities
remaining available for future issuance under the plan (column (c)).
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9.3 For each compensation plan under which equity securities of the company are
authorized for issuance and that was adopted without the approval of securityholders,
describe briefly, in narrative form, the material features of the plan.
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INSTRUCTIONS

0] The disclosure under Item 9 relating to compensation plans must include
individual compensation arrangements.

(i) Provide disclosure with respect to any compensation plan of the company (or
parent, subsidiary or affiliate of the company) under which equity securities of\he
company are authorized for issuance to employees or non-employees (?@ as
directors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in exéhange
for consideration in the form of goods or services. You do not have to provj tsclosure
regarding any plan, contract or arrangement for the issuance of warrantg ofrights to all
securityholders of the company on a pro rata basis (such as a rights @ng)

(i) If more than one class of equity security is issued %Er the company's
compensation plans, disclose aggregate plan information f ch class of security
separately.

(iv)  You may aggregate information regarding indgﬂ I compensation arrangements
with the plan information required under subsectlogi (a) and (b), as applicable.

(V) You may aggregate information regan@g a compensation plan assumed in
connection with a merger, consolidation Qt er acquisition transaction pursuant to
which the company may make subsequenﬁwants or awards of its equity securities with
the plan information required under s @ctions 9.1(a) and (b), as applicable. Disclose
on an aggregated basis in a footn(cl)ie to the table the information required under
subsections 9.2(a) and (b) with ect to any individual options, warrants or rights
outstanding under the com ion plan assumed in connection with a merger,
consolidation or other acqui$~ n transaction.

(vi) To the extent the number of securities remaining available for future
issuance disclosed } lumn (c) includes securities available for future issuance under
any compensati n other than upon the exercise of an option, warrant or right,

disclose the n m r of securities and type of plan separately for each such plan in a
footnote to t

(vii) &descrlptlon of a compensation plan set forth in the company's financial
stat s contains the disclosure required by section 9.3, a cross-reference to the
tlon satisfies the requirements of section 9.3.

(viii)  If an equity compensation plan contains a formula for calculating the number of
securities available for issuance under the plan, including, without limitation, a formula
that automatically increases the number of securities available for issuance by a
percentage of the number of outstanding securities of the company, describe this
formula in a footnote to the table.
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ltem 10 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers

10.1 Aggregate Indebtedness

AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($)
Purpose To the Company or its Subsidiaries To Another Entity
a b C .
(a) (b) ©) ~N
Share purchases AN
Other v

PN
L)

(1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outs\%r']}mg as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular enteregIntd in connection

with: ?\
(@) apurchase of securities; and Q.Q
(b)  all other indebtedness. Q&

(2) Report separately the indebtedness to &O
(@) the company or any of its subsidi&{ilé (column (b)); and

(b)  another entity if the indebted(lléss is the subject of a guarantee, support
agreement, letter of credit or other ﬁi@m arrangement or understanding provided by
the company or any of its subsidiaries @olumn (c)),

of all executive office erectors, employees and former executive officers,
directors and employees of@?company or any of its subsidiaries.

3) "Support agre@' includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide
assistance in the nance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement to
provide compensQ for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any indebtedness of

the borrower.
&

X

<

Ny
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10.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities
Purchase and (2) Other Programs

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1)
SECURITIES PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS

Name and | Involvement Largest Amount Financially Security for Amount
Principal of Company Amount Outstanding Assisted Indebtedness Forgiven
Position or Subsidiary | Outstanding as at [Date Securities ) Durin@ﬁs‘t
€) (b) During [Most within Purchases ly
Recently 30 days] During C%ﬁﬁeted
Completed %) [Most Gi‘mancial
Financial (d) Recently h\ Year]
Year] Completed ~\ ()]
(%) Financial Q, (9)
(c) Year]
(#) ?\
(e) 'ON
Securities Purchase Programs O\
ROU
Vv
Other Programs ~
A\
P
WV
(1) Complete the above table for each {kdyvidual who is, or at any time during the
most recently completed financial year , a director or executive officer of the

company, each proposed nominee fg @otion as a director of the company, and each
associate of any such director, execuﬁz officer or proposed nominee,

(& whois, or at an since the beginning of the most recently completed
financial year of the com has been, indebted to the company or any of its
subsidiaries, or

(b)  whos @ebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the
beginning of theg%?l recently completed financial year has been, the subject of a
guarantee, s t agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or
understandi&vided by the company or any of its subsidiaries,

eparately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and all
othe rams.

(2&% Note the following:

Column (a) - disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the
borrower was, during the most recently completed financial year, but no longer is a
director or executive officer, state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate,
describe briefly the relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the
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financial year, was a director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for
election as a director, name that individual and provide the information required by this
subparagraph for that individual.

Column (b) - disclose whether the company or a subsidiary of the company is the
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar
arrangement or understanding. N\

Q

Column (c) - disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebttiness
outstanding at any time during the most recently completed financial year. '\Q‘\

Column (d) - disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness Té{anding as at a
date within 30 days before the date of the information circular. ?g

Column (e) - disclose separately for each class or serie@)ﬁecurities, the sum of
the number of securities purchased during the most rece ompleted financial year
with the financial assistance (security purchase program .

Column (f) - disclose the security for the i}@edness, if any, provided to the
company, any of its subsidiaries or the other entjty (Security purchase programs only).

Column (g) - disclose the total amo '}‘indebtedness that was forgiven at any
time during the most recently completed fi ial year.

Q-
3) Supplement the above table wft.rl,e summary discussion of
(@ the material ter ach incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of
each guarantee, support ement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or

understanding, including

(1) d@nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was

incurred; Q

@/ the rate of interest;

O (i) the term to maturity;
éQ (iv)  any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse; and
N (v) any security for the indebtedness;
(b)  any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently

completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if applicable, the
guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar arrangement or understanding.
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Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in column (g) of the above table should be
explained; and

(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or
held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of securities is not
publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, including the provisions for
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, retraction and dividends. Qr\
10.3 You do not need to disclose information required by this Item "l/

4
(@) if you are not sending this information circular in ccme'}tion with a

meeting Q‘

(i) that is an annual general meeting, \)?“
(i) at which the company’s directors are t&;@ lected, or

(i) at which the company’s security &rs will be asked to vote on a
matter relating to executive compensation, &

(b) for any indebtedness that has be tirely repaid on or before the date of
the information circular, or (19

(c) for routine indebtedness Q«

"Routine indebtedness” mc‘\aos indebtedness described in any of the following
clauses:

0] If the com$%“r its subsidiary makes loans to employees generally,
(A) oans are made on terms no more favourable than the terms on
which loans are y the company or its subsidiary to employees generally, and
the amount, at any time during the last completed financial year,
remainin aid under the loans to the director, executive officer or proposed
nomin gether with his or her associates, does not exceed $50,000.
é%ii) A loan to a person who is a full-time employee of the company,

(A) thatis fully secured against the residence of the borrower, and

(B) the amount of which in total does not exceed the annual salary of
the borrower.
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(i) If the company or its subsidiary makes loans in the ordinary course of
business, a loan made to a person other than a full-time employee of the company

(A)  on substantially the same terms, including those as to interest rate
and security, as are available when a loan is made to other customers of the company
or its subsidiary with comparable credit, and

(B)  with no more than the usual risks of collectibility. ‘.19
(iv) A loan arising by reason of purchases made on usual trad s or of
ordinary travel or expense advances, or for similar reasons, ifihe repayment
arrangements are in accord with usual commercial practice. Q‘
Item 11 Interest of Informed Persons in Material TransgcN8ns

material interest, direct or indirect, of any informed rgon of the company, any
proposed director of the company, or any associate filiate of any informed person
or proposed director, in any transaction since th mencement of the company's
most recently completed financial year or in 'ns proposed transaction which has
materially affected or would materially affect thp\c pany or any of its subsidiaries.

Describe briefly and, where practicable, state the; %ximate amount of any

INSTRUCTIONS: a)

)
(1) Briefly describe the material tansaction. State the name and address of each
person whose interest in any tran@ion is described and the nature of the relationship
giving rise to the interest.

(i) For any transactio i%ving the purchase or sale of assets by or to the company
or any subsidiary, oth n in the ordinary course of business, state the cost of the
assets to the purch nd the cost of the assets to the seller, if acquired by the seller
within 2 years priQ e transaction.

@ii)  This %ﬂoes not apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities
of the c y where the securityholder receives no extra or special benefit or

advant not shared on a proportionate basis by all holders of the same class of
secupes’or by all holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada.

@ Include information as to any material underwriting discounts or commissions
upon the sale of securities by the company where any of the specified persons was or is
to be an underwriter in a contractual relationship with the company with respect to
securities or is an associate or affiliate of a person that was or is to be such an
underwriter.

176



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

(V) You do not need to disclose the information required by this Item for any
transaction or any interest in that transaction if

(A) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids,

(B) the interest of the specified person in the transaction is solely tha& of
director of another company that is a party to the transaction, ‘.1/

(C) the transaction involves services as a bank or other deposi}\ of funds,
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar sgervizes, or

(D) the transaction does not directly or indirectly, invo@r‘emuneraﬁon for

services, and 0

() the interest of the specified perso se from the beneficial
ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of ar% Ss of voting securities of
another company that is a party to the transaction,

(I the transaction is in the ordi /r§~course of business of the company
or its subsidiaries, and \Pi

(1) the amount of the tr%saction or series of transactions is less
than 10% of the total sales or purch %«as the case may be, of the company and its
subsidiaries for the most recently cor?&eted financial year.

(vi)  Provide informaji r transactions not excluded above which involve
remuneration, directly or ingiNctly, to any of the specified persons for services in any
capacity unless the inter s&ﬂ the person arises solely from the beneficial ownership,
direct or indirect, of Ie&n 10% of any class of voting securities of another company
furnishing the servié~ the company or its subsidiaries.

ltem 12 %/p%intment of Auditor

N e auditor of the company. If the auditor was first appointed within the last
5 year te the date when the auditor was first appointed.

f action is to be taken to replace an auditor, provide the information required
uNQer section 4.11 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

ltem 13 Management Contracts
If management functions of the company or any of its subsidiaries are to any
substantial degree performed other than by the directors or executive officers of the

company or subsidiary,
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(@) give details of the agreement or arrangement under which the
management functions are performed, including the name and address of any person
who is a party to the agreement or arrangement or who is responsible for performing the
management functions;

(b) give the names and provinces of residence of any person that was, deng
the most recently completed financial year, an informed person of any per?ﬁwith
which the company or subsidiary has any such agreement or arrangement andyif the
following information is known to the directors or executive officers of the cgm any, give
the names and provinces of residence of any person that would be an.ﬁwc ed person
of any person with which the company or subsidiary has any s agreement or
arrangement if the person were an issuer, @

(© for any person named under paragraph (a) s@e amounts paid or
payable by the company and its subsidiaries to the pers he commencement of
the most recently completed financial year and give part %rs and

(d) for any person named under paragrgg@a) or (b) and their associates or
affiliates, give particulars of,

0] any indebtedness of t son company, associate or affiliate to
the company or its subsidiaries that was 0 nding, and

(i) any transaction cﬂarrangement of the person, company, associate
or affiliate with the company or sus{ghary,

at any time # he start of the company's most recently completed

financial year. §

INSTRUCTIONS:

0] Do not 1, f?to any matter that is relatively insignificant.

(i) In partlculars of indebtedness, state the largest aggregate amount of
mdebte& outstanding at any time during the period, the nature of the indebtedness
and transaction in which it was incurred, the amount of the indebtedness

Iy outstanding and the rate of interest paid or charged on the indebtedness.
(|||) Do not include as indebtedness amounts due from the particular person for
purchases subject to usual trade terms, for ordinary travel and expense advances and
for other similar transactions.

Item 14 Particulars of Matters to be Acted Upon
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14.1 If action is to be taken on any matter to be submitted to the meeting of
securityholders other than the approval of annual financial statements, briefly describe
the substance of the matter, or related groups of matters, except to the extent described
under the foregoing items, in sufficient detail to enable reasonable securityholders to
form a reasoned judgment concerning the matter. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, such matters include alterations of share capital, charter amendments,
property acquisitions or dispositions, reverse takeovers, amalgamations, merders,
arrangements or reorganizations and other similar transactions. ‘.1/

14.2 If the action to be taken is in respect of a significant acquisition a,%u termined
under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 under which securities of the acquirgd Business are
being exchanged for the company’s securities, or in respect restructuring
transaction under which securities are to be changed, exchanged, X ed or distributed,
include disclosure for

Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Oghkdgions,

(@ the company, if the company has not filed il@)%uments required under

(b) the business being acquired, if the m@s a significant acquisition,

(© each entity, other than the comp hose securities are being changed,
exchanged, issued or distributed, if (19

0] the matter is a re?,i/@t‘uring transaction, and

(i) the compan rrent securityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the restructuring tr ion is completed, and

(d) each entit at would result from the significant acquisition or
restructuring transacti the company’s securityholders will have an interest in that
entity after the signifi acquisition or restructuring transaction is completed.

The di I&re for the company, business or entity must be the disclosure
(including fi val statements) prescribed under securities legislation and described in
the form Q@ospectus that the company, business or entity, respectively, would be
eligible se immediately prior to the sending and filing of the information circular in
resp? the significant acquisition or restructuring transaction, for a distribution of

itte

se@' s in the jurisdiction.
N\

14.3 If the matter is one that is not required to be submitted to a vote of
securityholders, state the reasons for submitting it to securityholders and state what
action management intends to take in the event of a negative vote by the
securityholders.
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14.4 Section 14.2 does not apply to an information circular that is sent to holders of
voting securities of a reporting issuer soliciting proxies otherwise than on behalf of
management of the reporting issuer (a "dissident circular"), unless the sender of the
dissident circular is proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction
involving the reporting issuer and the sender, under which securities of the sender, or
an affiliate of the sender, are to be distributed or transferred to securityholders of the
reporting issuer. However, a sender of a dissident circular shall include in the diss)s@nt
circular the disclosure required by section 14.2 if the sender of the dissident c}:@ar is
proposing a significant acquisition or restructuring transaction under which secuities of
the sender or securities of an affiliate of the sender are to be changeq\%ohanged,
issued or distributed. 4

14.5 A company satisfies section 14.2 if it prepares an in Qation circular in
connection with a Qualifying Transaction, for a company that is C, or in connection
with a Reverse Take-Over (as Qualifying Transaction, CPC a verse Take-Over are
defined in the TSX Venture Exchange policies) provide @ the company complies
with the policies and requirements of the TSX Ventu change in respect of that
Qualifying Transaction or Reverse Take-Over. OQ

A

4%

For the purposes of section 14.2, a secu @0 der will not be considered to have an
interest in an entity after an acquisition o tructuring transaction is completed if the
securityholder will only hold a redee@le security that is immediately redeemed for

cash.
N4

ltem 15 Restricted Sec&

15.1 If the action to bg t¥ken involves a transaction that would have the effect of
converting or subdivj > in whole or in part, existing securities into restricted
securities, or creaij ew restricted securities, the information circular must also
include, as part g inimum disclosure required, a detailed description of:

INSTRUCTION

@) Qﬁ%’voting rights attached to the restricted securities that are the subject of

or that will result from the transaction either directly or following a
exchange or exercise, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
of any other class of securities of the company that are the same or greater
o] er security basis than those attached to the restricted securities that are the
s&ct of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either directly or
following a conversion, exchange or exercise;

(b)  the percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the company's
securities that are represented by the class of restricted securities;
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(© any significant provisions under applicable corporate and securities law, in
particular whether the restricted securities may or may not be tendered in any takeover
bid for securities of the reporting issuer having voting rights superior to those attached
to the restricted securities, that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities
that are the subject of the transaction or that will result from the transaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of
another class of equity securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the const&lng
documents or otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securities;

(d)  any rights under applicable corporate law, in the constating ments or
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are the subject of the trgnsaction either
directly or following a conversion, exchange or exercise, to atten 'I&person or by
proxy, meetings of holders of equity securities of the company 0 speak at the
meetings to the same extent that holders of equity securities aregN\Xled.

15.1, the detailed description referred to in section 15.1 include, in bold-face type,

15.2 If holders of restricted securities do not have all of tz phts referred to in section
a statement of the rights the holders do not have.

O
A
%

16.1 Disclose that additional informatio @ing to the company is on SEDAR at
www.sedar.com. Disclose how securityholqers may contact the company to request
copies of the company's financial stat?@'ns and MD&A.

ltem 16 Additional Information

comparative annual financial ents and MD&A for its most recently completed
financial year. ?“

M.O. 2005-03, Sch. 5 %FS; M.O. 2006-04, s. 42; M.O. 2007-08, s. 8; M.O. 2008-06,
s. 10 and 11; M.O. 8,s.10 and 13; M.O. 2010-17, s. 31.
NS

16.2 Include a statement thaz Nancial information is provided in the company's
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending before December 31, 2008)

Item 1 General Provisions
1.1 The purpose of this Form is to provide disclosure of all compensation, whatever

the source, earned by certain executive officers and directors in connection with otﬁoe
or employment by your company or a subsidiary of your company. Wherever tPﬁ?orm

uses the word "company", the term includes other types of business organizationg such
as partnerships, trusts and other unincorporated business entities. '\Q 5
The particular requirements in this Form should be interprete regard to this

purpose, the definition of "executive officer" in the Regulation, a n a manner that
gives priority to substance over form.

1.2  You should prepare the Form in the prescribed for ¢ou may omit a table or
column of a table if it is not applicable. Q

1.3  For the purposes of this Form &

"Chief Executive Officer" or "CEO" mea@each individual who served as chief
executive officer of your company or acted i & similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year;

Q«

"Chief Financial Officer" or (ﬂ@ means each individual who served as chief
financial officer of your company eﬁ\\acted in a similar capacity during the most recently
completed financial year, Q

"long-term incenti e%Tan" or "LTIP" means a plan providing compensation
intended to motivate @ﬂance over a period greater than one financial year. LTIPs

do not include opti AR plans or plans for compensation through shares or units
that are subject t% ictions on resale;

"me %ﬁent period" means the period beginning at the "measurement point"

which is shed by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of
your c ny's fifth preceding financial year, through and including the end of your
com most recently completed financial year. If the class or series of securities has

ﬁ blicly traded for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison
correspond to that time period,;

"Named Executive Officers" or "NEOs" means the following individuals:
€) each CEO;

(b) each CFO;
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(c) each of your company's 3 most highly compensated executive officers,
other than the CEO and CFO, who were serving as executive officers at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and whose total salary and bonus exceeds
$150,000; and

(d)  any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been prO\liQed
under (c) except that the individual was not serving as an officer of your compa the
end of the most recently completed financial year-end;

"normal retirement age" means normal retirement age as deflgshh a pension
plan or, if not defined, the earliest time at which a plan participant m re without any
benefit reduction due to age; ??

"options" includes all options, share purchase warrant rights granted by a
company or its subsidiaries as compensation for emplo services or office. An
extension of an option or replacement grant is a gran%a new option. Also, options
includes any grants made to a NEO by a third party on-subsidiary affiliate of your
company in respect of services to your company o ’{ bsidiary of your company;

"plan” includes, but is not limited to, an %ngement whether or not set forth in
any formal document and whether or not ?ﬂ%}ble to only one individual, under which
cash, securities, options, SARs, phantom st warrants, convertible securities, shares
or units that are subject to restrictio?ighresale, performance units and performance
shares, or similar instruments may belreceived or purchased. It excludes the Canada

Pension Plan, similar governme ns and group life, health, hospitalization, medical
reimbursement and relocati ns that are available generally to all salaried
employees (for example, d ot discriminate in scope, terms or operation in favour of

executive officers or dire

"replacemen g means the grant of an option or SAR reasonably related to
any prior or pote% ncellation of an option or SAR,;

repr of an option or SAR means the adjustment or amendment of the
exercise price of a previously awarded option or SAR. Any repricing occurring
throug&operaﬂon of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the previously
awar tion or SAR equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying

on or SAR is excluded; and

"stock appreciation right" or "SAR" means a right, granted by a company or any
of its subsidiaries as compensation for employment services or office to receive cash or
an issue or transfer of securities based wholly or in part on changes in the trading price
of publicly traded securities.
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If a term is used but not defined in this Form, refer to Part 1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. 24) and to Regulation 14-101
respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3). If a term is used in this Form and is defined in both
the securities statute of a local jurisdiction and in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, refer to section 1.4 of Policy Statement to

RegulatiOn 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
(Decision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12). Q\
1.4  In preparing this Form: (1/

)

(@) Determination of Most Highly Compensated Executivﬁi‘&#icers. The
determination of your company's most highly compensated executiy, icers is based
on the total annual salary and bonus of each executive officer d@"your company's
most recently completed financial year. 0

(b) Change in Status of a NEO During the %cial Year. If the NEO
served in that capacity during any part of a financi r for which disclosure is
required, disclose all of his or her compensation for t financial year.

(c) Exclusion Due to Unusual C '%ensation or Compensation for
Foreign Assignment. In limited circumstan gi:you can exclude disclosure of an
individual, other than a CEO or CFO, wh %ne of the 3 most highly compensated
executive officers. Factors to consider in detprmining to exclude an individual are

Q-
0] a payment or éamual of an unusually large amount of cash
compensation (such as bonu Y\f/commission) that is not part of a recurring
arrangement and is unlikely tg ue; or

(i) the a%?ent of additional amounts of cash compensation for
increased living experééue to an assignment outside of Canada.

(d) Allﬁpensaﬁon Covered. This Form requires disclosure of all plan
and non-plan ensation for each NEO, and each director in accordance with ltem
11. Except @pressly provided, no amount, benefit or right reported as compensation
for a fina@ear need be reported as compensation for any subsequent fiscal year.

%@ Sources of Compensation. Compensation to officers and directors must
i compensation from the company and its subsidiaries. Also, the company must
i de in the appropriate compensation category any compensation paid under an
understanding, arrangement or agreement existing among

0] any of

(A)  the company,
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(B) its subsidiaries, or
(C) an officer or director of the company or its subsidiary, and
(i) another entity,

for the purpose of the entity compensating the officer or directoi\for
employment services or office. ‘.1/

If the company’s executive management is employed or retained sexternal
management company (including a subsidiary, affiliate or associate) aRd the company
has entered into an understanding, arrangement or agreement o@r\y kind for the
provision of executive management services by the external man ent company to
the company directly or indirectly, the company must discl@ any compensation
payable

(i)  directly by the company to any pe@& employed or retained by
the external management company who are acting a cutive officers and directors of
the company; and &

(iv) by the external manager)\gh' company to such persons that is
attributable to services rendered to the CO”}@V directly or indirectly.

() Compensation Furnis st0 Associates. Any compensation to an
associate, under an understanding agreement among any of the company, its
subsidiaries or another entity an fficer or director of the company or its subsidiary
for the purpose of the compafyf~its subsidiary or the other entity compensating the
officer or director for emplo nt services or office, must be included in the appropriate
compensation category.

(@) Alloc of Compensation — If the company’s executive management
is provided throu external management company, and the external management
company has potier clients in addition to the company, the company must disclose

either, O

Q? 0] the portion of the compensation paid to the officer or director by the
exter anagement company that can be attributed to services rendered to the

chggny; or
(i) the entire compensation paid by the external management
company to the officer or director.

If the company does allocate the compensation paid to the officer or director, it
should disclose the basis for the allocation.
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Item 2 Summary Compensation Table

2.1 Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards Payouts
NEO Year | Salary | Bonus | Other Annual Securities Shares of LTIP All Other
Name (b) %) ()] Compensation Under Units Subject | Payouts | Comp Mm
and (©) (d) $) Options / to Resale (%) %
Principal (e) SARs Restrictions (h) %
Position Granted %)
@ (#) © A
(0 D
CEO XXX3 ~\
XXX2 Q~
XXX1 A\'?\
CFO XXX3
XXX2 \->
XXX1 A_Q )
A XXX3 A&
XXX2 Q/
XXX1 Q
B XXX3
XXX2 &
XXX1 Pa
C XXX3
XXX2 Q\V
XXX1 O
v
Q«
1. Complete this table for eagh o¥the NEOs for your company's 3 most recently
completed financial years. Note #W$¥llowing:
- Columns (c) (d) - include any cash or non-cash base salary and

bonus earned by the NE or non-cash compensation, disclose the fair market value

of the compensation @time the compensation is earned. Amounts deferred at the

election of a NEO e included in the financial year in which earned. If the amount

of salary and/or g% earned in a given financial year is not calculable, that fact must

be disclosed i@f otnote and the amount must be disclosed in the subsequent financial
n

year in the c@j for the financial year in which earned.

Any salary or bonus earned in a covered year that was foregone, at the
elect of a NEO, under a program of your company under which non-cash
C\l ensation may be received in lieu of a portion of annual compensation, need not be
induded in the salary or bonus columns. Instead, you may disclose the non-cash
compensation in the appropriate column for that year (i.e. columns (f), (g) and (i)). If the
election was made under a LTIP and therefore is not reportable at the time of grant in
this table, a footnote must be added to the salary or bonus column disclosing this fact
and referring to the table in section 3.1.
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- Commissions can be treated as salary or bonus. You can add a footnote
to the table to indicate that such amounts are paid under a commission arrangement
and disclose details of the arrangement in the compensation committee report (Item 9).

- Column (e) - disclose all other compensation of the NEO that is not
properly categorized as salary or bonus, including

(@) Perquisites and other personal benefits, securities or X@erty,
unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than $50,000 an % of
the total of the annual salary and bonus of the NEO for the financial year %nerally, a
perquisite is the cost or value of a personal benefit provided to theg‘E'b that is not
available to all employees. Examples of things that could be perquisi@ e

- Car allowance ?\

- Car lease @Qp

- Cars QQ/
<O

NV

- Corporate aircraft
- Club membershj

- Financial %sl;ﬁtance to provide education to children
- FinanWounselling

- F@ing
- <>®f ax return preparation

Q e following are not considered perquisites and thus need not be

reported:
&

Q_ - Contributions to professional dues
QO - Canada Pension Plan or Québec Pension Plan
\é - Dental
- Employee relocation plans available to all employees
- Group life benefits available to all employees
- Long-term benefits available to all employees
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- Medical

Each perquisite or other personal benefit exceeding 25% of the
total perquisites and other personal benefits reported for a NEO must be identified by
type and amount in a footnote to column (e). Perquisites and other personal benefits
must be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to your company aNits
subsidiaries; ‘.1/

(b)  The above-market portion of all interest, dividezX or other
amounts paid concerning securities, options, stock appreciation rightsy(SARS), loans,
deferred compensation or other obligations issued to a NEO during t “Phnancial year or

payable during that period but deferred at the election of the NRQXAbove-market or
preferential means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily pai the company or its
subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the same ilar features issued
to third parties. Any above-market portion not reported in ¢ (e) should be reported
in column (i); Q

(© Earnings on LTIP compensatig&@dividend equivalents paid during
the financial year or payable during that period byt dsferred at the election of the NEO;

(d)  Amounts reimbursed ?‘@{} the financial year for the payment of
taxes;

“

(e) The difference bgtageen the price paid by a NEO for a security of
your company or its subsidiar] at was purchased from your company or its
subsidiaries and the fair mark e of the security at the time of purchase, unless the
discount was available g ally, either to all securityholders or to all salaried
employees of your comp

) Imputed interest benefits from loans provided to, or debts
incurred on beh ~the NEO by your company and its subsidiaries as computed in

accordance wigh e Income Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5" Suppl.)); and

) The amounts of loan or interest obligations of the NEO to your
compa@ s subsidiaries or third parties that were serviced or settled by the company
or it Sidiaries without the substitution of an obligation to repay the amount to the

cq@ga y or subsidiaries in its place.
N\

- Column (f) - includes the number of securities under option
(with or without SARs awarded with the options) and, separately, the number of
securities subject to freestanding SARs. The figures in this column for the most recent
fiscal year should equal those reported in the table in section 4.1, column (b). These
figures are not cumulative.
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- If at any time during the most recently completed financial
year your company repriced options or freestanding SARs previously awarded to a
NEO, disclose the repriced options or SARs as new options or SARs grants in
column (f).

- Column (g) - includes the dollar value (net of consideration
paid by the NEO) of any shares or units that are subject to restrictions on régale
(calculated by multiplying the closing market price of your company's freel %dlng
shares on the date of grant by the number of stock or stock units awarded). ¥'1/

)

- In a footnote to column (g) disclose 4'\

- the number and value of the aggregat dings of shares
and units that are subject to restrictions on resale at the e the most recently
completed financial year; Q.

- for any shares or units th subject to restrictions on
resale that will vest, in whole or in part, in less than rs from the date of grant, the
total number of securities awarded and the vestlng dule; and

- whether dividends Q{%Wldend equivalents will be paid on the
shares and units that are subject to restnct&;@ resale disclosed in the column.

- Column (h}llgncludes the dollar value of all payouts under
LTIPs.

- Aw, \of shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale that are subject t rformance-based conditions prior to vesting may be
disclosed as LTIP awardg u¥der the table in section 3.1 instead of under column (g). If
this approach is sele@nce the share or unit vests, it must be reported as an LTIP
payout in column (h

Q - If any specified performance target, goal or condition to
payout was g(aed regarding any amount included in LTIP payouts, disclose this fact in
a footnot&blumn (h)

<<O

\é (@) The amount paid, payable or accrued to a NEO for

- Column (i) - must include, but is not limited to,

(1) the resignation, retirement or other termination
of the NEO's employment with your company or one of its subsidiaries; or
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(i) a change in control of your company or one of
its subsidiaries or a change in the NEO's responsibilities following such a change in
control.

(b) The dollar value of the above-market portion OKaII
interest, dividends or other amounts earned during the financial year, or calcul with
respect to that period, excluding amounts that are paid during that period, or?ﬁable
during that period at the election of the NEO that were reported as c@h annual
compensation in column (e). See the description for column (e), i#ﬁ (b) for an

explanation of the above market portion. Q‘

(c) The dollar value of amo earned on LTIP
compensation during the financial year, or calculated with r t to that period, and
dividend equivalents earned during that period except t ounts paid during that
period, or payable during that period at the election of EO must be reported as

other annual compensation in column (e).

company or its subsidiaries to vested and sted defined contribution plans or
employee savings plans. These benefits t considered to be perquisites due to
their all-inclusive nature.

(d)  Annual contriEu’tﬁbns or other allocations by the

)

(e) The"@%ar value of any insurance premium paid by, or
on behalf of, your company or its\sybsidiaries during the financial year with respect to
term life insurance for the fit of a NEO. If there is an arrangement or
understanding, whether for or informal, that the NEO has received or will receive or
be allocated an interest&%‘cash surrender value under the insurance policy, either

premiums paid b

O (1) the full dollar value of the remainder of the
QQ'Un behalf of, the company or its subsidiaries; or

Q/ (i) if the premiums will be refunded to the
company gy ¥ subsidiaries on termination of the policy, the dollar value of the benefit to
the NE the remainder of the premium paid by, or on behalf of, the company or its
subsi,dres during the financial year. This benefit must be determined for the period,

pi&cted on an actuarial basis, between payment of premium and the refund.

A\

() If the NEO's compensation takes the form of a
contribution to assist in the NEO's purchase of shares, the amount of the contribution,
unless the contribution was available generally, either to all securityholders or to all
salaried employees of the company.
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- The same method of reporting under this paragraph must be
used for each NEO. If your company changes methods of reporting from one year to the
next, that fact and the reason for the change must be disclosed in a footnote to
column (i).

- The following need not be reported in column (i):

*

N
0] LTIP awards and amounts received on ex?@e of
options and SARs; and

)
(i) information on defined benefit and acikar%l plans.

2. The $150,000 threshold only applies to the most recent fisc&r in determining

the NEOs. 0

3. If, during any of the financial years covered by th e, your company or its
subsidiaries did not employ a NEO for the entire financi , disclose this fact and the
number of months the NEO was so employed during fhe%ear in a footnote to the table.

4. If during any of the financial years cﬁared by the table, a NEO was
compensated by a non-subsidiary affiliate of »@r company, disclose in a note to the

table (19

(@ the amount and nature (}&/@eh compensation; and

(b)  whether the compe jon is included in the compensation reported in the
table.
s?e“ct to a financial year-end prior to the most recently

d need not be provided if your company was not a reporting
such prior financial year.

5. Information with
completed financial ye
issuer at any time d
ltem 3

@&Wards Table

3.1 LTQg-\R/ards In Most Recently Completed Financial Year
O

(#)
(b)

Until Maturation
or Payout

(©)

(d)

(e)

N Estimated Future Payouts Under
Non-Securities-Price-Based Plans
@ Name Securities, Units Performance or Threshold Target Manimum
@ or Other Rights Other Period ($or#) ($or#) (Sor#)

(f)

CEO

CFO
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B

C

1. Complete this table for each LTIP award made to the NEOs during the most
recently completed financial year. Note the following:

- Column (b) - Include the number of securities, units or other rjghts
awarded under any LTIP and, if applicable, the number of securities underl ﬁg ny
such unit or right. )‘i,

)
- Columns (d) to (f) - For plans not based on stock price, th Jb%r value of
the estimated payout or range estimated payouts under the award (th old, target and
maximum amount), whether such award is denominated in stock or&\ .

- Threshold is the minimum amount payableqﬁba certain level of
performance under the plan. @

- Target is the amount payable if the s Qﬁed performance target(s) is
reached. You should provide a representative am&ébased on the previous financial
year's performance if the target award is not determM\able.

- Maximum is the maximum pa @ossible under the plan.

2. Describe in a footnote to the tal@ Jhe material terms of any award, including a
general description of the formula ‘i criteria applied in determining the amounts
payable. You are not required to (Nsglose confidential information that would adversely
affect your company's competiti@%sition.

3. A grant of 2 instr nﬁ'ﬂs in conjunction with each other, only one of which is
under an LTIP, need beé&orted only in the table applicable to the other instrument.

O

Item 4 Op%and SARs

4.1 Opti()f) R Grants During The Most Recently Completed Financial Year
Pa)

NEO N Securities, % of Total Exercice of Base Market Value of Expiration
) Under Options / Price Securities Date
Q Options / | SARs Granted ($/Security) Underlying Options / )
% SARs to Employees (d) SARs on the Date of
\ Granted in Financial Grant
#) Year ($/Security)
(b) (©) (e)
CEO
CFO
A
B
C
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1. Complete this table for individual grants of options to purchase or acquire
securities of your company or any of its subsidiaries (whether or not in conjunction with
SARs) and freestanding SARs made during the most recently completed financial year
to each of NEO. Note the following:

- The information must be presented for each NEO in groups accQ@g to

each issuer and class or series of security underlying the options or SARs and

within these groups in reverse chronological order. For each grant, % ose in a
th

footnote the issuer and the class or series of securities underlyln options or
freestanding SARs granted. Q‘

- If more than one grant of options or freestandin Rs was made to a
NEO during the most recently completed financial year, a se row must be used to
provide the particulars of each grant. However, multiple gy, uring a single financial
year to a NEO can be aggregated if each grant was on the same terms (eg.

exercise price, expiration date and vesting thresholdsd y).

- A single grant of options or fre ing SARs must be reported as
separate grants for each tranche with a dn‘fer ?i«ermse or base price, expiration date
or performance-vesting threshold.

exercisability, the number of SARs, Idend equivalents, performance units or other
instruments granted in conjuncti ith options, a performance-based condition to
exercisability, a re-load featur, tax-reimbursement feature must be disclosed in a
footnote to the table. ?“

- Options estanding SARs granted in an option repricing transaction
must be disclosed. 6

- Each material term of t &’@ﬁant including but not limited to the date of

- I tfg exercise or base price is adjustable over the term of an option or
freestandingéﬂk> in accordance with a prescribed standard or formula, include in a
footnote LQ_ table, a description of the standard or formula.
% If any provision of an option or SAR (other than an anti-dilution provision)
ause the exercise or base price to be lowered, a description of the provision and
|t otential consequences must be included in a footnote to the table.

- In determining the grant date market value of the securities underlying
options or freestanding SARS, use either the closing market price or any other formula
prescribed under the option or SAR plan. For options or SARs granted prior to the
establishment of a trading market in the underlying securities, the initial offering price
may be used.
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4.2 Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises During The Most Recently Completed
Financial Year And Financial Year-End Option/SAR Values

NEO Name Securities, Aggregate Value Unexercised Value of Unexercised
@ Acquired on Realized Options / SARs at | in-the-Money Options /
Exercice (3) %) FY-End SARs at FY-End
(b) (©) #) $)
Exercisable / Exercisab ’\ ¢
Unexercisable Unexerc&o@
(d) (e)
CEO Q-
CFO KN
A ~\
B Yo
C O
\Y

options) and freestanding SARs during the most recentl pleted financial year by
each NEO and the financial year-end value of unexer. options and SARs, on an
aggregated basis. Note the following: O

- Column (c) - the aggregate dollar /% realized upon exercise. The dollar
value is equal to column (b) times the dl& e between the market value of the
securities underlying the options or SARs rcise or financial year-end, respectively,
and the exercise or base price of the op o r SARSs.

1. Complete this table for each exercise of options (?’@&RS awarded with the

- Column (d) - the tota@foer of securities underlying unexercised options
and SARs held at the end of ost recently completed financial year, separately
identifying the exercisable an exercisable options and SARs.
he aggregate dollar value of in-the-money, unexercised
the end of the financial year, separately identifying the

exercisable and u isable options and SARs. The dollar value is calculated the
same way as in n (c). Options or freestanding SARs are in-the-money at financial

year-end if thg,market value of the underlying securities on that date exceeds the
exercise or price of the option or SAR
S

- Column (e
options and SARs
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Item 5 Option and SAR Repricings
5.1 Table of Option and SAR Repricings
NEO Date of Securities Market Exercise Price | New Exercise Length of Original
Name | Repricing Uner Price of at Time of Price Option Term
@ (b) Options / Securities Repricing or ($/Security) () | Remaining at,Date
SARS at Time of Amendment of Reprig ¢
Repriced | Repricing or | ($/Security) Ame t
or Amendment (e) (9
Amended | ($/Security) Q )
(#) (c) (@) N
CEO JRRN
CFO ~
A =
B RO)
C R N
1. Complete this table if at any time during the m cently completed financial

year, your company has repriced downward any optj
any NEO.

2.

held by any NEO during the shorter of

3.

disclosed even if the cor:
replacement grant is

terms of the grant i

4.

series of s

chronologf

5.

R
P

tnote to the table.

Ko

State the following information for all G{\knward repricings of options or SARs

(@ the 10 year period endirﬁ/@‘the date of this Form; and
(b)

Information about a

r freestanding SARs held by

the period during \b(your company has been a reporting issuer.
éacement grant made during the financial year must be

sponding original grant was cancelled in a prior year. If the
ade at the current market value, describe this fact and the

The inf gtion must be presented in groups according to issuer and class or

underlying options or SARs and within these groups in reverse

rder.

pa narrative immediately before or after this table, explain in reasonable detail
Sis for all downward repricings during the most recently completed financial year

<
i\t

ons and SARs held by any of the NEOs.
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ltem 6 Defined Benefit or Actuarial Plan Disclosure

6.1 Pension Plan Table

Remuneration Years of Service

$) 15 20 25 30 35

125,000 .

150,000 [

175,000 (L)J

200,000

N
250,000 A

300,000 '

400,000 AN

<&
[insert additional rows as appropriate for additional increments] 0?‘

1. Complete this table for defined benefit or actuarial p %nder which benefits are
determined primarily by final compensation (or averageg(r compensation) and years
of service. The estimated annual benefits payable u etirement (including amounts

attributable to any defined benefit supplementary cess pension awards plan) for
the specified compensation and years of service(i/ Id be disclosed .
2. Immediately following the table discl %'\

(@) the compensation cover @y the plan(s), including the relationship of the
covered compensation to the compe Ion reported in the table in section 2.1;

compensation differs subst Ily (by more than 10%) from that set out in the table in

(b)  the current com @tion covered by the plan for any NEO whose total
section 2.1; $ ;

example; straigh nnuity amounts), and whether or not the benefits listed in the
table are subjgct any deduction for social security or other offset amounts such as
Canada Pe lan or Québec Pension Plan amounts; and

(© a stafz@w as to the basis upon which benefits are computed (for

@2 the estimated credited years of service for each NEO.

3 %ompensation disclosed in the table must allow for reasonable increases in
exsting compensation levels or, alternately, you may present, as the highest
compensation level in the table, an amount equal to 120% of the amount of covered
compensation of the most highly compensated of the NEOs.

4. For defined benefit or actuarial plans which are not reported in the table in
section 6.1 because the benefits are not determined primarily by final compensation (or
average final compensation) or years of service, state in narrative form
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(@ the formula by which benefits are determined; and

(b) the estimated annual benefits payable upon retirement at normal
retirement age for each of the NEOs.

Item 7 Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities &n.d
Employment Contracts ‘-1/

7.1 Describe the terms and conditions, including dollar amounts, of, &¢h of the
following contracts or arrangements which are in existence at the e f the most

recently completed financial year: Q‘

(@ any employment contract between your company Qr\{$ subsidiaries and a
NEO; and

(b) any compensatory plan, contract or arran %ﬂt, where a NEO is entitled
to receive more than $100,000 from the issuer or j bsidiaries, including periodic
payments or instalments, in the event of &

(1) the resignation, retireme ((}/any other termination of the NEO's
employment with your company and its sutﬁ@ﬁr es;

(i) a change of contr(Ql/@ your company or any of its subsidiaries; or
(i)  achangein ;WEO'S responsibilities following a change in control.

7.2 A cross reference t @c osure already made of any payments, instalments or
contributions to defined bgn&fit pension plans under Items 2 or 6 is permitted.

Item 8 Compg@on of the Compensation Committee

8.1 If any cgmPensation is reported in Items 2 to 6 for the most recently completed
financial yeﬁr%nmder the caption "Composition of the Compensation Committee”,
identify ember of your company's compensation committee (or other board
commi erforming equivalent functions or in the absence of any such committee, the
entir@rd of directors) during the most recently completed financial year. Also,
ir{@lt each committee member who

(@ was, during the most recently completed financial year, an officer or
employee of your company or any of its subsidiaries;

(b)  was formerly an officer of your company or any of its subsidiaries;
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(© had or has any relationship that requires disclosure by your company
under Form 51-102F5 Information Circular, Item 10 "Indebtedness of Directors and
Executive Officers" and Item 11 "Interest of Informed Persons in Material Transactions";

(d)  was an executive officer of your company and also served as a director or
member of the compensation committee (or other board committee performing
equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire boa'cL of
directors) of another issuer, one of whose executive officers served either ‘.19

0] on the compensation committee (or other boar ommittee
performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such commjttee, the entire
board of directors) of the issuer; or Q‘

(i)  as a director of the issuer. \)?“
before the report in Item 9 "Report on Executive Cq sation" is prepared, then

disclose the change in membership as well as any, he relationships described in
section 8.1, if any. &

8.2 If the composition of the compensation committee; gged during the year or

Item 9 Report on Executive Compens@n

9.1 If any compensation is reported in rtbms 2 to 6 for the most recently completed
financial year, describe under the cgQ# "Report on Executive Compensation” the
policies of the compensation committé&r):’)ther board committee performing equivalent
functions, or in the absence of g ch committee then of the entire board of directors
of your company, during the recently completed financial year, for determining
compensation of executive ers. Boilerplate language should be avoided.

9.2  This report sho lude a discussion of

@) theﬁ'ﬂve emphasis of your company on cash compensation, options,
SARs, securitigs Burchase programs, shares or units that are subject to restrictions on
resale and &chentive plans, and annual versus long-term compensation;

2 whether the amount and terms of outstanding options, SARs, shares and
units% lect to restrictions on resale were taken into account when determining

W@I r and how many new option grants would be made;
(c) the specific relationship of your company's performance to executive
compensation, and, in particular, describing each measure of your company's

performance, whether quantitative or qualitative, on which executive compensation was
based and the weight assigned to each measure, e.g. percentage ranges; and
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(d) the waiver or adjustment of the relevant performance criteria and the
bases for the decision if an award was made to a NEO under a performance-based plan
despite failure to meet the relevant performance criteria. For example, you should
explain how bonuses are earned and why they were awarded this period, if applicable.

9.3 The report should state the following information about each CEO's
compensation: Q\ .

(@) the bases for the CEO's compensation for the most recently corgpleted
financial year, including the factors and criteria upon which the CEO's (ic\ma'ensation
was based and the relative weight assigned to each factor;

(b) the competitive rates, if compensation of the Cig" was based on
assessments of competitive rates, with whom the comparison ade, the nature of,
and the basis for, selecting the group with which the compari as made and at what
level in the group the compensation was placed. Dis @ if different competitive
standards were used for different components of the CE %pompensation; and

(© the relationship of your compa;@ performance to the CEO's
compensation for the most recently completed figaneial year, describing each measure
of your company's performance, whether quar.t'{ir&ve or qualitative, on which the CEQO's
compensation was based and the weigh %s gned to each measure, for example,
percentage ranges. (L[/

“
9.4 Name each member of your c&b%ny's compensation committee (or other board
committee performing equivalen tions or, in the absence of any such committee,
the entire board of directors e board of directors modified or rejected in any
material way any action or Qmmendation by the committee with respect to decisions
in the most recently complet¥d financial year, the report should indicate this fact, explain
the reasons for the b& action and include the names of all of the members of the

board.
Q.

95 Ifaco sation committee member dissents concerning the content of the
report, the r, %}rmust identify the dissenting member and the reasons provided to the
committquﬁ?he dissent.

9.6 @closure of target levels with respect to specific quantitative or qualitative
peirmance-related factors considered by the committee (or board), or any factors or
CN®ria involving confidential information is not required.

9.7 If compensation of executive officers is determined by different board
committees, a joint report may be presented indicating the separate committee's
responsibilities and members of each committee or alternatively separate reports may
be prepared for each committee.
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Item 10 Performance Graph

10.1 If any compensation is reported in response to Items 2 to 6 for the most recently
completed financial year, immediately after Item 9, provide a line graph called
"Performance Graph" comparing

(@) the yearly percentage change in your company's cumulative nqtal
shareholder return on each class or series of equity securities that are publicly.ll@ied,
as measured in accordance with section 10.2, with

)
(b)  the cumulative total return of a broad equity market%&d’&gassuming
reinvestment of dividends, that includes issuers whose securities raded on the
same exchange or are of comparable market capitalization, p ed that, if your
company is within the S&P/TSX Composite Index, you must useNNe total return index
value of the S&P/TSX Composite Index. Q.

10.2 The yearly percentage change in your companﬁ%amulative total shareholder
return on a class or series of securities must be measts by dividing

(@  the sum of &

%

0] the cumulative amou @'}ividends for the measurement period,
assuming dividend reinvestment, and

Q«
(i) the difference be@been the price for the securities of the class or
series at the end and the beginni the measurement period, by

(b)  the price for %gsecurities of the class or series at the beginning of the
measurement period.

At the meas ent point, which is the beginning of the measurement period,
the closing price be converted into a fixed investment of $100 in your company's

securities (or ip th8 securities represented by a given index), with cumulative returns for
each subse financial year measured as a change from that investment.

10.3 @%paring the required graphic comparisons,

® a) use, to the extent feasible, comparable methods of presentation and
asQumptions for the total return calculations, provided that, if your company constructs
its own peer group index under section 10.5(b), the same methodology must be used in
calculating both your company's total return and that of the peer group index;

(b) assume the reinvestment of dividends into additional securities of the
same class or series at the frequency with which dividends are paid on the securities
during the applicable financial year; and
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(c) each financial year should be plotted with points showing the cumulative
total return as of that point. The value of the investment as of each point plotted on a
given return line is the number of securities held at that point multiplied by the then-
prevailing security price.

financial years, and may choose to graph a longer period but the $100 mea ent
point remains the same. A period shorter than 5 years may be used if the class obseries
of securities forming the basis for the comparison has been publicly trade(;\@a shorter

time period. 4

10.5 You also may elect to include in the graph a line charting&umulaﬁve total
return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, of 0

10.4 You must present information for your company's last 5 most recently comg)&ted

prepared by a party other than your company or its aff and is accessible to your
company's securityholders, provided that, you may, an index prepared by your
company or its affiliate if such index is widely recog{ and used;

(@) a published industry or line-of-business indg ich is any index that is

(b) peer issuer(s) selected in good fp\th{ If you do not select your company's
peer issuers on an industry or line-of-busj @ asis, you must disclose the basis for
your selection; or H/

Q-

(c) issuer(s) with similar mgrl{et capitalization(s), but only if you do not use a
published industry or line-of-bu Ws index and do not believe you can reasonably
identify a peer group. If you s alternative, the graph must be accompanied by a
statement of the reasons fov selection.

market capitalizatio e identity of those issuers must be disclosed and the returns of
each componeng r of the group must be weighted according to the respective
issuer's mark pitalization at the beginning of each period for which a return is

indicated. O

10.6 If you use pee;@ler comparisons or comparisons with issuers with similar

10.7 lection to use an additional index under section 10.5 is considered to apply
inr of all subsequent financial years unless abandoned by your company in
a nce with this section. To abandon the index, your company must have, in the

i mation circular or AIF for the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year

(a) stated its intention to abandon the index;

(b)  explained the reason(s) for this change; and
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(© compared your company's total return with that of the elected additional
index.

10.8 You may include comparisons using performance measures in addition to total
return, such as return on average common shareholders' equity, so long as your
company's compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent
functions or in the absence of any such committee the entire board of diredtqrs)
describes the link between that measure and the level of executive compensati the

report required by Item 9.
Q‘\
N

Item 11 Compensation of Directors 4
11.1 Disclose the following under the "Compensation of Directors&jing:

(@) any standard compensation arrangements, st amounts, earned by
directors of your company for their services as directors your company and its
subsidiaries during the most recently completed financ@ar, including any additional
amounts payable for committee participation or speci631 ignments;

(b)  any other arrangements, stating t e’%mounts paid and the name of the
director, under which directors were compenspgt for their services as directors from
your company and its subsidiaries during %most recently completed financial year;
and

)

(© any other arrangementgl,stating the amounts paid and the name of the
director, under which directors ur company were compensated for services as
consultants or experts, by yo pany and its subsidiaries during the most recently
completed financial year. ?“

11.2 If information regqed by section 11.1 is provided in response to another item of
this Form, a cross-@ nce to where the information is provided satisfies section 11.1.

ltem 12 @ﬁorporated Issuers

12.1 Ungvborated issuers must report

@ a description of and amount of fees or other compensation paid by the
isad&r Yo individuals acting as directors or trustees of the issuer for the most recently
cdnpleted financial year; and

(b) a description of and amount of expenses reimbursed by the issuer to such
individuals as directors or trustees during the most recently completed financial year.

12.2 The information required by this Item may be disclosed in the issuer's annual
financial statements instead.
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ltem 13 Venture Issuers

13.1 A venture issuer may omit the disclosure required by Items 5, 6, 8, 9 and 10. A
venture issuer must, in a narrative that accompanies the table required in section 4.1,
disclose which grants of options or SARSs result from repricing and explain in reasonable
detail the basis for the repricing. N\

Item 14 Issuers Reporting in the United States (1/
)

14.1 Except as provided in section 14.2, SEC issuers may satisfy the eqtirements of

this Form by providing the information required by Item 402 "Execu% ompensation”
of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act. ?\

reign private issuer,
yon required by Items 6.B
nder the 1934 Act.

14.2 Section 14.1 is not available to an issuer that, as
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the infor,
"Compensation" and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" of Form
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FORM 51-102F6 STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION (in respect of
financial years ending on or after December 31, 2008)

ITEM 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
1.1 Objective

All direct and indirect compensation provided to certain executive offi;ﬁand
directors for, or in connection with, services they have provided to the compat or a
subsidiary of the company must be disclosed in this form. '\Q‘\

company paid, made payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwy rovided to each

The objective of this disclosure is to communicate the@ensation the
NEO and director for the financial year, and the decision-m.%iry process relating to

compensation. This disclosure will provide insight into executi mpensation as a key
aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of ompany and will help
investors understand how decisions about executive co ation are made.

A company’s executive compensation disclg gl@under this form must satisfy this
objective and subsections 9.3.1(1) or 11.6(1) of gulation.

1.2  Definitions Q

If a term is used in this form b gnot defined in this section, refer to subsection
1.1(1) of the Regulation or to Regulat 4-101 respecting Definitions (c. V-1.1, r. 3).

In this form,
QQ~

"CEQ" means an i dmaual who acted as chief executive officer of the company,
or acted in a similar c@, for any part of the most recently completed financial
year,

"CFO" s an individual who acted as chief financial officer of the company,
or acted in %ﬂar capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year;

g market price” means the price at which the company’s security was last
sold Q‘n e applicable date,

N (a) in the security’s principal marketplace in Canada, or

(b) if the security is not listed or quoted on a marketplace in Canada, in the
security’s principal marketplace;

"company" includes other types of business organizations such as partnerships,
trusts and other unincorporated business entities;
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"equity incentive plan” means an incentive plan, or portion of an incentive plan,
under which awards are granted and that falls within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment;

"external management company” includes a subsidiary, affiliate or associate of
the external management company; N\

Q

"grant date" means a date determined for financial statement reporting puposes

under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; '\Q‘\
“incentive plan” means any plan providing compensation depends on
achieving certain performance goals, or similar conditions within a Ifled period;

"Incentive plan award" means compensation awarded@ed, paid, or payable
under an incentive plan;

"NEQO" or "named executive officer" means ea%g(the following individuals:

(@ acCEO; &
N

(b) aCFO; Q
YV

(c) each of the 3 most highl mpensated executive officers of the company,
including any of its subsidiaries, or t most highly compensated individuals acting in
a similar capacity, other than t EO and CFO, at the end of the most recently
completed financial year w total compensation was, individually, more than
$150,000, as determined irv cordance with subsection 1.3(6), for that financial year;
and

(d) eachi ual who would be an NEO under paragraph (c) but for the fact
that the |nd|V|du neither an executive officer of the company or its subsidiaries,
nor acting in aé/ ar capacity, at the end of that financial year,;

"n gﬂjity incentive plan" means an incentive plan or portion of an incentive
plan th&ot an equity incentive plan;

option-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan of options,
ding, for greater certainty, share options, share appreciation rights, and similar
instruments that have option-like features;

"plan” includes any plan, contract, authorization, or arrangement, whether or not

set out in any formal document, where cash, securities, similar instruments or any other
property may be received, whether for one or more persons;
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"replacement grant” means an option that a reasonable person would consider to
be granted in relation to a prior or potential cancellation of an option;

“repricing” means, in relation to an option, adjusting or amending the exercise or
base price of the option, but excludes any adjustment or amendment that equally affects
all holders of the class of securities underlying the option and occurs through the
operation of a formula or mechanism in, or applicable to, the option; N\

Q
"share-based award" means an award under an equity incentive plan o‘f.lequity-
based instruments that do not have option-like features, including, for gre @o«artainty,
common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, deferred shar u?r}ts, phantom
shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent units and stoé

1.3  Preparing the form \)?”
(1)  All compensation to be included é‘

(@  When completing this form, the compa ust disclose all compensation
paid, payable, awarded, granted, given, or otherwj &rovided, directly or indirectly, by
the company, or a subsidiary of the compa td each NEO and director, in any
capacity, including, for greater certainty, all plap\ d non-plan compensation, direct and
indirect pay, remuneration, economic 0 (@ancial award, reward, benefit, gift or
perquisite paid, payable awarded, granted[,‘bn'ven, or otherwise provided to the NEO or
director for services provided and for e@oes to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the
company or a subsidiary of the compzﬂy.

\), in respect of the Canada Pension Plan, similar
ife, health, hospitalization, medical reimbursement and
relocation plans that do Rt XliScriminate in scope, terms or operation and are generally
available to all sala&%employees, the company is not required to disclose as
compensation

(b) Despite paragr
government plans, and gr

% any contributions or premiums paid or payable by the company on
behalf of an(i) . or of a director, under these plans, and

Q (i) any cash, securities, similar instruments or any other property
recet y an NEO, or by a director, under these plans.

\é (c) For greater certainty, the plans described in paragraph (b) include plans
that provide for such benefits after retirement.

(d) If an item of compensation is not specifically mentioned or described in

this form, it is to be disclosed in column (h) ("All other compensation™) of the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.
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(2) Departures from format

(@)  Although the required disclosure must be made in accordance with this
form, the disclosure may

0] omit a table, column of a table, or other prescribed information, if it
does not apply, and N\

(i) add a table, column, or other information if Q"l/
)

(A)  necessary to satisfy the objective in section il'%nd

(B) to a reasonable person, the table umn, or other
information does not detract from the prescribed inform@in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1.

(b) Despite paragraph (a), a company must n%@a column in the summary
compensation table in section 3.1. O

If an NEO acted in that capacity for '}mpany during part of the financial year
for which disclosure is required in the su ry compensation table, provide details of
all of the compensation that the NEO wed from the company for that financial year.
This includes compensation the NE arned in any other position with the company
during the financial year. \\/

3) Information for full financial year

Do not annualize co nsation in a table for any part of a year when an NEO
was not in the service o$e company. Annualized compensation may be disclosed in a

footnote.
O

4) External r@a’gement companies

@) e or more individuals acting as an NEO of the company are not
employe e company, disclose the names of those individuals.

&9 If an external management company employs or retains one or more
i {dbals acting as NEOs or directors of the company and the company has entered
i%an understanding, arrangement or agreement with the external management
company to provide executive management services to the company directly or
indirectly, disclose any compensation that:

(1) the company paid directly to an individual employed, or retained by
the external management company, who is acting as an NEO or director of the
company;
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and

(i) the external management company paid to the individual that is
attributable to the services they provided to the company directly or indirectly.

(c) If an external management company provides the company’s execb(ive
management services and also provides executive management services to ther
company, disclose the entire compensation the external management companﬁd to
the individual acting as an NEO or director, or acting in a similar capacity, 'r@mnection
with services the external management company provided to the c m’bany, or the
parent or a subsidiary of the company. If the management co& allocates the

compensation paid to an NEO or director, disclose the basis or odology used to

allocate this compensation. 0
Commentary &E

An NEO may be employed by an external ement company and provide
services to the company under an understanding%n@ngement or agreement. In this
case, references in this form to the CEO or CFQ are references to the individuals who
performed similar functions to that of the CE ar CFO. They are generally the same
individuals who signed and filed annu%@ interim certificates to comply with
Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification” ¢y Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim
Filings (c. V-1.1, r. 27). “

('l/

(5) Director and NEO comp Qa&ion

Disclose any compe Qion awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to each
director and NEO, in a apacity with respect to the company. Compensation to
directors and NEOS& include all compensation from the company and its
subsidiaries.

Disclos a<§/ compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to, an

NEO, or dir » in any capacity with respect to the company, by another person or
company,
(6) ermining if an individual is an NEO

\é For the purpose of calculating total compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to,
or payable to an individual under paragraph (c) of the definition of NEO,

@) use the total compensation that would be reported under column (i) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1 for each executive officer, as if
that executive officer were an NEO for the company’s most recently completed financial
year, and
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(b)  exclude from the calculation,

0] any compensation that would be reported under column (g) of the
summary compensation table required by section 3.1,

(i) any incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an execNive
officer that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that rred
during the most recently completed financial year, and

(i)  any cash compensation that relates to foreign asiign'ﬁﬁents that is
specifically intended to offset the impact of a higher cost of living in t reign location,
and is not otherwise related to the duties the executive offi %erforms for the
company. %

Commentary @Q‘

The $150,000 threshold in paragraph (c) of efinition of NEO only applies
when determining who is an NEO in a company, %)st recently completed financial
year. If an individual is an NEO in the most rece ompleted financial year, disclosure
of compensation in prior years must be provida@iyother\mse required by this form even
if total compensation in a prior year is less @ 150,000 in that year.

(7 Compensation to associates Q«

Disclose any awards, ea , payments, or payables to an associate of an
NEO, or of a director, as a r f compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, or

payable to the NEO or the %‘ tor, in any capacity with respect to the company.

(8) New reporting&rs

(@) Dis&informaﬁon in the summary compensation table for the 3 most
recently complgted financial years since the company became a reporting issuer.

(b)diespite paragraph (a), do not provide information for a completed financial
year mpany was not a reporting issuer for any part of that financial year, unless
the ¢ ny became a reporting issuer as a result of a restructuring transaction.

\é (c) If the company was not a reporting issuer at any time during the most
recently completed financial year and the company is completing the form because it is
preparing a prospectus, discuss all significant elements of the compensation to be
awarded to, earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs of the company once it becomes a
reporting issuer, to the extent this compensation has been determined.

Commentary
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1. Unless otherwise specified, information required to be disclosed under this form
may be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles the company uses to
prepare its financial statements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (c. V-1.1, r. 25).

2. The definition of "director" under securities legislation includes an individualhqho

acts in a capacity similar to that of a director. ‘.1/

(9)  Currencies '\Q‘\
Companies must report amounts required by this form in Ca n dollars or in

the same currency that the company uses for its financial stateme\ A company must

use the same currency in the tables in sections 3.1, 4.1, 4.2, S4V5.2 and 7.1 of this

form. Q.

If compensation awarded to, earned by, paid to, @ayable to an NEO was in a
currency other than the currency reported in the presg(ib®d tables of this form, state the
currency in which compensation was awarded, e , paid, or payable, disclose the
currency exchange rate and describe the mneWodology used to translate the
compensation into Canadian dollars or the ;c\ ncy that the company uses in its
financial statements. (19

(10) Plain language Q«

Information required to be Q§glosed under this form must be clear, concise, and
presented in such a way th rovides a reasonable person, applying reasonable
effort, an understanding of, ?“

@) how de(@ about NEO and director compensation are made; and

(b) ho cific NEO and director compensation relates to the overall
stewardship a&/ vernance of the company.

Commeng)

@er to the plain language principles listed in section 1.5 of Policy Statement to
[2tion 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
( ision 2006-PDG-0223, 2006-12-12) for further guidance.

ITEM 2 COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2.1 Compensation discussion and analysis
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(2) Describe and explain all significant elements of compensation awarded to,
earned by, paid to, or payable to NEOs for the most recently completed financial year.
Include the following:

(@) the objectives of any compensation program or strategy;

(b)  what the compensation program is designed to reward,; Q\ .
N

(© each element of compensation;
(d)  why the company chooses to pay each element; 4

(e) how the company determines the amount (and, w&applicable, the
formula) for each element; and

() how each element of compensation and th pany’s decisions about
that element fit into the company’s overall compensatio% ctives and affect decisions
about other elements. O

(2) If applicable, describe any new actions .dedsions or policies that were made
after the end of the most recently complq&& financial year that could affect a
reasonable person’s understanding of an _%'Eps compensation for the most recently
completed financial year.

“
3) If applicable, clearly state the ‘t;bqgmhmark and explain its components, including
the companies included in the beWark group and the selection criteria.

4) If applicable, disclos&@r?o‘rmance goals or similar conditions that are based on
objective, identifiable megs¥res, such as the company’s share price or earnings per
share. If performance s or similar conditions are subjective, the company may
describe the perfor goal or similar condition without providing specific measures.

If the c %ny discloses performance goals or similar conditions that are non-
GAAP finarg%imeasures, explain how the company calculates these performance
goals or v_ conditions from its financial statements.

@mption

\) The company is not required to disclose performance goals or similar conditions
in respect of specific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors if a
reasonable person would consider that disclosing them would seriously prejudice the
company’s interests.

For the purposes of this exemption, a company’s interest’s are not considered to
be seriously prejudiced solely by disclosing performance goals or similar conditions if

214



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

those goals or conditions are based on broad corporate-level financial performance
metrics which include earnings per share, revenue growth, and earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization.

This exemption does not apply if it has publicly disclosed the performance goals
or similar conditions.

If the company is relying on this exemption, state this fact and exp @Why
disclosing the performance goals or similar conditions would seriously prejude the

company’s interests. N )
If the company does not disclose specific performance Is or similar
conditions, state what percentage of the NEO’s total compen relates to this

undisclosed information and how difficult it could be for the NEQ,§8 how likely it will be
for the company, to achieve the undisclosed performance goa milar condition.
(5) Disclose whether or not the board of directors Qa committee of the board,
considered the implications of the risks associated wjtMthe company’s compensation
policies and practices. If the implications were corL{ d, disclose the following:

(@) the extent and nature of the boaQI f directors’ or committee’ role in the
risk oversight of the company’s compensatj @o icies and practices;

(b)  any practices the comp suses to identify and mitigate compensation
policies and practices that could enc ge an NEO or individual at a principal business
unit or division to take inappropri excessive risks;

(c) any identified 'Qs arising from the company’s compensation policies and
practices that are reason &h’kely to have a material adverse effect on the company.

instruments, incl v for greater certainty, prepaid variable forward contracts, equity
swaps, collarsy oONunits of exchange funds, that are designed to hedge or offset a
decrease in %(et value of equity securities granted as compensation or held, directly
or indirec; G} the NEO or director.

Co mQQary

™ The information disclosed under section 2.1 will depend on the facts. Provide
enough analysis to allow a reasonable person, applying reasonable effort, to
understand the disclosure elsewhere in this form. Describe the significant principles
underlying policies and explain the decisions relating to compensation provided to an
NEO. Disclosure that merely describes the process for determining compensation or
compensation already awarded, earned, paid, or payable is not adequate. The

(6) Disclose wha@ or not an NEO or director is permitted to purchase financial
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information contained in this section should give readers a sense of how compensation
is tied to the NEO’s performance. Avoid boilerplate language.

2. If the company’s process for determining executive compensation is very simple,
for example, the company relies solely on board discussion without any formal
objectives, criteria and analysis, then make this clear in the discussion.

3. If the company used any benchmarking in determining compensatio %any
element of compensation, include the benchmark group and describe the
benchmark group and selection criteria are considered by the company to p@tevant.

4. The following are examples of items that will usually be sigr@at elements of

disclosure concerning compensation: ?\
- contractual or non-contractual arrangements, Y process changes or
any other matters that might cause the amounts disc for the most recently

completed financial year to be misleading if used n indicator of expected
compensation levels in future periods; Q

- the process for determining perquiﬁé&and personal benefits;

- policies and decisions abo '} adjustment or recovery of awards,
earnings, payments, or payables if the perfprmance goal or similar condition on which
they are based are restated or adjy @«to reduce the award, earning, payment, or
payable; Fl/

- the basis for S@ events that trigger payment for any arrangement

that provides for payment llowing or in connection with any termination or change
of control;

- any or change to any specified performance goal or similar
condition to pay any amount, including whether the waiver or change applied to

one or more specXied NEOs or to all compensation subject to the performance goal or
similar condﬁj&z

com tion absent attainment of the relevant performance goal or similar condition or
t dlice or increase the size of any award or payout, including if they exercised
ddretion and whether it applied to one or more named executive officers;

;;%Qz whether the board of directors can exercise a discretion, either to award

- whether the company will be making any significant changes to its
compensation policies and practices in the next financial year;

- the role of executive officers in determining executive compensation; and
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- performance goals or similar conditions in respect of specific quantitative
or qualitative performance-related factors for NEOs.

5. The following are examples of situations that could potentially encourage an
executive officer to expose the company to inappropriate or excessive risks:

- compensation policies and practices at a principal business unit oi\the
company or a subsidiary of the company that are structured significantly differe, han
others within the company;

)
- compensation policies and practices for certain executive fﬁﬁers that are
structured significantly differently than other executive officers within @ mpany;

- compensation policies and practices that do nqt XKlude effective risk
management and regulatory compliance as part of the per nce metrics used in
determining compensation; &

- compensation policies and practices where\the compensation expense to
executive officers is a significant percentage of the & any’'s revenue,

- compensation policies and practipélzthat vary significantly from the overall
compensation structure of the company; Q

- compensation policies fractices where incentive plan awards are
awarded upon accomplishment of aés while the risk to the company from that task
extends over a significantly Iongelxkeriod of time;

- compensation icles and practices that contain performance goals or
similar conditions that g@r eavily weighed to short-term rather than long-term
objectives; é

O

- inc plan awards that do not provide a maximum benefit or payout
limit to executi&/ ficers.

Th mples above are not exhaustive and the situations to consider will vary
dependf upon the nature of the company’s business and the company’s
com tion policies and practices.

Z@ Performance graph

(@) This section does not apply to

(1) venture issuers,

217



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM APRIL 20, 2012 TO FEBRUARY 10,
2013

(i) companies that have distributed only debt securities or non-
convertible, non-participating preferred securities to the public, and

(i)  companies that were not reporting issuers in any jurisdiction in

Canada for at least 12 calendar months before the end of their most recently completed

financial year, other than companies that became new reporting issuers as a result of a
restructuring transaction. Qr\ .

(b) Provide a line graph showing the company’s cumulative total shargholder

return over the 5 most recently completed financial years. Assume t @100 was
invested on the first day of the 5-year period. If the company has bgen®™a reporting
issuer for less than 5 years, use the period that the company ha@gen a reporting

issuer. ?\

Compare this to the cumulative total return of st one broad equity
market index that, to a reasonable person, would be an a riate reference point for
the company’s return. If the company is included in &P/TSX Composite Total
Return Index, use that index. In all cases, assume th idends are reinvested.

company’s compensation to executive officer rted under this form over the same

Discuss how the trend shown by {5 raph compares to the trend in the
period.

Commentary Q«

For section 2.2, companlew)/ also include other relevant performance goals or
similar conditions.

2.3 Share-based and R‘n based awards

Describe the .@ ess the company uses to grant share-based or option-based
awards to exec §¢officers. Include the role of the compensation committee and
executive offic rs setting or amending any equity incentive plan under which a share-
based or ops ased award is granted. State whether previous grants are taken into
account onsidering new grants.

2.4 Q(Qmpensation governance

NN Describe any policies and practices adopted by the board of directors to
determine the compensation for the company’s directors and executive officers.

(2) If the company has established a compensation committee

(@) disclose the name of each committee member and, in respect of each
member, state whether or not the member is independent or not independent;
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(b)  disclose whether or not one or more of the committee members has any
direct experience that is relevant to his or her responsibilities in executive
compensation;

(c) describe the skills and experience that enable the committee to make
decisions on the suitability of the company’s compensation policies and practices; ang .

(d) describe the responsibilities, powers and operation of the committ(‘e}(
4
3) If a compensation consultant or advisor has, at any time sinc.er&r{é‘ company’s
most recently completed financial year, been retained to assist the b@r of directors or
the compensation committee in determining compensation for a the company’s

directors or executive officers 0
(@) state the name of the consultant or advi nd a summary of the
mandate the consultant or advisor has been given; Q

(b)  disclose when the consultant or advi%@s originally retained; and

(c) if the consultant or advisor has p&&ided any services to the company, or
to its affiliated or subsidiary entities, g Qg any of its directors or members of
management, other than or in addition to copapensation services provided for any of the
company’s directors or executive offic @ “

0] state this facts{qd briefly describe the nature of the work,

(i) disclos @ether the board of directors or compensation committee
must pre-approve other s&ﬁces the consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates,
provides to the comp@lhe request of management, and

(d) ForQ of the two most recently completed financial year, disclose,
under the caption "Executive Compensation-Related Fees", the
aggregat billed by each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, for services
reIated@n etermining compensation for any of the company’s directors and executive
officeg,~ehd
\s (i) under the caption "All Other Fees", the aggregate fees billed for all
other services provided by each consultant or advisor, or any of its affiliates, that are not

reported under subparagraph (i) and include a description of the nature of the services
comprising the fees disclosed under this category.
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Commentary

For section 2.4, a director is independent if he or she would be independent
within the meaning of section 1.4 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committees

(c. V-1.1,r. 28).
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ITEM 3 SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

3.1 Summary compensation table

Despite paragraph 1.3(8)(a), for each NEO in the most recently completed
financial year, complete this table for each of the company’s 3 most recently completed

financial years that end on or after December 31, 2008. N\
A
Name and | Year Salary Share- Option- Non-equity incentive Pension All other l/ Total
principal (b) ($) based based plan compensation ($) value compensaig | compensation
position ©) awards awards (f %) $) @ %)
@) ®) 6) Annual Long- ) '\ ()

(d) (e) incentive term

{
plans incentive
(f1) plans ‘

CEO

(f2) \
>\
N
CFO - <@(}

:
N

Q-
('l))
Commentary \\/
Under subsection (1), mpany is not required to disclose comparative period
disclosure in accordance he requirements of either Form 51-102F6, which came
into force on March 30 4, as amended, or this form, in respect of a financial year

ending before Decen‘@ 1, 2008.

(2) In column@, include the dollar value of cash and non-cash base salary an NEO
earned duri financial year covered in the table (a covered financial year). If the
company t calculate the amount of salary earned in a financial year, disclose this
in a fo , along with the reason why it cannot be determined. Restate the salary
figur next time the company prepares this form, and explain what portion of the
restatdd figure represents an amount that the company could not previously calculate.
(% In column (d), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year.

4) In column (e), disclose the dollar amount based on the fair value of the award on
the grant date for a covered financial year. Include option-based awards both with or
without tandem share appreciation rights.
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(5) For an award disclosed in column (d) or (e), in a narrative after the table,

(@) describe the methodology used to calculate the fair value of the award on
the grant date, disclose the key assumptions and estimates used for each calculation,
and explain why the company chose that methodology, and

(b) if the fair value of the award on the grant date is different from th fair
value determined in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (accour“@ air
value), state the amount of the difference and explain the reasons for the differ

Commentary 4'\
1. This commentary applies to subsections (3), (4) and (5). ?g

2. The value disclosed in columns (d) and (e) of the sun@ compensation table
should reflect what the company paid, made payable, ded, granted, gave or
otherwise provided as compensation on the grant date 4f&{ivalue of the award) as set
out in comment 3, below. This value might differ from (N8 value reported in the issuer's
financial statements. &rb

3. While compensation practices vary, ;@e are generally 2 approaches that
boards of directors use when setting comp tion. A board of directors may decide the
value in securities of the company t e awarded or paid as compensation.
Alternatively, a board of directors ma @side the portion of the potential ownership of
the company to be transferred as cor%%ensation. A fair value ascribed to the award will
normally result from these appro

A company may c Qate this value either in accordance with a valuation
methodology identified i 2 Share-based Payment or in accordance with another
methodology set out i @ment 5 below.

4. In some ¢ he fair value of the award disclosed in columns (d) and (e) might

differ from the guntmg fair value. For financial statement purposes, the accounting

fair value aﬁﬂ is amortized over the service period to obtain an accounting cost
pensation expense), adjusted at year end as required.

(accountlQ~

5. %@ile the most commonly used methodologies for calculating the value of most

ty, f awards are the Black-Scholes-Merton model and the binomial lattice model,
panies may choose to use another valuation methodology if it produces a more

meaningful and reasonable estimate of fair value.

6. The summary compensation table requires disclosure of an amount even if the
accounting compensation expense is zero. The amount disclosed in the table should
reflect the fair value of the award following the principles described under comments 2
and 3, above.
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7. Column (d) includes common shares, restricted shares, restricted share units,
deferred share units, phantom shares, phantom share units, common share equivalent
units, stock, and similar instruments that do not have option-like features.

(6) In column (e), include the incremental fair value if, at any time during the covered
financial year, the company has adjusted, amended, cancelled, replaced or signific&Qtly
modified the exercise price of options previously awarded to, earned by, paj , or
payable to, an NEO. The repricing or modification date must be determ#fed in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. The methodology used t @mlate the
incremental fair value must be the same methodology used to calculate:te itial grant.

cts all holders of
ugh a pre-existing
dic adjustment of the
plan or award, or a

This requirement does not apply to any repricing that equall
the class of securities underlying the options and that occur
formula or mechanism in the plan or award that results in the
option exercise or base price, an antidilution provisio @
recapitalization or similar transaction. Q&/

(7 Include a footnote to the table quantifyin&%@ incremental fair value of any
adjusted, amended, cancelled, replaced or signiNcantly modified options that are
included in the table. 'zlf/

(8) In column (f), include the dollar (\)ezlue of all amounts earned for services
performed during the covered financi ar that are related to awards under non-equity
incentive plans and all earnings on a uch outstanding awards.

(@) If the relevant p \ance goal or similar condition was satisfied during a
covered financial year (i ing for a single year in a plan with a multi-year
performance goal or simi :%)“ndition), report the amounts earned for that financial year,
even if they are paya a later date. The company is not required to report these
amounts again in t mmary compensation table when they are actually paid to an

NEO. Q

(b) de a footnote describing and quantifying all amounts earned on non-

equity inrqw_ plan compensation, whether they were paid during the financial year,
were p@ le but deferred at the election of an NEO, or are payable by their terms at a
Iater@ /

\é (© Include any discretionary cash awards, earnings, payments, or payables
that were not based on predetermined performance goals or similar conditions that were
communicated to an NEO. Report any performance-based plan awards that include pre-
determined performance goals or similar conditions in column (f).

(d) In column (f1), include annual non-equity incentive plan compensation,
such as bonuses and discretionary amounts. For column (fl), annual non-equity
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incentive plan compensation relates only to a single financial year. In column (f2),
include all non-equity incentive plan compensation related to a period longer than one
year.

(9) In column (g), include all compensation relating to defined benefit or defined
contribution plans. These include service costs and other compensatory items such as
plan changes and earnings that are different from the estimated earnings for deﬁQed
benefit plans and abovemarket earnings for defined contribution plans. ‘.1/

This disclosure relates to all plans that provide for the payment of sion plan
benefits. Use the same amounts included in column (e) of the defined bgneht plan table

required by Item 5 for the covered financial year and the amounts inc in column (c)
of the defined contribution plan table as required by Item 5 for covered financial
year.

(20) In column (h), include all other compensation not rm&% in any other column of

this table. Column (h) must include, but is not limited to:

(@) perquisites, including property or ot Qersonal benefits provided to an
NEO that are not generally available to all emplQyeds, and that in aggregate are worth
$50,000 or more, or are worth 10% or more m NEQO's total salary for the financial
year. Value these items on the basis of th egate incremental cost to the company
and its subsidiaries. Describe in a footnoia/t e methodology used for computing the
aggregate incremental cost to the co .

State the type and nt of each perquisite the value of which exceeds
25% of the total value of per, #es reported for an NEO in a footnote to the table.
Provide the footnote informg{id for the most recently completed financial year only;

(b)  other po frement benefits such as health insurance or life insurance
after retirement;

(© &oss-ups" or other amounts reimbursed during the covered financial
year for the ent of taxes;

@? the incremental payments, payables, and benefits to an NEO that are
y, or result from, a scenario listed in section 6.1 that occurred before the end

trigg%
OQ\& overed financial year;
A\
(e) the dollar value of any insurance premiums paid or payable by, or on

behalf of, the company during the covered financial year for personal insurance for an
NEO if the estate of the NEO is the beneficiary;
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)] the dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid or payable on
share-based or option-based awards that were not factored into the fair value of the
award on the grant date required to be reported in columns (d) and (e);

(9) any compensation cost for any security that the NEO bought from the
company or its subsidiaries at a discount from the market price of the security (through
deferral of salary, bonus or otherwise). Calculate this cost at the date of purchase ahq n
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and ‘.1/

(h)  above-market or preferential earnings on compensation that R@ferred on
a basis that is not tax exempt other than for defined contribution plang coYered in the
defined contribution plan table in Item 5. Above-market or preferenygTapplies to non-
registered plans and means a rate greater than the rate ordinarily Q‘by the company
or its subsidiary on securities or other obligations having the 5{?5 or similar features
issued to third parties.

(1) any company contribution to a personalQ%??gs plan like a registered

retirement savings plan made on behalf of the NEO. O

1. Generally, there will be no incremen}ﬁa ments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario descpbed in section 6.1 that occurred before the
end of a covered financial year fo mpensation that has been reported in the
summary compensation table for th ost recently completed financial year or for a
financial year before the most re W completed financial year.

Commentary

If the vesting or pay lQO the previously reported compensation is accelerated,
or a performance goal o&ﬁmilar condition in respect of the previously reported
compensation is Waié&s a result of a scenario described in section 6.1, the
incremental paym payables, and benefits should include the value of the
accelerated bene&é"@f the waiver of the performance goal or similar condition.

2. Gen %/an item is not a perquisite if it is integrally and directly related to the

performa an executive officer’'s duties. If something is necessary for a person to
do his r job, it is integrally and directly related to the job and is not a perquisite,
evendy™also provides some amount of personal benefit.

\é If the company concludes that an item is not integrally and directly related to
performing the job, it may still be a perquisite if the item provides an NEO with any
direct or indirect personal benefit. If it does provide a personal benefit, the item is a
perquisite, whether or not it is provided for a business reason or for the company’s
convenience, unless it is generally available on a non-discriminatory basis to all
employees.
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Companies must conduct their own analysis of whether a particular item is a
perquisite. The following are examples of things that are often considered perquisites or
personal benefits. This list is not exhaustive:

- Cars, car lease and car allowance;
- Corporate aircraft or personal travel financed by the company; N\

- Jewellery; (1/
N

- Clothing;

4
- Artwork; Q‘
Ne
- Housekeeping services; Q.
e

- Club membership; QQ/
- Theatre tickets; &O

- Financial assistance to provide egl{(aation to children of executive officers;

- Parking; (19

!
- Personal financial or tax‘ﬁice;

- Security at pers@sidence or during personal travel; and

- Reimburse eys? of taxes owed with respect to perquisites or other
personal benefit. &

(11) In column&hclude the dollar value of total compensation for the covered
financial year@ each NEO, this is the sum of the amounts reported in columns (c)

through (h).O
(12) Qgfaeferred amounts must be included in the appropriate column for the

cove ancial year in which they are earned.

( If an NEO elected to exchange any compensation awarded to, earned by, paid
to, or payable to the NEO in a covered financial year under a program that allows the
NEO to receive awards, earnings, payments, or payables in another form, the
compensation the NEO elected to exchange must be reported as compensation in the
column appropriate for the form of compensation exchanged: Do not report it in the form
in which it was or will be received by the NEO. State in a footnote the form of awards,
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earnings, payments, or payables substituted for the compensation the NEO elected to
exchange.
3.2  Narrative discussion

Describe and explain any significant factors necessary to understand the
information disclosed in the summary compensation table required by section 3.1. N\

Commentary (1/

)
The significant factors described in section 3.2 will vary daer%ing on the
circumstances of each award but may include: Q‘

- the significant terms of each NEO’s emplq@?ﬁt agreement or
arrangement;

- any repricing or other significant changes %g terms of any share-based
or option-based award program during the most rece@ ompleted financial year; and

- the significant terms of any award ';%rted in the summary compensation
table, including a general description of thg\1 mula or criterion to be applied in
determining the amounts payable and the tihg schedule. For example, if dividends

will be paid on shares, state this, the applidable dividend rate and whether that rate is
preferential. "l, “
3.3 (Repealed) \\/

3.4  Officers who also a%?s directors

If an NEO is a director who receives compensation for services as a
director, include th @npensation in the summary compensation table and include a
footnote explaini@ﬂich amounts relate to the director role. Do not provide disclosure
for that NEO L@ Item 7.

ITEM 4 QQ-NCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS

4.1 @standing share-based awards and option-based awards

NN ' Complete this table for each NEO for all awards outstanding at the end of the
most recently completed financial year. This includes awards granted before the most

recently completed financial year. For all awards in this table, disclose the awards that
have been transferred at other than fair market value.
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Option-based Awards Share-based Awards
Name | Number of Option Option Value of Number | Market or | Market or
@ securities exercice | expiration | unexercised of payout payout
underlying price date in-the- shares value of value of
unexercised (%) (c) (d) money or units share- vested
options options of based share-
#) (%) shares awards based
(b) (e) that that have awa’s%s,
have not not n axd
vested vested ( iyor
#) ()] disYributed

(") ©) ,\Q) N )

{ (h)

CEO A\
CFO L
A *\‘w‘
B o)
C ,,‘(j

éE‘O
(2) In column (b), for each award, disclose the r of securities underlying
unexercised options. O

(3) In column (c), disclose the exercise or b'tﬁse price for each option under each
award reported in column (b). If the option wad\g¥anted in a different currency than that
reported in the table, include a footnote péribing the currency and the exercise or
base price.

)
4) In column (d), disclose the\e/x%ation date for each option under each award
reported in column (b). Q}

(5) In column (e), disclo@e aggregate dollar amount of in-the-money unexercised
options held at the end€Qf the year. Calculate this amount based on the difference
between the market of the securities underlying the instruments at the end of the
year, and the exer¢ base price of the option.

(6) In colu%%, disclose the total number of shares or units that have not vested.

(7 In ?g%nn (9), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of share-
base @1 ds that have not vested.

If the share-based award provides only for a single payout on vesting, calculate
ths value based on that payout.

If the share-based award provides for different payouts depending on the
achievement of different performance goals or similar conditions, calculate this value
based on the minimum payout. However, if the NEO achieved a performance goal or
similar condition in a financial year covered by the share-based award that on vesting
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could provide for a payout greater than the minimum payout, calculate this value based
on the payout expected as a result of the NEO achieving this performance goal or
similar condition.

(8) In column (h), disclose the aggregate market value or payout value of vested
share-based awards that have not yet been paid out or distributed.
r\.

4.2 Incentive plan awards — value vested or earned during the year (19

(1) Complete this table for each NEO for the most recently completed fip\@fﬁl year.
|

Name Option-based awards- Share-based awards - Value Non-egﬁincentive plan

@ Value vested during the vested during the year cQ ation - Value
year ()] during the year
(%) (c) 6 (%)
(b) PN (d)
CEO )
CFO I\,
A X
B N ¢
C N~
(2) In column (b), disclose the aggregate r value that would have been realized

if the options under the option-based awdrpiad been exercised on the vesting date.
Compute the dollar value that would haxe, been realized by determining the difference
between the market price of the und’%ng securities at exercise and the exercise or
base price of the options under Qe option-based award on the vesting date. Do not
include the value of any rela@ yment or other consideration provided (or to be
provided) by the company to Qo behalf of an NEO.

3) In column (c), diﬁe the aggregate dollar value realized upon vesting of share-
based awards. Comp e dollar value realized by multiplying the number of shares or

units by the mark e of the underlying shares on the vesting date. For any amount
realized upon ve for which receipt has been deferred, include a footnote that states
the amount e terms of the deferral.

4.3 !@mive discussion

escribe and explain the significant terms of all plan-based awards, including
@quity incentive plan awards, issued or vested, or under which options have been
exercised, during the year, or outstanding at the year end, to the extent not already
discussed under sections 2.1, 2.3 and 3.2. The company may aggregate information for
different awards, if separate disclosure of each award is not necessary to communicate
their significant terms.

Commentary
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The items included in the narrative required by section 4.3 will vary depending on
the terms of each plan, but may include:

- the number of securities underlying each award or received on vesting or
exercise;

- general descriptions of formula or criteria that are used to d Ine
amounts payable; -exercise prices and expiry dates; Q
\ )

- dividend rates on share-based awards; \\
- whether awards are vested or unvested; ?g
- performance goals or similar conditions, or other@)ﬁcam conditions;

- information on estimated future payouts Q/non-equity incentive plan
awards (performance goals or similar conditions and 6%11um amounts); and

- the closing market price on the gr te if the exercise or base price is
less than the closing market price of the underIK?%securlty on the grant date.

ITEM 5 PENSION PLAN BENEFITS(I/
5.1 Defined benefit plans table (l/

(2) Complete this table for S|on plans that provide for payments or benefits at,
following, or in connection retirement, excluding defined contribution plans. For all
disclosure in this table he same assumptions and methods used for financial
statement reporting @es under the accounting principles used to prepare the
company's financi tements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Acco&@ Principles and Auditing Standards.

Nu vy Annual Opening | Compensatory Non- Closing present
of benefits present change compensatory | value of defined
ed | payable ($) value of (%) change benefit
Nam rvice (© defined (e) ()] obligation
a) #) At At benefit (f) ()]
é (b) year | age | obligation )
end 65 %)
(c1) | (c2) (d)
CEO
CFO
A
B
C
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(2) In columns (b) and (c), the disclosure must be as of the end of the company's
most recently completed financial year. In columns (d) through (g), the disclosure must
be as of the reporting date used in the company's audited annual financial statements
for the most recently completed financial year.

3) In column (b), disclose the number of years of service credited to an NEO under
the plan. If the number of years of credited service in any plan is different fro
NEO's number of actual years of service with the company, include a footr‘y’ﬁ at
states the amount of the difference and any resulting benefit augmentatlon suchvas the
number of additional years the NEO received.

4) In column (c), disclose Qﬂ

(@ the annual lifetime benefit payable at the en the most recently
completed financial year in column (cl) based on years of ckédl¥d service reported in
column (b) and actual pensionable earnings as at th of the most recently
completed financial year. For purposes of this calculatj e company must assume

that the NEO is eligible to receive payments or benefié year end, and

(b)  the annual lifetime benefit payab /ésage 65 in column (c2) based on
years of credited service as of age 65 and actpal{gensionable earnings through the end
of the most recently completed financial ye(a,&s per column (cl).

Commentary “

('l/

For purposes of quantifyj annual lifetime benefit payable at the end of the
most recently completed finag year in column (cl), the company may calculate the

annual lifetime benefit paga% s follows:

Q‘ years of credited service at year end
annual benefi able at the presumed X
retireme used to calculate the years of credited service at the
closigesent value of the defined presumed retirement age
benefit obligation

S

é The company may calculate the annual lifetime benefit payable in accordance
with another formula if the company reasonably believes that it produces a more
meaningful calculation of the annual lifetime benefit payable at year end.

(5) In column (d), disclose the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
start of the most recently completed financial year.
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(6) In column (e), disclose the compensatory change in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation for the most recently completed financial year. This includes
service cost net of employee contributions plus plan changes and differences between
actual and estimated earnings, and any additional changes that have retroactive impact,
including, for greater certainty, a change in valuation assumptions as a consequence of
an amendment to benefit terms.

Disclose the valuation method and all significant assumptions the Qﬁ;‘%any
applied in quantifying the closing present value of the defined benefit obligatig®. The
company may satisfy all or part of this disclosure by referring to the 'élt\)sure of
assumptions in its financial statements, footnotes to the financial{ st2tements or
discussion in its management's discussion and analysis. Q:\

Y?esent value of the
leted financial year.

(7 In column (f), disclose the non-compensatory changes in
defined benefit obligation for the company's most recently

Include all items that are not compensatory, such as chan yP assumptions other than
those already included in column (e) because they wer e as a consequence of an
amendment to benefit terms, employee contributions interest on the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the start of t @)st recently completed financial

year.
4

(8) In column (g), disclose the present @%of the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the most recently completed financigl‘[year.

5.2  Defined contribution plans tziabe

(2) Complete this table for S|on plans that provide for payments or benefits at,
following or in connection retirement, excluding defined benefit plans. For all
disclosure in this table he same assumptions and methods used for financial
statement reporting @es under the accounting principles used to prepare the
company’s financi tements, as permitted by Regulation 52-107 respecting
Acceptable Acco&@ Principles and Auditing Standards.

Name (Accumulated value at Compensatory Accumulated value at year

(a) ’ start of year ($) end
Q‘ $) (c) ($)

QO (b) (@)
=

O|m|>

(2) In column (c), disclose the employer contribution and above-market or
preferential earnings credited on employer and employee contributions. Above-market
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or preferential earnings applies to non-registered plans and means a rate greater than
the rate ordinarily paid by the company or its subsidiary on securities or other
obligations having the same or similar features issued to third parties.

3) (Paragraph repealed)

4) In column (d), disclose the accumulated value at the end of the most reclthly
completed financial year. ‘.1/

Commentary '\Q«

1. For pension plans that provide the maximum of: (i) the value Q’E\defined benefit
pension; and (i) the accumulated value of a defined contribution sion, companies
should disclose the global value of the pension plan in the def@eneﬁt plans table
under section 5.1.

For pension plans that provide the sum of a d(—wﬁs@} benefit component and a
defined contribution component, companies should djscl&se the respective components
of the pension plan. The defined benefit compone @ould be disclosed in the defined
benefit plans table under section 5.1 and the defjne® contribution component should be
disclosed in the defined contribution plans tablxéﬁder section 5.2.

2. Any contributions by the company Saa subsidiary of the company to a personal
savings plan like a registered retirem avings plan made on behalf of the NEO must
still be disclosed in column (h) of th¢,summary compensation table, as required by

paragraph 3.1(10)(i). \\/

5.3 Narrativediscussio@

Describe and e for each retirement plan in which an NEO participates, any
significant factors sary to understand the information disclosed in the defined
benefit plan table ction 5.1 and the defined contribution plan table in section 5.2.

Commenta@)@

ﬁﬁcant factors described in the narrative required by section 5.3 will vary, but
may ¢ e:

\é - the significant terms and conditions of payments and benefits available
under the plan, including the plan’s normal and early retirement payment, benefit
formula, contribution formula, calculation of interest credited under the defined
contribution plan and eligibility standards;

- provisions for early retirement, if applicable, including the name of the
NEO and the plan, the early retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility
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standards. Early retirement means retirement before the normal retirement age as
defined in the plan or otherwise available under the plan;

- the specific elements of compensation (e.g., salary, bonus) included in
applying the payment and benefit formula. If a company provides this information,
identify each element separately; and

- company policies on topics such as granting extra years of‘i?hted

service, including an explanation of who these arrangements relate to and why y are
considered appropriate. '\
5.4 Deferred compensation plans Qﬂ

Describe the significant terms of any deferred compensat@) lan relating to each
NEO, including:

(@) the types of compensation that can be def; @ and any limitations on the
extent to which deferral is permitted (by percentage c6 pensation or otherwise);

(b)  significant terms of payouts, Withd@ﬁ&ﬁs and other distributions; and

(c) measures for calculating inte or other earnings, how and when these
measures may be changed, and whethelyan NEO or the company chose these
measures. Quantify these measures er possible.

ITEM 6 TERMINATION A D{C){ANGE OF CONTROL BENEFITS
6.1 Termination and ch@e of control benefits

(1) For each contr reement, plan or arrangement that provides for payments to
an NEO at, follovy or in connection with any termination (whether voluntary,
involuntary or co tive), resignation, retirement, a change in control of the company
or a change i NEOS responsibilities, describe, explain, and where appropriate,

quantify the@ ing items:

@) the circumstances that trigger payments or the provision of other benefits,
mclu@ erquisites and pension plan benefits;

\s (b) the estimated incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, each circumstance, including timing, duration and who
provides the payments and benefits;

(c) how the payment and benefit levels are determined under the various
circumstances that trigger payments or provision of benefits;
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(d) any significant conditions or obligations that apply to receiving payments
or benefits. This includes but is not limited to, non-compete, non-solicitation, non-
disparagement or confidentiality agreements. Include the term of these agreements and
provisions for waiver or breach; and

(e) any other significant factors for each written contract, agreement, plan or
arrangement. Qr\ .
(2) Disclose the estimated incremental payments, payables, and beneflts eveWifitis
uncertain what amounts might be paid in given circumstances under the s plans
and arrangements, assuming that the triggering event took place on the last business
day of the company’s most recently completed financial year. For v%?}g share-based
awards or option-based awards, use the closing market pric the company’s
securities on that date. V

If the company is unsure about the provision or am payments or benefits,
make a reasonable estimate (or a reasonable estlmat e range of amounts) and
disclose the significant assumptions underlying these ates

(3) Despite subsection (1), the company is nQ.i:(qwred to disclose the following:

@) Perquisites and other per Qg} benefits if the aggregate of this
compensation is less than $50,000. Statg the individual perquisites and personal
benefits as required by paragraph 3.1 a).

(b) Information about_pdgsible termination scenarios for an NEO whose
employment terminated in st year. The company must only disclose the
consequences of the actual ination.

(c) Informa@respect of a scenario described in subsection (1) if there will
be no incremental ents, payables, and benefits that are triggered by, or result
from, that scenar] Q‘

Commenta

ﬁgctlon (1) does not require the company to disclose notice of termination

W|th use, or compensation in lieu thereof, which are implied as a term of an
ment contract under common law or civil law.

2. Item 6 applies to changes of control regardless of whether the change of control

results in termination of employment.

3. Generally, there will be no incremental payments, payables, and benefits that are
triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subsection (1) for compensation
that has been reported in the summary compensation table for the most recently
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completed financial year or for a financial year before the most recently completed
financial year.

If the vesting or payout of the previously reported compensation is accelerated,
or a performance goal or similar condition in respect of the previously reported
compensation is waived, as a result of a scenario described in subsection (1), the
incremental payments, payables, and benefits should include the value ofr\the
accelerated benefit or of the waiver of the performance goal or similar conditionq/Q

4. A company may disclose estimated incremental payments, es and
benefits that are triggered by, or result from, a scenario described in subseckon (1), in a

tabular format. Q‘
(1) Complete this table for all amounts of compen n provided to the directors for
the company’s most recently completed financial ya

N

ITEM 7 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

7.1  Director compensation table

Name Fees Share- Option- Juity Pension All other Total
(@ earned based based iréy Ive plan value compensation €))
()] awards awards <5CQ' pensation (%) ()] (h)
(b) (%) (%) ('L (%) () (9)
(c) Q (e)
AN
A A
B 2\
C AT
D S
E O

N\
(2)  Allforms (ﬁg:npensation must be included in this table.

3 Com Itx/each column in the manner required for the corresponding column in
the sum compensation table in section 3.1, in accordance with the requirements of
Item% supplemented by the commentary to Item 3, except as follows:

é (@) In column (a), do not include a director who is also an NEO if his or her
c}npensation for service as a director is fully reflected in the summary compensation
table and elsewhere in this form. If an NEO is also a director who receives
compensation for his or her services as a director, reflect the director compensation in
the summary compensation table required by section 3.1 and provide a footnote to this
table indicating that the relevant disclosure has been provided under section 3.4.
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(b) In column (b), include all fees awarded, earned, paid, or payable in cash
for services as a director, including annual retainer fees, committee, chair, and meeting
fees.

(© In column (g), include all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted,
given, or otherwise provided, directly or indirectly, by the company, or a subsidiary of
the company, to a director in any capacity, under any other arrangement. This incImLes,
for greater certainty, all plan and non-plan compensation, direct and indir@@pay,
remuneration, economic or financial award, reward, benefit, gift or perquisit¢’ paid,
payable awarded, granted, given, or otherwise provided to the director ‘services
provided, directly or indirectly, to the company or a subsidiary of the c<')}npany. In a
footnote to the table, disclose these amounts and describe the na@\vf the services
provided by the director that are associated with these amounts. ?\

(d) In column (g), include programs where the c@ny agrees to make
donations to one or more charitable institutions in a direc ame, payable currently

or upon a designated event such as the retirement or of the director. Include a
footnote to the table disclosing the total dollar amount.a%able under the program.

7.2 Narrative discussion &

U

Describe and explain any facto '\ecessary to understand the director
compensation disclosed in section 7.1.

Q-
Commentary (l/
N

Significant factors des@n the narrative required by section 7.2 will vary, but
may include: ?“

- disclosur, each director who served in that capacity for any part of the
most recently comp inancial year,

- &rd compensation arrangements, such as fees for retainer,
committee ge, service as chair of the board or a committee, and meeting

attendaan~

O any compensation arrangements for a director that are different from the
S ard arrangements, including the name of the director and a description of the
texdws of the arrangement; and

- any matters discussed in the compensation discussion and analysis that

do not apply to directors in the same way that they apply to NEOs such as practices for
granting option-based awards.
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7.3 Share-based awards, option-based awards and non-equity incentive plan
compensation

Provide the same disclosure for directors that is required under Item 4 for NEOs.

ITEM 8 COMPANIES REPORTING IN THE UNITED STATES

t\.

8.1 Companies reporting in the United States ‘.19

(1) SEC issuers may satisfy the requirements of this form by g\;@ding the
information required by Item 402 "Executive compensation" of Regulatigﬂ X under the

1934 Act. Q‘

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to a company that, as w ign private issuer,
satisfies Item 402 of Regulation S-K by providing the informa: equired by Items 6.B
"Compensation” and 6.E.2 "Share Ownership" of Form 20- er the 1934 Act.

ITEM 9 EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION Q
<O
J

(1)  This form comes into force on Dece %\ql 2008.

9.1 Effective date

(2)  This form applies to a compan fespect of a financial year ending on or after
December 31, 2008.
N\

9.2 Transition
QQ~

(2) Form 51-102F6, w, |c came into force on March 30, 2004, as amended,

(@) does pIy to a company in respect of a financial year ending on or
after December 8, and

(b) reater certainty, applies to a company that is required to prepare and
file exech~ ompensation disclosure because

O (1) the company is sending an information circular to a securityholder
$ paragraph 9.1(2)(a) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
OMgations (c. V-1.1, r. 24), the information circular includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, and the information circular is in respect of a financial year
ending before December 31, 2008, or

(i) the company is filing an AIF that includes the disclosure required by
Item 8 of Form 51-102F5, in accordance with Item 18 of Form 51-102F2, and the AlF is
in respect of a financial year ending before December 31, 2008.
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(2) A company that is required to prepare and file executive compensation
disclosure for a reason set out in paragraph (1)(b) may satisfy that requirement by
preparing and filing the disclosure required by this form.

M.O. 2008-18, s. 12; Erratum, 2009, G.O. 2, 55; M.O. 2010-17, s. 32; M.O. 2011-05,

s. 3. N
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TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS
M.O. 2010-17, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

35. This Regulation only applies to documents required to be prepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

However, an issuer may apply the amendments set out in this Regulat'p@')\all
documents required to be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under Regulation &1-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations for periods relating to a fina c@year that
begins before January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financia{ year ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying oné& exemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accou% Principles and

Auditing Standards. 0
@Q*

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS \
M.O. 2011-05, 2011 G.O. 2, 3006 &O

4. This Regulation only applies to docm@kﬂts required to be prepared, filed,
delivered or sent under Regulation respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for periods relating to financial rs ending on or after October 31, 2011.

NV
TRANSITIONAL PROVISION
M.O. 2012-05, 2011 G.O. 2 1
5. The effect of thj ulation applies only to documents required to be prepared,
filed, delivered or ? under Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure

Obligations for p relating to a financial year ending on or after April 20, 2012; for
documents regui to be prepared, filed, delivered or sent under that Regulation for
periods rela& a financial year ending before April 20, 2012, the provisions of that

RegulatiopyN-force on April 19, 2012 apply.
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